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Financial Highlights

MBRE H#EZ12A1BILEE
Financial Highlights For the year ended 31 December
20244 20234 e
2024 2023 Change
WAANREBETT) Revenue (RMB million) 516.0 313.3 64.7%
EMAREBET) Gross profit (RMB million) 143.2 95.9 49.3%
B P15 25 A A Profit before income tax
(AR®EBET) (RMB million) 56.7 34.1 66.3%
FRFE(ARESGEIT) Profit for the year (RMB million) 49.5 29.3 68.9%
AAEEREBREEGFIE Profit attributable to equity
(ARBBET) shareholders of the Company
(RMB million) 49.5 29.3 68.9%
EREARAREERZT Basic and diluted earnings per share
(ARESD) (RMB cents) 38.7 22.93 68.8%
BA RS R R "®12A318
Financial position As at 31 December
20244 2023%F g )]
2024 2023 Change
ARETR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB E Total assets 1,063,564 1,029,125 3.3%
MENE EFE Net current assets 537,095 464,166 15.7%
BEERRBAGE Total assets less current liabilities 713,020 673,721 5.8%
wEE Total liabilities 350,544 355,404 -1.4%
MR Total equity 713,020 673,721 5.8%
MR ®12A318
Financial statistics As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
B Current ratio 2.5 2.3
BEHL %2 Gearing ratio? - —
FERA#EA&(RA)? Inventory turnover days (days)® 147.3 303.3
EorEWIERAERAZ () Trade receivables turnover days (days)* 239.3 431.8
EoRENFIBAEAZ(H)S Trade payables turnover days (days)® 50.6 90.0
1. MENLLEEERRBEERURESDEE 1. Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities
2. EELERSREERERAERS  BRN 2. Gearing ratio = total borrowings/total equity x 100%
100%
3. ?;E‘ﬁj\%@ ASMEERTFEEBRRUFARA - B 3. Inventory turnover days = inventory balance/revenue for the year x 365 days
L4365 8
4, BRI ARBRAEBSHEENE 5 EUGKIBREH 4, Trade receivables turnover days = trade receivables balance excluding bank
(TBERITEEER) RIAFRNWA - BFELAS65 acceptance notes/revenue for the year x 365 days
5]
5. ESRNFBRAEEHENE S RN AL S 5. Trade payables turnover days = trade payables balance/revenue for the year x

FREAGF A - B3ELAB65 A 365 days
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors of #8585 ERHZ KD AR
73 8] (Wuxi Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited*)
(the “Company”), | hereby present the audited annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group” or
“Sunlit”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

The year 2024 was a critical year for achieving the goals and
tasks of the “14th Five-Year” Plan. During the Year, the external
environment was chaotic and the internal difficulties and
challenges increased. The Group paid close attention to the
changes in the domestic and international economic environment
and national policies, adjusted the Company’s business
strategies promptly, further strengthened the internal
management, reinforced the cost control and did a good job in
risk prevention management, and accomplished the annual tasks
and goals well, and the profitability level of the Company was
enhanced.

During the Year, revenue of the Group increased by 65% as
compared to that of the corresponding period last year to
RMB516 million (2023: RMB313 million). Net profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB49.54 million
(2023: RMB29.35 million), representing a year-on-year increase
of RMB20.18 million. Earnings per share was RMB38.70 cents
(2023: RMB22.93 cents).

The Board recommended the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 of RMBO0.08 per share
(before tax).

During the reporting period, the Group successfully obtained the
national-level honorary title of “Specialized and New Small Giant
(BB EFH/NE A) issued by the Department of Industry and
Information Technology, which signifies that the enterprise has
been deeply cultivating in its niche fields for a long time, and is
in the leading position in the industry in terms of product
innovation ability, specialisation and technology-driven
development, and also promotes the enterprise to move forward
to a higher level of goal.
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PROSPECTS

In 2025, the internal and external environments remain severe
and complex. The overall growth rate of global economy is
declining, the international trade environment is deteriorating, and
foreign economic and trade frictions are intensifying, especially
the imposition of tariffs on electric vehicles by a number of
countries, which poses a serious challenge to exports.

At the same time, in view of the dual impact of automotive tyre
radialisation rate continues to increase and production volume in
China, steel cords market demand in the coming future may
face certain fluctuations and uncertainty. However, China’s “Two
New” policy (large-scale equipment renewal and consumer
goods replacement) will continue and the support for new
energy vehicles and intelligent networked vehicles will be
increased. In addition, the development trend of the tyre
manufacturing industry towards greening and lightweighting, and
the use of higher strength steel cords materials.

With the continuous advancement of technology and increasing
market needs, as the largest manufacturer of radial steel cords
equipment production lines in the upstream of the automobile
industry, the Group will continue to plough deeper into the
development of high-end equipment, actively follow the
development trend of the industry, intensify the research and
development of new products and technologies, continuously
optimise its products, seize the opportunities brought by the
market, and bring lighter weight, green and low-carbon solutions
to the tire industry, and continuously enhance the industry status
and brand value, laying a solid foundation for the Company to
continue to achieve the industry leading position in product
market share.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, steadfast
business partners, suppliers and customers for their support,
and to all our dedicated employees for their contributions to the
Group’s development.

Zhang Degang
Chairman of the Board
Jiangsu, China

28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Amid subdued global economic growth and an increasingly
complex international landscape in 2024, the Company will
maintain sharp focus on its core business operations while
rigorously executing its established development strategy. We will
implement comprehensive refinements to management practices,
strengthen internal governance frameworks, and prioritize safety
and environmental sustainability initiatives. Through the collective
dedication of our workforce, we aim to methodically advance all
operational priorities with sustained momentum.

During the Year, China’s macroeconomic performance
maintained overall stability, with annual automotive production
and sales achieving steady expansion. According to data from
the China Association of Automobile Manufacturers (“CAAM”),
the production and sales volume of automobile in China for
2024 amounted to approximately 31.282 million of vehicles and
approximately 31.436 million of vehicles, respectively,
representing increases of 3.7% and 4.5%, respectively, as
compared with that of last year.

As a result, during the Year, the overall performance of the
Group achieved breakthrough growth as compared with that of
2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue
amounted to RMB516.0 million, representing an increase of 65%
as compared with that of 2023. Net profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB49.54 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bt #¥5 O BE FINANCIAL REVIEW
L PN Revenue
BE12AS1HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
EHHEE ARETR % EHEHE ARBFT %
Unit(s) sold RMB’000 % Unit(s) sold RMB’000 %
BIE=RMMEER  Brass electroplating wire production lines 9 98,962 19.2% 5 52,472  16.8%
Hity A ELR Other production lines 23 21,055 4.1% 14 8,711 2.8%
ik Standalone machines 2,975 376,147 72.9% 1,906 233,758 74.6%
H e EEME - TEMF Other mould repairing equipment,
K e 1 components parts and accessories ERAN/A 15,107 2.9% iEAN/A 13,624 4.3%
EeWA Rental income TEAN/A 4,748 0.9% T3 FAN/A 4,700 1.5%

FARCEMOKABH202FHARE
313,300,000 7T 3 A1 49 A R # 202,700,000
T (3 #164.7%) Z 49 A K #516,000,000
7TE o

WARFAERDIEBRHN2024FHER
EPBRIANBRHERTEMK -

MEEBREERAR2023FHARE
52,500,000 1% /1 4988.6% = 4 A R #&
99,000,0007T ° 720244 H9E F i = i
M EESESTFEZM  MHK2023F )5
SEXEREREFPEM ZENEEHARN
SHE L INFTEL -

HibAELS  Hih 4 EFHEWAEK2023
F£ 4 AR 18,700,000 L 104 A R &
12,300,0007T °

B TR BEREERAR2023FHA
F#233,800,0007T18 11#760.9% E 4 A K
% 376,100,0007T ° 5% 38 & J i 70 B 14 4
8 EFTRTEL

516,019 100% 313,265 100%

During the Year, our revenue increased by approximately
RMB202.7 million or approximately 64.7% to approximately
RMB516.0 million when compared with the revenue of
approximately RMB313.3 million in 2023.

The increase in revenue for the Year was mainly due to the
signing of a large sales order with a major customer in 2024.

Brass electroplating wire production lines: During the Year,
revenue from sales of brass electroplating wire production lines
increased by approximately 88.6% to approximately RMB99.0
million when compared with the revenue of approximately
RMB52.5 million in 2023. 9 sets of brass electroplating wire
production lines were accepted by the customers in 2024 while
5 sets were accepted by the customers in 2023. The increase
was mainly due to growth in sales volume.

Other production lines: Revenue from sales of other production
lines increased by RMB12.3 million when compared with the
revenue of approximately RMB8.7 million in 2023.

Standalone machines: Revenue from sales of standalone
machines increased by approximately 60.9% to approximately
RMB376.1 million during the Year, when compared with the
revenue of approximately RMB233.8 million in 2023. The
increase was due to the growth in sales quantity of standalone
machines.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other mould repairing equipment, components parts and
accessories: Revenue from sales of other mould repairing
equipment, components parts and accessories increased by
approximately 10.9% to approximately RMB15.1 million during
the Year, when compared with the revenue of approximately
RMB13.6 million in 2023. The increase was primarily due to an
increase in the number of renovation projects.

Rental income: Rental income arose from the Group’s
investment properties, which were rented to third parties in 2024
and 2023. As the rent increase in 2024, the rental income
increased by 1.0% comparing to that of 2023.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately 49.4% from
approximately RMB95.9 million for 2023 to approximately
RMB143.2 million for 2024.

Our overall gross profit margin decreased to approximately
27.8% in the Year by approximately 2.8 percentage points
compared to that of 2023, mainly due to a decline in product
gross profit.

Other income

Our other income increased by approximately 325% from
approximately RMB2.4 million for 2023 to approximately
RMB10.2 million for 2024, primarily due to increasing interest
income from time deposits.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses increased by approximately 71.4% from
approximately RMB2.8 million for 2023 to approximately RMB4.8
million for 2024, primarily due to increasing sales orders.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses is RMB55.6 million at 2024, almost
the same as last year (2023: RMB53.0 million).
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EMREREHNEBEREGETRFHE

REBNR2023F & R E ERAEARIBFELY
AR#23,900,0007T © M2024F & fh & &E
AR B F5E A A R#E40,700,0000T © =

REIRET BB T E K W% - BBEREREK
ZETE AT -

Hiblz — 8
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A E Y M 4 A R % 5,900,0007T -
MERR 2024 F W0 AR EE A W2 o

MBI

20245 - REBHSHBKRADHARE
1,422,0007T » 20234 8l $% 15 BF 1§ U A
#) A\ R #6,038,0007T °

B AR B RIS B L
NHD ©

FieHmx

R2024%F  REBEBASHEAIHOAR
#7,200,0007T * 20234 A %15 FT 15 %t
F9 Sz 49 A R # 4,800,000 °

AR ER BHE A e AT BE A AR R FE R B A B AT A
FRHEREZRERK  THRIABLTEMERE
% o

ESEWRIE

HZMHE S EWRFRIBETER2023F12 7
31H# AR ®391,700,0007T & 4 4
12.6% 220241231 B H AR
342,300,0007T °

Net provision for impairment losses on financial and

contract assets

The Group net impairment losses on financial assets was
approximately RMB23.9 million in 2023, compared with the net
impairment losses on financial assets of approximately RMB40.7
million for 2024. The primary reasons were changes in the
economic environment and the inability of certain clients to
comply with the repayment agreements as scheduled, which led
to an increase in credit risk compared with that in the previous
year.

Other gains — net

The Group recorded net other gain of approximately RMB2.9
million in 2024, compared with the net other gains of
approximately RMB9.4 million in 2023. The major reason is net
other gains in 2023 mainly included approximately RMB5.9
million gains on disposal of subsidiary’s investment properties
but no such gain in 2024.

Finance income

The Group recorded finance income of approximately RMB1.4
million in 2024, compared with finance income of approximately
RMB6.0 million in 2023.

The decrease in finance income was mainly due to decrease of
interest income from short term deposits.

Income tax expense

The Group recorded income tax expense of approximately
RMB7.2 million for 2024, compared with the
expense of approximately RMB4.8 million for 2023.

income tax

The Group recognised the deferred income tax assets only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Trade receivables

Our gross trade receivables decreased by approximately 12.6%
from approximately RMB391.7 million as at 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB342.3 million as at 31 December 2024.
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Inventories

Our inventories decreased by approximately 20.0% from
approximately RMB260.3 million at the end of 2023 to
approximately RMB208.2 million at the end of 2024.

It is mainly because of the decrease in the unfinished sales
contracts as at 31 December 2024 as compared with those as
at 31 December 2023.

Trade and notes payables

Our trade and notes payables decreased by approximately 9.5%
from approximately RMB193.3 million as at 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB175.0 million as at 31 December 2024.

It is primarily due to the decrease in purchase volumes during
the Year as compared with that of 2023.

Net profit for the Year and net profit margin

The profit for the Year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company is RMB49.5 million as compared to RMB29.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The net profit margin for
the Year was approximately 9.6%, as compared to
approximately 9.4% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash position and fund available

As at 31 December 2024, the total cash and bank balances of
the Group were approximately RMB424,028,000 (31 December
20283: approximately RMB246,375,000), comprising cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB100,313,000 (31
December 2023: approximately RMB73,946,000), restricted cash

of approximately RMB76,869,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB65,053,000) and time deposits of
approximately RMB246,846,000 (31 December 20283:

approximately RMB107,376,000).
As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio of the Group was
2.53 (31 December 2023: 2.31).

The gearing ratio of the Group (calculated as total borrowings
divided by total equity) was zero (31 December 2023: zero).
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The Group was in a strong net cash position as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The Group has sufficient and readily
available finance resources for general working capital
requirement and foreseeable capital expenditure.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no borrowings (31
December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

During the Year, the Group’s capital expenditures amounted to
approximately RMB984,000 (2023: approximately
RMB5,200,000) which was related to the purchase of
machineries and equipment.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during the Year. The capital of the Group only comprises
ordinary shares. During the Year, the Group did not hold or sell
any treasury shares.

The Group did not use financial instruments for hedging
purposes and did not engage in any foreign currency
investments which were hedged by currency borrowings and
other hedging instruments.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign exchange risk arises when transactions or recognised
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates in mainland China with most of the Group’s
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, except that
certain trade receivables, bank deposits are denominated in US
dollar (“USD”) or HK dollar (“HK$”) which are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. The Board considers the foreign
currency risk has been kept at an acceptable level during the
Year.

If the USD had strengthened/weakened by 5% against the RMB
while all other variables had been held constant, the Group’s
post tax profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been approximately RMB4,350,000 higher/lower (2023:
RMB3,495,000).
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company’s H shares have been listed (the “Listing”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 11 November 2014 (the “Listing Date”). The net proceeds
from the Listing after the deduction of underwriting commissions,
fees and listing-related expenses amounted to approximately
HK$209.5 million (equivalent to approximately RMB165.3 million)
(the “Net Proceeds”).

With a view to improving efficiency in the use of the Company’s
temporary idle Net Proceeds,
construction of the projects committed and planned usage of the
proceeds for such construction will not be affected, the Board
has proposed to utilise part of the temporary idle Net Proceeds
to purchase wealth management products in order to increase
the capital revenue, improve the efficiency and effectiveness in
the use of the Company’s temporary idle Net Proceeds, which in
turn shall further enhance the overall revenue of the Company
and pursue better investment return to the Company and the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as a whole.
For more details regarding the change of use of Net Proceeds
from the Listing, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 March 2016 (the “Announcement”).

on the condition that the

Together with the income to be generated from the wealth
management products, the Company will continue to apply the
Net Proceeds from the Listing for the construction of the new
manufacturing facility located in Wuxi, Jiangsu Province of the
PRC (the “New Wuxi Facility”) and the new research &
development centre to be established in the New Wuxi Facility
(the “New Research & Development Centre”) and for other
purposes in accordance with the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 October 2014 (the “Prospectus”) and in the
Announcement. The unutilised balance of the Net Proceeds
brought forward from 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$40.55 million.
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ERESMEFEERRRNT

The status of the use of proceeds is as follows:

IHRAREFE BE2024F12A310 HE204F12A318 HE2024F12A310 BE024F12A318  XBALHRERFER
RS EBA HEKA  LEECBRASE DRGSR HHER
Utilised amount
Planned use of net Utilised up  Interest income up during the year  Unutilised balance  Expected timeline for

proceeds from the

to 31 December

to 31 December ended 31 December up to 31 December unutilised net proceeds

2024 2024 2024 2024  from the Listing
ERRESHAER Funding the construction of the New  HK$163,000,000.00  HK$138,340,000.00 HK$14,467,000.00 HK$2,200,000.00 HK$39,127,000.00 20271243105
HHERLREES Wuxi Faciity and the New B B B B pd: )
Research & Development Centre By 31 December 2027
BRETEEWEEE  Developing certain targeted research  HK$25,500,000.00  HK$26,634,000.00 HK$1,134,000.00 - -
and development projects BT B
fE—B&BE4REM  General working capital and other HK$21,000,000.00  HK$21,000,000.00 - - -
—REERE general corporate purposes B
it Total: HK$209,500,000.00  HK$185,974,000.00 HK$15,601,000.00 HK$2,200,000.00 HK$39,127,000.00
AL BT BT BT
B 5T - Notes:
1) ENRESEESFHEEC2R)LTEREEES (1) The net proceeds allocated have been adjusted and recalculated with reference
FEE#9209,500,000/8 7T (KN RIEMAES - BA to (1) the actual net proceeds from the Listing of approximately HK$209.50
M ETHEBRY)  RQIBERERAMEEIEES million after the deduction of underwriting commissions, fees and listing related
ERZNEEELASHREDLAERENE - expenses; and (2) the percentage of the use of proceeds allocated to each of
the purposes as disclosed in the Prospectus.
) R2024512 A31H « ¥EEB IR R EFR @) As at 31 December 2024, the unutilised proceeds for funding the construction

DREESRBAEEE © 4 A39,127,000/%
JC © #139,127,000 8 T KRB AEEE S+ « K
PRESE S (BIEEESE $/F8E24,660,000%8 T
MEEESFREH B 14,467,000/ 7T) EFAFEH
HOH5 R ERAT o

3) B E &4 F5025500,0008 L EEESFEDN
21,130,000 L E BREREE T B 120218
E o

HREBERRBEEAZASAENIEAM
BE SPRLTERELFREZED
R R ER O —FEAIEE - AR
COVID-19ORERMEEERMETER
B EBRRLREPHR  MOE—FL
BHRBEESFE - AN ARAKZ
BERBRELAZAEARBEIR LHEE
B2 FENRPAEMLY

of the New Wuxi Facility and the New Research & Development Centre
amounted to approximately HK$39.127 million. Among the unutilised proceeds
of approximately HK$39.127 million, the unutilised proceeds, including the net
proceeds of HK$24.66 million and interest from net proceeds of HK$14.467
million, were deposited in licensed banks in the PRC.

Net proceeds of HK$25.50 million and interest therefrom of HK$1.13 million have
been utilised to develop certain targeted research and development projects.

There was a delay in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds from the
Listing to the construction of the New Wuxi Facility and the New
Research and Development Centre as there was a change in
business development strategies with the reasons set out in the
Announcement. There was further delay in the use of the Net
Proceeds since after the outbreak of COVID-19, there was a
slowdown of economy which affected the economy, business
environment and customers’ demand. However, the Company
will utilise the unutilised portion of the Net Proceeds from the
Listing according to the disclosure in the Prospectus and the
Announcement.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the tire market is influenced by fluctuations in
the global macroeconomic environment and cyclical changes in
upstream and downstream industries. Currently, trade frictions
and the global trade and investment landscape are fraught with
uncertainties. Amid these complex economic conditions, the
Chinese tire industry will face significant challenges.

The Company will continue to leverage its long-established
brand strengths and ramp up R&D investments. By collaborating
with strategic partners across the industry chain to tackle core
technological challenges, we will drive the advancement of our
products toward a higher-end, intelligent and green
development, so as to achieve sustainable growth while fulfilling
our social responsibilities.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 181
full-time employees (31 December 2023: 197), including
administration, finance, internal audit, research and development,
technical application, quality control, manufacturing,
procurement, sales and marketing staff. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s total employee remuneration
was approximately RMB28.8 million (2023: approximately
RMB27.9 million).

The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly.
Subject to the Group’s profitability and the staff performance,
the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees
as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary
goal of the remuneration policy with regards to the remuneration
packages of the Group’s executive Directors is to enable the
Group to retain and motivate executive Directors by linking their
compensation with performance as measured against corporate
objectives achieved.

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure of all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to
the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market practices.
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The Group places great emphasis on recruiting and training
quality personnel by providing orientation programmes to the
new employees and on-going internal training to the existing
employees to enhance their industry, technical and product
knowledge, their work ethics as well as their knowledge of
industry quality standards and work safety standards.
Furthermore, the Group encourages its employees to take
advanced courses and to obtain professional certifications.

The Group is confident that its employees will continue to
provide a solid foundation for the success of the Group and will
maintain a high standard of service to our customers.

The Group has not experienced any disruption of its normal
business operations due to labour disputes or significant
turnover of staff. The Directors consider that the Group has
maintained a very good relationship with its staff.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investments held during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES AND ASSETS

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures of the Group during the Year.

As at April 2024, Jiangsu Sunlit Equipment Technology
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, disposed of
eight sets of properties for a total consideration of
RMB2,560,800. The Group recorded a gain of RMB1,169,000
for the disposal of the properties in the year ended 31
December 2024. The Group had no other material acquisition
and disposal of assets during the Year.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

In 2018, the Group purchased 166 residential units of Tong Xing
Garden, No. 269 Guangxing Road, Kenli District, Dongying City,
Shandong Province, the PRC (the “Properties”), which carry a
total gross floor area of 18,920.9 square metres for the
residential units and 3,331.2 square metres for the ancillary
facilities. The Group has an intention to sell the Properties and,
accordingly, such rights are recognised as properties held for
sale upon the completion of the transfer of the title of the
Properties from the vendor to the Company on 29 May 2018.

During the Year, the Group sold 2 units of residential units at the
total consideration of approximately RMBO0.4 million, the carrying
amount of the unsold units as at 31 December 2024 is
approximately RMB8.4 million, representing approximately 4.7%
of the total assets of the Group.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the cash deposits in the amount of
approximately RMB76.9 million were pledged to banks as
security for notes payable and letter of guarantee.
(81 December 2023: approximately RMB65.1 million). Save for
that, the Group did not have any charges on its assets as at
31 December 2024 or 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

In the future, the Group will continue to implement its diversified
development strategy and proactively search for potential
investment opportunities.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus or in this report, the Group
had no future plans for material investments as at 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Degang (3R#Hll), aged 52, is our executive
Director and the chairman of the Group since 24 July 2012. Mr.
Zhang Degang is one of the founders of the Group. He is
primarily responsible for the Group’s postulating business
development plans and overseeing our Group’s overall corporate
strategies. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Strategic Committee of the Board. Mr. Zhang Degang is the
brother of Mr. Zhang Degiang and Ms. Zhang Jinghua.

Mr. Zhang Degang obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer
science and technology (e-business) (F & HFEIE2 BT (B F5
7)) through distance learning from Nanjing University (F 5K
E) in March 2005. In January 2013, Mr. Zhang was accredited
by FEIAEZRTIHEBEI((EZE B IHBIEE (Chengjiang
Road Office of the Chengjiang Road Working Committee of the
Communist Party of China*) as the “BRE ®%XK” (Star
Entrepreneur®) for the year 2012. In April 2013, Mr. Zhang was

Medal*) by £ M4 T € (Wuxi City General Union®). Mr. Zhang
was awarded the #&#5 M & E)IRES (Labour Model of Wuxi*) in
May 2015.

From June 1990 to June 1994, Mr. Zhang Degang worked in jT
fedi 4B (Jiangyin Steel Wire Factory®); from June 1994 to
November 2003, Mr. Zhang worked in China Bekaert Steel Cord
Co., ltd. (FEEFRIFHELZBR A 7A]), where he gained
considerable experience in the steel wire industry. From October
2002 to April 2004, Mr. Zhang acted as the supervisor of L&
=AM T AR AR (Jiangyin Sanzhi Gongkong Company
Limited®) (“diangyin Sanzhi”), which was principally engaged in
the installation, modification, repair and maintenance of industrial
automatic control equipment. Jianyin Sanzhi was deregistered in
December 2015. From September 2005 to July 2012, Mr.
Zhang acted as the chairman, director and general manager of
TR BERF#M TREAER AR (Jiangyin Beite Machinery and
Engineering Company Limited*), which specialised in the sale
and manufacture of industrial automatic equipment. In order to
allow Mr. Zhang to focus on the business of the Group, /T E
B T2 B MR A A (Jiangyin Beite Machinery and Engineering
Company Limited*) was deregistered in July 2012.



72006F3 A - SRIEMISLAE GRBEREER
BYE L) MORER AR EH MRS
ERMTIREERAR (AT - KA
2009F 4 ARRETIR ZMTIZEmE R
AR(ZEMIE]) WESE - I 8200954
ARE2011F1I2AEEF=MTERNBLK
B INE2000F8 ARRIEME T &R HiE
KERMEBRAR ([IHERNEDNES
TR B0 F7TARETES SR
FHRIEBR AR (SRR MacE
KB2012F1I2AREFRES UK EB
201112 HRREEED LEESLRIESR
RAR ([EEHLEE)NES - &) LED
20165 4 B B s -

SREBSEELE  550% 0 REIPI A —FREBK
B R2012F7 A4 B EEZE ARITE
F-BhRESFEETFMNEEZEZES
WKBREBREZEEMXE - BEXEZAF
FEBEBHNATELE FRUEERMNE
B o RERLAERRERLENET KK
BEZLIHRS -

RIERLEMNF7TARGREARET
BELEN FEETFHEEWM - BER
199848 B EESG T TR TP Ht e b
FTER(BE)ZESGRTFTIEMER TR
2013F 11 A IHE BmBEM I EaRE
ERMERTBEZEER TR IEME
% o RIER AR 2010E 2013 F L HEF
BARBREFRAEEEAHEZE SR
TIEAE MK (K1) %K - I 72010
FR2011FBEMTLEEGTARBA
RHEREERTERTIEFRED
ERIKE-

TENFEERS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EX ESREREEEGE

Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

In March 2006, Mr. Zhang Degang (through his spouse, Ms.
Zhu Yingxuan) established # &5 TR HiE#K TI2ER A A
(Wuxi Sunlit Machinery & Engineering Company Limited®) (the
“Predecessor Company”) with Mr. Zhang Degiang. He has
been the director of TR =AM TIE# W E R A A (Jiangyin
Sanzhi Gongkong Machinery Company Limited*) (the “Sanzhi
Gongkong”) since April 2009 and he acted as the general
manager of Sanzhi Gongkong from April 2009 to December
2011; he has also been the director and general manager
of T#BR N EFRERIFER AR (Jiangsu Sunlit Equipment
Technology Company Limited®) (the “Jiangsu Sunlit”) since
August 2009; the general manager of 58K E{FRIF AR A
A] (Wuxi Haisheng Software Technology Company Limited*) (the
“Haisheng Software”) since July 2011 and its director since
December 2012; and the director of 5 FiE B BLEIEBR
A A] (Wuxi Shangda Automation Technology Company Limited*)
(the “Wuxi Shangda”) since December 2011. Wuxi Shangda was
deregistered in April 2016.

Mr. ZHANG Degqiang (5&k#E5%), aged 55, is one of the founders
and general manager. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 24 July 2012. He is also the member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Strategic Committee
of the Board. He is primarily responsible for the day-to-day
operations, strategic development and management of the
Group’s business. Mr. Zhang Degiang is the brother of Mr.
Zhang Degang and Ms. Zhang Jinghua.

Mr. Zhang Degiang obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
majoring in electronic precision machinery (& 5% ##) from
Southeast University (R AZ) in July 1991. In August 1998,
he was conferred by 5 LI ARt e/vitE(B)E8
& (Wuxi City Engineer Technology Intermediate Qualification
Socialisation Evaluation Committee*) with the qualification of
engineer. In November 2013, he was granted the qualification of
senior engineer by JT# & EHEM TIES REXRMERTE
Z 8% (Jiangsu Wuxi Mechanical Engineering Senior Professional
Technique Qualification Evaluation Committee®). From 2010 to
2013 Mr. Zhang Degiang was recognised by J&#E A RET
(Zhoutie Town People’s Government*) and F R EEFEIEZE
@ (Zhoutie Town Committee of the Communist Party of China®)
as the “BE MK (4¥2)” (Star Factory Director (Manager)*). He
was also accredited as the “EBF R &M FZK" (Outstanding Non-
public Entrepreneur®) for two consecutive years of 2010 and 2011
by Ei5™ ARBA (Wuxi People’s Government*) and A & &
E/mIH™MZE (Wuxi Municipal Committee of the Communist Party
of China®).
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Mr. Zhang Deqiang was awarded the title of “Z Bl T #EFH
{2 %" (National Machinery Industry Excellent Entrepreneur) by
FEER TEPEERHE (China Machinery Enterprise
Management Association) in 2015; he was awarded “BF %
F &K’ (Outstanding Entrepreneur President) by 85 = (L&
TREMAE (AFE) (Wuxi City Huishan District Federation of
Industry and Commerce (General Chamber of Commerce)) in
2016; he was appointed as EHH T LIEFE TP RERT LT
ELEEHEHPER (an Expert of the Specialist Panel under the
Socialized Evaluation Committee for Intermediate Engineering
Technical Qualifications in Wuxi City) by #85H A HERFMEE
RFE B (Bureau of Human Resources and Social Security of
Wuxi) and #85H A A RFE L (Wuxi Talent Service Center) in
2017; he was appointed as “HEFIEFE" (Standing Council
Member) by 855 |LAEFE @ EE (Wuxi Huishan Economic
Development Zone Chamber of Commerce) in 2021; he was
honored as “f& % K& &% K" (Outstanding Non-public
Entrepreneur) by S LE THEKAS S (£ E) (Wuxi City
Huishan District Federation of Industry and Commerce (General
Chamber of Commerce)) and was recognized as “EFWIHES”
(Outstanding CPPCC Member) of ipEHMEILUEEZEEE (Wuxi
Municipal Huishan District Committee of the Chinese people’s
Political Consultative Conference) in 2022; he has served as
AIEZE (an Individual Council Member) of 35 1 =) i 2 45 B 212
EEE—JEEEE (the First Council of Wuxi High-End
Equipment Industry Promotion Association) since March 2024.

From August 1991 to October 1995, Mr. Zhang Degiang
worked in JBEMEEBEFREML AR (Haying Enterprise Group
Company Limited®), where he gained experience in designing
machinery. From October 1995 to April 2006, Mr. Zhang
worked as the department head of the production and technical
department in EHFHEFHRAF (Wuxi Murata Electronics
Company Limited*), which was principally engaged in the sale
and manufacture of electronic products and components. From
April 2004 to November 2005, he acted as the supervisor of
Jiangyin Sanzhi, which was principally engaged in the installation,
modification, repair and maintenance of industrial automatic
control equipment. Jianyin Sanzhi was deregistered in December
2015.

In March 2006, Mr. Zhang Degiang founded the Predecessor
Company with Mr. Zhang Degang (through his spouse, Ms. Zhu
Yingxuan).
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From March 2006 to March 2011, Mr. Zhang Degiang was the
director of the Predecessor Company. In March 2011, Mr.
Zhang Degiang took up the role as the general manager of the
Company, and he acted as the executive Director since July
2012. From April 2009 to December 2011, Mr. Zhang Degiang
acted as the director of Sanzhi Gongkong and as its supervisor
since December 2011. He has also been acting as the
supervisor of Jiangsu Sunlit since August 2009; the supervisor of
Haisheng Software since July 2011; and the general manager of
Wuxi Shangda since December 2011, Wuxi Shangda was
deregistered in April 2016. He has been acting as the director of
Sunlit (Hong Kong) International Trade Limited since July 2024.

Ms. FENG Lili ((5%ERE), aged 44, was appointed as the
executive Director on 17 June 2022. Ms. Feng graduated from
Nanjing University of Finance & Economics (3R 81 4L K &)
majoring in finance and accounting. In 2013, she obtained the
EEEWEEHKEE (Qualification Certificate of Board Secretary®)
from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the &t & Z K 1iT ¥ 4%
EEZE (Qualification Certificate of Speciality and Technology in
Accounting (Elementary)®) approved and authorised by the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China and the Ministry of Finance of the
People’ s Republic of China. In 2019, she obtained the &5t =
¥R AREREE (Qualification Certificate of Speciality and
Technology in Accounting (Intermediate)*) approved and
authorised by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the PRC and the Ministry of Finance of the PRC. In
2020, she obtained her Certified Management Accountant (CMA)
certification.

Ms. Feng was a manager of the Finished Products Department
at BN LA R AR (Yangzhou Jiyuan Textile Co., Ltd.”)
from 2002 to 2005 and a business manager at F #t Il K _E
Gu/H (Changshu Proportion Beddings Factory®) from 2005 to
2010. She worked at the Management Department of the
Company from February 2011 to July 2012 and as a
representative for securities matters at the board office of the
Company from July 2012 to June 2015. She has been the
secretary to the Board of the Company since June 2015 and
the financial controller of the Company since November 2019.
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Non-Executive Director

Ms. ZHANG Jinghua (3REFZE), aged 62, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 28 August 2015. Ms. Zhang is the
sister of Mr. Zhang Degang and Mr. Zhang Deqgiang.

Ms. Zhang Jinghua graduated from high school in July 1978. In
February 2012 and February 2013, respectively,
recognised by FEI*XEE TR MZ (Jiangyin Municipal
Committee of the Communist Party of China*) and JLEET AR
BT (People’s Government of the Jiangyin City*) as the “B5 4
#&38” (outstanding general manager®).

she was

From March 1979 to November 1991, Ms. Zhang Jinghua
worked as a teacher in JIRRMZZEHRZ (Jiangyin City Yaosai
Secondary School*). From October 1991 to October 2002, she
worked in JTREHGRE 2GR AR (Jiangyin Liantong Industrial
Company Limited®). Ms. Zhang obtained a qualification certificate
of speciality and technology in statistics (elementary level)
approved and issued by the Ministry of Personnel of the PRC
(FFE AR HFIE A ZEEB) and conferred by the National Bureau
of Statistics of the PRC (BIZR#5T ) in October 1998. From
October 2002 to November 2005, she acted as the director and
manager of Jiangyin Sanzhi. From March 2004 to November
2009, she acted as the director and general manager of T =
FETE#MBER AR (Jiangyin Sanjia Gongkong Machinery
Company Limited*), which was principally engaged in the design,
sale and manufacture of industrial automation control system. In
order to allow Ms. Zhang to focus on the business of the
Group, IR =EFETE#MAER AT (Jiangyin Sanjia Gongkong
Machinery Company Limited*) was deregistered in July 2012.

Ms. Zhang Jinghua joined the Group in April 2009 as the
director of Sanzhi Gongkong, and in December 2011, she was
appointed as its general manager. Gongkong was
deregistered in December 2015. Since July 2012, she has acted
as our vice-general manager (BIZE#IE). In August 2013, she
was appointed as the executive Director. In August 2015, she
was re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive
Director and resigned as the vice-general manager.

Sanzhi
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Yiu Cho (R/E4H), aged 45, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2021. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a
member of the Strategic Committee of the Board. He obtained
a master’s degree in Corporate Finance from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He was admitted as a fellow member of
the Associate of Chartered Certified Accountants in March
2019.

Mr. Leung was the assistant financial controller of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (1991.HK) from 2006 to 2007, the chief
financial officer and board secretary of Highland Asset
Management Corporation from 2012 to 2013, an executive
director and the vice investment principal of Artini Holdings
Limited (789.HK) from 2013 to 2019 and an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of the audit committee of
Grace Life-tech Holdings Limited (2112.HK), formerly known as
CAA Resources Limited from 2017 to 2020 and since 11 March
2022, the independent non-executive director, chairman of the
audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee,
nomination committee and risk management committee of
Shanghai XNG Holdings Limited (3666.HK) from 20 October
2023. He was an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Zheng Li Holdings Limited
(8283.HK) from 21 October 2016 to 30 June 2022. He was the
financial controller, company secretary and authorised
representative of Xinhua News Media Holdings Limited (309.HK)
from 2 July 2021 to 5 August 2021. He has been the company
secretary and authorised representative of Universal Star
(Holdings) Limited (2346.HK) from 13 July 2021 to 29 January
2024 and China Dredging Environment Protection Holdings
Limited (871.HK) from 29 December 2021 to 11 August 2023,
respectively.

Mr. Leung has been appointed as chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative at Renco
Holdings Group Limited (2323.HK) since October 2024, he has
been appointed as executive director of Trendzon Holdings
Group Limited (1865.HK) since November 2024.
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Mr. YU Jianfeng (fi#&1&), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2021. He is also
the chairman of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of
the Board and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Board. He obtained a doctor’s
degree in mechanical and electrical engineering from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University. He obtained his higher education teaching
certificate (/5 EFBRHYEMNE%FE) from the Jiangsu Education
Department in November 2015 and was admitted as a professor
of Jiangnan University in June 2018.

Mr. Yu was awarded the third prize (=% 2%) from the People’s
Government of Jiangsu Province in February 2012 for his
research on the measures and system for energy efficiency
technology of domestic and imported energy-consuming
products, and received the third prize (=%%%) from the People’s
Government of Jiangsu Province in February 2016 for his
research, development and application of the typical process of
fortifying food with microwave (R 3810 B & 7Y 38 72 B8 §E [ iiT
N B2 E ) and was awarded the first prize (—Z£4%) from
the Science and Technology Award of the China National Light
Industry Council (ranked No.1) in 2023.

From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Yu was the chief technician (F 1T T #
f) of the diesel engine factory of China FAW (FE—4) in
Wuxi; from 2006 to 2014, he was a senior engineer of the
mechanical and electrical department of the Wuxi Entry-Exit
Inspection and Quarantine Bureau ({5 H A B iaE BKS
F0y); from February 2014 to June 2018, he was an associate
professor of Jiangnan University; and since June 2018, he has
been a professor of Jiangnan University.

Mr. ZHONG Ruifeng (§ImlE), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2021. He is also
a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Board. He graduated from
Jiangyin Polytechnic College (TR B ZFT2ET) majoring in
mechanical and electrical integration (#E —2&1t).
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From 1999 to 2000. Mr. Zhong was a technician of #&$5EHin )
DM AR A A]; from 2000 to 2001, he was the head of
production (A£EREK) of EBEIME) WM AR AF]; from 2001
to 2002, he was a plant manager () of %5 RHi Bh 1 #Am,
BRAR]; from 2005 to 2013, he was the manager of the
technology department (3:1ii36) of TR KNEFZER A F]; from
2013 to 2016, he was the executive vice president (F 7% EI42)
of JIERF KEFEAMR A A]; and since 2016, he has been the
general manager of )L &R EH R EH R A A

SUPERVISORS

Mr. PENG Jiashan (8M0Ll), aged 61, was appointed as our
supervisor as a shareholder representative with effect from 15
August 2014. Mr. Peng graduated from Jiangsu University (JL#k
KE) majoring in mechanical and electronic engineering (#4# &
FTH) in July 2002. Mr. Peng received the qualification of
engineer (LF2RM) from #EFTAER (Wuxi City Personnel
Bureau®) in September 2003. He received the qualification of
head teacher (IE = A% ZXAD) from L& & A N ERMit S IREEE
(Human Resources And Social Security Department of Jiangsu
Province*) in November 2019. In December 2012, he was
awarded the title of Outstanding Teacher of Jiangsu (CL&R& 4
M EEM) by the People’s Government of Jiangsu.

W REERRT (Wuxi Institute of Machinery Manufacturing®, currently
known as 58 FTERE (Wuxi School of Technology®)) as
an internship tutor (& & 453%& £AM). From September 1991 to
August 2005, Mr. Peng worked in JT MR #@E; T2 (Jiangyin
City Transport Workers School*) as a teacher. From August 2005
to July 2023, Mr. Peng worked in JT & & /IR ERMHE P
R (Jiangsu Provincial Jiangyin Central School of Vocational
Technology Education*, currently known as JLER & LEhESHE
B (Jiangsu Provincial Jiangyin Secondary Professional School®))
as a teacher. From February 2024 to July 2024, he served in &
MZER RS 20T TRIZE (Department of Engineering of Guangzhou
Huashang Vocational College). Since July 2024, he worked
in BRAFESEBESREZRES (School of Intelligent
Manufacturing, Guangdong Innovative Technology College) as vice
president. Mr. Peng has been granted jointly by 3T RETH R
BZ& &€ (Jiangyin City Transport Bureau Commission®) and JT k&
MR BB (Jiangyin City Transport Bureau®) the title of Joift 4 &
(IL¥E)% (advanced (working) producer*) in February 2000 and
January 2001, respectively. He was granted the title of 5T (8
FHE LE# (outstanding educator in Wuxi City*) by 5 &
/& (Wuxi City Education Bureau*) in September 2019.
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Ms. WEI Yi (f£2E), aged 55, was appointed as our supervisor
as a shareholder representative with effect from 15 August
2014. Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering
majoring in electronic precision machinery (& 15 % ##) from
Southeast University (BEEAE) in July 1991. From August 1996
to July 1999, Ms. Wei studied Modern Financial Accounting
courses at Xidian University (7% & F £ X&) and graduated
from Xidian University in July 1997. Ms. Wei received the
certificate of accounting professional issued by the Financial
Department of Shaanxi Province (BR75%4& BF B EE) in April 2003.

After graduating from Southeast University, Ms. Wei worked
as an engineer in FEIARBNE 212 2% (General Logistics
Department of the People’s Liberation Army*). From January 2005
to December 2008, Ms. Wei worked as the chief financial officer
at PRERAT 2 RIEAFE AT (Shaanxi Red Star Boiler Company
Limited®). From May 2009 to August 2017, Ms. Wei worked
as the deputy general manager of ST TR CFII) BR
2 A] (Zhuo Sui Electronic Science and Technology (Shenzhen)
Company Limited*). From September 2017 to September 2022,
Ms. Wei has worked as the deputy general manager of Shenzhen
ASA Industrial Co., Ltd.

Ms. YANG Jinghua (5§ ZE), aged 43, was appointed as our
supervisor as the employee representative with effect from July
2012. Ms. Yang graduated with a major
administration from Jiangnan University. From July 2000 to June
2006, she worked in EH TR EHEFHR AT (Wuxi Alps
Electronic Company Limited*) and her last position was training
officer. From June 2006 to February 2007, she worked in X5

EERREBRAGEHH AR (Nippon Express (China)
Company Limited* (now known as B@EBEEWRE (R E) AR A
A])), which was engaged in statistics work. Since May 2009,
Ms. Yang has worked in the Company on personnel related
work.

in business

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. OU Guojian, aged 58, graduated from Soochow University
in June 1988, majoring in Organic Chemistry. In June 2000, he
was granted the engineer qualification by &M T Z 2 £ 1T A 8 B
MWIEEE/NEPAE (Job Title Working Group of Technical
Professionals of Changzhou City*).
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Mr. Ou Guojian served as the technical quality manager in & i#
Z MR (Wujin Pesticide Factory®) from August 1988 to May
2002, the R&D Engineer in ®MEBE L HF R A7 (Changzhou
Kangli Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*) from May 2002 to March
2004; the R&D Engineer in JIEAJIMELTAER AR (Jiangyin
Baichuan Chemical Co., Ltd.*) from March 2004 to February
2005, the production technology minister in JTREE T THIR
A \] (Jiangyin Chengjiang Chemical Co., Ltd.*) from March
2005 to July 2011. In August 2011, he joined the Company as
sales director and was promoted to vice-general manager in
October 2016.

Mr. HUANG Liming (E3LBH), aged 44, graduated with a major
in automatic control from Wuxi Institute of Technology (ZE#75%%
R TEB3) in July 2004, and a major in business administration
from Jiangnan University ((TEAZE) in July 2015. Mr. Huang was
granted the title of A AL 8 T (intelligent staff*) in the 2013-
2014 Labour Competition (2013-2014F EH T4 HHEEE) in
April 2015, which was organised by the BB ELZHELTE
(Federation of Trade Unions of Changan Street, Huishan®).

Mr. Huang Liming acted as the head of electric department of T
e =T # M AR AR (Jiangyin Sanjia Gongkong Machinery
Company Limited*) from July 2004 to March 2010. T =& T
2B PR A &) (Jiangyin Sanjia Gongkong Machinery Company
Limited*) was deregistered in July 2012.

Mr. Huang Liming acted as the vice-general manager of Jiangyin
Sanzhi since March 2010. Jiangyin Sanzhi was deregistered in
December 2015.

Mr. Huang Liming acted as the director of the production
department of the Company, and was promoted to be vice-
general manager in August 2015.

* For identification purposes only
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On 20 July 2012, the current session of the board of
supervisors of the Company (the “Board of Supervisors”) was
established upon the approval of the inaugural meeting of the
Company. The current session of the Board of Supervisors
comprises three supervisors, namely Mr. Peng Jiashan, Ms. Wei
Yi and Ms. Yang Jinghua.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, for the Company’s
long term interests and its Shareholders’ interests, the Board of
Supervisors acted in strict compliance with
regulations, rules, regulatory documents,
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
earnestly performed their duties of supervision as to the acts of
the Directors and senior management of the Company. The main
area of work of the Board of Supervisors in 2024 is summarised
as follows:

relevant laws,

the articles of

I. MEETINGS CONDUCTED BY THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS
The Board of Supervisors convened three meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

II. WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The work of the fifth sessions of the Board of Supervisors
mainly comprised of the followings:

1. Inspection over implementation of resolutions of the
general meetings
The Board of Supervisors exercised supervision and
inspection of the implementation of the resolutions in
general meetings by the Board and the senior
management of the Company through observation and
attendance at the board meetings and general meetings.
The Board of Supervisors is of the opinion that the
Directors and senior management of the Company have
diligently performed their duties in compliance with
resolutions of the general meetings. No violation of any
laws or regulations or the Articles of Association or any act
which jeopardises the interests of the Company or
Shareholders has been found in the performance of duties
by the Directors and senior management of the Company.
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WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(Continued)

Inspection over legal compliance of the Group’s
operations

The Board of Supervisors exercised supervision on a
regular basis over the legal compliance and rationality of
the Group’s operation and management in its ordinary
works. It has also exercised supervision over work
performance of the Board and senior management of the
Company. The Board of Supervisors is of the opinion that
the Group’s operation is sound and rational,
compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and rules
and the Articles of Association. The members of the Board
and senior management of the Group have conscientiously
and diligently performed their duties, and none of their acts
would prejudice the interests of the Group or the

Shareholders.

and is in

Inspection over the Group’s daily operating activities
The Board of Supervisors exercised supervision over the
Group’s operating activities. The Board of Supervisors is of
the opinion that the Group has a sound internal control
system and has made a great progress in the formulation
and implementation of its internal work procedures, thus
effectively controlled its exposure to various operating risks.
The Group’s operation is in compliance with the PRC laws
and regulations and the Articles of Association.
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1. WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
(Continued)

4. Inspection over the Group’s financial condition
The Board of Supervisors has verified the Group’s 2024
consolidated financial statements, supervised and inspected
the Group’s implementation of relevant financial policies and
legislations as well as details on the Group’s assets,
financial income and expenditure. The Board of Supervisors
is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements
for 2024 fairly reflected the Group’s financial position and
operating results.

Looking forward, the Board of Supervisors will continue to carry
out its duties in strict compliance with the Articles of Association
and the relevant laws and regulations and protect the interests
of the Shareholders.

Peng Jiashan
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors

Jiangsu, China, 28 March 2025
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief that
they are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of stakeholders, comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements and fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules as its own code for corporate governance.
The Board is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
CG Code provisions for the Year. The key corporate governance
practices of the Company is summarised below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. The Board has established four
Board committees, being the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration and appraisal committee (the
“Remuneration and Appraisal Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the strategic
committee (the “Strategic Committee”) (each a “Board
Committee” and collectively the “Board Committees”), to
oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely
Mr. Zhang Degang, Mr. Zhang Degiang and Ms. Feng Lili, one
non-executive Director, namely, Ms. Zhang Jinghua, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Yiu
Cho, Mr. Yu Jianfeng and Mr. Zhong Ruifeng. Mr. Zhang
Degang is the chairman of the Board.

Their biographical details and their family relationships (where
applicable) are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” on pages 18 to
27 in this annual report. A list of the Directors identifying their
roles and functions and whether they are independent non-
executive Directors are available on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Degang, an executive Director and the chairman of
the Board, is the brother of Mr. Zhang Degiang and Ms. Zhang
Jinghua, who are the executive Director and general manager,
and the non-executive Director of the Group, respectively. Save
as disclosed, there are no other financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships among the members of the
Board.

The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and strategies,
monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance
and reviews the corporate governance standard of the Group. It
also decides on matters such as annual and interim results,
major transactions, Directors’ appointments or re-appointments,
investment policies, dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and the members
of senior management. The functions and powers that have
been delegated are reviewed periodically by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate.

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and the
training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management of the Company. The Board
also reviews the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report
to ensure compliance.

All Board members have separate and independent access to
the Group’s senior management to fulfill their duties.
Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s
expense upon their request. During the Year, all Directors are
provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance
and financial position to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their first
appointment of directorships or other positions which they are
concurrently holding at other companies or organisations. These
interests are updated on an annual basis and when necessary.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board, giving
adequate control and balances for the Group to protect the
overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group. They serve
actively on the Board and Board Committees to provide their
independent and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board. One of
the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

Each independent non-executive Director has submitted an
annual confirmation in writing of his independence to the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
the contents of such confirmations and upon the
recommendations of the Nomination Committee, the Board
considers that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent and free of any relationship that could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the
Shareholders and have exercised their duties with care, skill and
diligence, in pursuit of the development of the Group. Every
newly appointed Director receives an induction to ensure that
he/she has a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of
his(/her) duties and responsibilities as a director under applicable
rules and requirements.

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
and to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices, the Directors have participated
in the following continuous professional development in the Year:

B E R EE a0 E

Training organised by

EENE Name of Directors professional organisation
BITES Executive Directors

o 12 Al 55 A Mr. Zhang Degang v
oK 12298 5t A Mr. Zhang Degiang v
HEEX T Ms. Feng Lili v
HITES Non-executive Directors

SREFEL T Ms. Zhang Jinghua v
BIFEBITESE Independent Non-executive Directors

28 LE Mr. Leung Yiu Cho v
AEE kYt Mr. Yu Jianfeng v
Ein g Mr. Zhong Ruifeng v

Mist: ARFERBTEFRRIBN S EFEFEH
M HERR K

Note: The Company has received from each of the Directors the confirmations on taking
continuous professional training.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer are separate and are not performed by the same
individual as this ensures better checks and balances and hence
better corporate governance. Mr. Zhang Degang holds the
position of the chairman of the Board, who is primarily
responsible for the overall strategies, planning and business
development of the Group. Mr. Zhang Degiang serves as the
general manager of the Group, who is primarily responsible for
the operations of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of the Board Committees,
including the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Strategic
Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written
terms of reference approved by the Board covering its duties,
powers and functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee are available on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three Directors, namely Mr. Leung
Yiu Cho (independent non-executive Director), Mr. Yu
Jianfeng (independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Zhong Ruifeng (independent non-executive Director). Mr.
Leung Yiu Cho, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in providing an independent view of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, relationship with
external auditor of the Group, overseeing the audit process
and performing other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board. These include
Group’s interim and annual reports.

reviewing the
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and for the year
ended 31 December 2024, respectively, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
the report prepared by the external auditor covering major
findings in the course of the audit, the selection and
appointment of the external auditor as well as the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

Subsequent to the end of the Year, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the
Year.

During the Year, four meetings of the Audit Committee
were held. The attendance records of individual committee
members are set out below:

HE SHRE

Attendance/

BREH%E Name of member Number of Meetings

REHELEE Mr. Leung Yiu Cho 4/4

BRI S A Mr. Yu Jianfeng 4/4

45 Ty & 5 A Mr. Zhong Ruifeng 4/4
FHREREEEE (i) Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

%ﬁ@)ﬂéﬁi%ﬁé B BREXERT

AR RERESRE H=%2E=F
MR Rl S e g e OB IEH
TEF)  EREEE OB IFNTE

) FOREERALE (TES) -
BEERFTHEEZZERER °

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was
established with terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
comprises three Directors, namely Mr. Yu Jianfeng
(independent non-executive Director), Mr. Zhong Ruifeng
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhang
Deqgiang (executive Director). Mr. Yu Jianfeng is the
chairman of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee (Continued)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
structure and policy for all Directors and senior
management as well as the specific remuneration packages
for the executive Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent process for
developing such remuneration policy. No Director takes part
in any discussion on his own remuneration. The Company’s
objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business requirements and
industry practice. level of
remuneration and fees paid to the members of the Board,
market rates and factors such as each Director’s workload,
performance, responsibility, job complexity and the Group’s
performance are taken into account. The matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules is
reviewed and approved, if any.

In order to determine the

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims
to set out the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration
paid to executive Directors and non-executive Directors.
The Directors’ remuneration policy sets out the
remuneration structure that allows the Company to attract,
motivate and retain qualified Directors who can manage
and lead the Company in achieving its strategic objective
and contribute to the Company’s performance and
sustainable growth, and to provide Directors with a
balanced and competitive remuneration. The remuneration
policy is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but not
excessive. To achieve this, remuneration package is
determined with reference to a matrix of factors, including
the individual performance, qualification and experience of
Directors concerned and prevailing industry practice. It will
be reviewed and, if necessary, updated from time to time
to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i) Remuneration and Appraisal Committee (Continued)
During the Year, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the remuneration policy
and structure relating to the Directors and senior
management of the Company as well as the specific
remuneration packages for the executive Directors and
senior management, assessed the performance of executive
directors, approved the terms of executive directors’
service contracts and made recommendations to the
Board.

During the Year, one meeting of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee was held. The attendance records of
individual committee members are set out below:

HE ERAH

Attendance/

54=} %1 Name of member Number of Meetings
oK 1898 St A Mr. Zhang Degiang 1/1
BRI LAE Mr. Yu Jianfeng 1/1
% im & Mr. Zhong Ruifeng 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee (Continued)

The remuneration of the members of the Directors,
supervisors and the senior management of the Group by
band for the Year is set out below:

AE

Number of persons

= £ 250,000
Nil to 250,000

250,000 500,000
250,000 to 500,000

500,000% 1,000,000
500,000 to 1,000,000

REZES
BAZEROERAEEATIN
SOREBERE h=

B DRIAFMERIE S (RITEE) -
SRS B IEITES) RIER
55 CBSIIERTER) - FRBI%
ERRAEBEERE -

REZEBENIZBRAEREIEFR
ANEEENEN  BRERE - AR
RELE - UEREFSAFBES
SEXGABENSEER - MERE
BoRBZEGENARZERAES
SHEARAEERAETESFENX
BHALT  EREFECLRENTX
BIUFAITESTNE LI - RBERE
SEVEABAEERAETESRS
REMNER  TEEREFEZTT
EBR ((EFESTABEK]) - ME
FEREFRTEFSZITIEBEN
B RERESFEZ LK
RETZAIETE B R INARRET - AKX
ERERARBGENEE -

(iii)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code and comprises

three Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Degang (executive
Director), Mr. Yu Jianfeng (independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Zhong Ruifeng (independent non-

executive Director). Mr. Zhang Degang is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are to review the composition of the Board, including its
structure, size and diversity, at least annually to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Group. It is also responsible to consider and recommend to
the Board any suitably qualified person to become a
member of the Board, monitor the succession planning of
Directors and assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors. The Nomination Committee will also give
consideration to the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) identifying suitable qualified
candidates to become the members of the Board, and the
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis, so as to develop
and review measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and to monitor the progress on achieving
these objectives.

when
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2015. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 24 August 2018 which sets out
the nomination criteria and procedures for the Company to
select candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The
Nomination Policy could assist the Company to achieve
board diversity in the Company and enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such
as the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be
taken into consideration as a whole. In the case of
independent non-executive Directors, they must further
satisfy the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Since the selection of candidates should
ensure that diversity remains a central feature of the Board,
a range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience would be considered.

The procedure and process to identify potential candidates
for the Board would be as follows:

(1)  identifying potential candidates, including recommendations
from the Board members, professional search firms and
the shareholders of the Company;

(2) evaluating the candidates based on the approved
selection criteria through methods such as reviewing
the resume and conducting background checks;

(8) reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and
interviewing them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)
The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession
plan to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be
created or expected due to the Directors’ resignation,
retirement, death and other circumstances and to identify
candidates in advance if necessary. The Nomination Policy
will be reviewed on a regular basis.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Year, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held. The attendance records of individual committee
members are set out below:

HE R

Attendance/

REa Name of member Number of Meetings

SR 12 Ml 5 A Mr. Zhang Degang 11

AR EE Mr. Yu Jianfeng 11

Ein g5 Mr. Zhong Ruifeng 1/1
BREES (iv) Strategic Committee

BEZESDENYL  RAEBESR
CB=REFAEK 2R RREH
FEMGTESR) REBREE (T
ER)MRRELELECBIIFNTE
=) REMLEERBKEZESTE -

BRZEENIEREEMNALRAN
FHZEREBANESTSRLES -

FR - BRZESC (APERE)BF
ARAMBEE R RPER - Wil
BEER LR o

The Strategic Committee was established with terms of
reference and comprises three Directors, namely Mr. Zhang
Degang (executive Director), Mr. Zhang Deqgiang (executive
Director) and Mr. Leung Yiu Cho (independent non-
executive Director). Mr. Zhang Degang is the chairman of
the Strategic Committee.

The primary function of the Strategic Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the long-term
development strategies of the Company.

During the Year, the Strategic Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed the financing plans and long term development of
the Company and given suggestions accordingly.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(iv) Strategic Committee (Continued)

During the Year, one meeting of the Strategic Committee
was held. The attendance records of individual committee

™~ members are set out below:
HE EERH
Attendance/
R EE Name of member Number of Meetings
SR 12 5 A& Mr. Zhang Degang 1/1
SRR LA Mr. Zhang Degiang 1/1
2B A Mr. Leung Yiu Cho 1/1
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ROERITIER TEREMARLME
FeREe MERAFIBUNE
8.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, and the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

MECHANISM ENSURING SUFFICIENT
INDEPENDENCE VIEWS TO THE BOARD

The Board recognises Board independence is critical to good
corporate governance. The Company has put in place the
mechanisms to ensure a strong independence element on the
Board, which are summarised below:

() Board Composition
The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors and at least
one-third of the Board members being independent non-
executive Directors (or such higher threshold as may be
required by the Listing Rules from time to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by
the Listing Rules as to the composition of certain Board
committees, independent non-executive Directors will be
appointed to other Board committees as far as practicable
to ensure independent views are available.
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MECHANISM ENSURING SUFFICIENT
INDEPENDENCE VIEWS TO THE BOARD (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee shall strictly adhere to the
nomination policy and the independence assessment
criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to the
nomination and appointment of independent non-executive
Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director is also required to
inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any
change in his own personal particulars that may materially
affect his independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually
the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors by reference to the independence criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement.

Decision Making

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are entitled to seek further information and documentation
from the management on the matters to be discussed at
board meetings. They can also seek assistance from the
Company’s company secretary and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expense.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which
such Director or any of his close associates has a material
interest.

The Board had made an annual review on the
implementation of the abovementioned mechanisms and
was of the view that the abovementioned mechanisms had
been satisfactorily implemented.
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board is required to
hold at least four Board meetings each year, to be convened
and hosted by the chairman of the Board. A notice of at least
fourteen days shall be dispatched for a regular Board meeting
while the notice of an extraordinary Board meeting shall be
despatched five days prior to the date of the meeting. The
notice shall state the time, venue and means by which the
Board meeting will be convened, and an agenda and
accompanying board papers shall be sent to all the Directors at
least three days before the relevant meeting.

The quorum for a Board meeting is the presence of at least half
of the total number of the Directors. A Director may attend the
Board meeting in person, or appoint another Director in writing
as his proxy to attend the Board meeting. The secretary to the
Board is responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes of
Board meetings and ensuring that such minutes are available for
inspection by any Director.

During the Year, five Board meetings were held and the
attendance records are set out below:

HE ERRE
Attendance/
Number of Meetings

SRIEMI ST A
SRIBR L
HEEBX T
REFEX L
RiEHEEE
AR A
=] e

. Zhang Degang 5/5
. Zhang Degiang 5/5
. Feng Lili 5/5
. Zhang Jinghua 5/5
. Leung Yiu Cho 5/5
. Yu Jianfeng 5/5
. Zhong Ruifeng 5/5
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company convened an extraordinary
general meeting on 26 February 2024 and an annual general
meeting 26 June 2024. The attendance record of the Directors
in relation to the general meetings is set out below:

HE ERRE
Attendance/
Number of Meetings

SRIEMI T A
SRIBR A
HEEBX T
REFEX L
RiEHEEE
AR A
=] e

ZEREEES
FTAFRTEE B IFRITERNIR=
FREEHEE-

RIBABERMAY  EFANARFRR
AgLERRES THA=F UAEE
B ARFIEREZEEFEFTER —EAX
BF - RBRZESARRERERERA R
MBERANNGE EERARRNE
RENR - EEEFNTERER - TUER
FRER - YR MERRAERTESS
B - PIAEFRENEEHAKRRRE
BBRAULE -

Mr.

Zhang Degang 2/2
. Zhang Degiang 2/2
. Feng Lili 2/2
. Zhang Jinghua 2/2
. Leung Yiu Cho 2/2
. Yu Jianfeng 2/2
. Zhong Ruifeng 2/2

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors shall be subject
to election at the Company’s general meetings with a term of
office of three years and may be re-elected. The Company has
implemented a set of effective procedures for the appointment
of new Directors. The Nomination Committee shall, in
accordance with provisions of the relevant laws and regulations
and the Articles of Association, take into account the practical
situations of the Company, consider the selection criteria,
selection procedures and terms of office of the Directors, and
record and submit the resolutions to the Board for approval. All
newly nominated Directors are subject to election and approval

at general meetings.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Each of the Directors has been re-elected for a term of three
years at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26
June 2024,

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors consists of three members. The
employee representative supervisor, namely Ms. Yang Jinghua,
was elected by employees, and the other supervisors were
elected by the shareholders of the Company. Each of the
supervisors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date. All of the current supervisors have been re-elected
for a term of three years at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 26 June 2024. The functions and duties of
the Board of Supervisors include, but are not limited to:
reviewing and verifying financial reports and, if in doubt,
appointing certified public accountants and practicing auditors to
re-examine the Company’s financial information; investigate when
an unusual operation situation of the Company is discontinued;
supervising the performance of the Directors and senior
management members, and monitoring whether they had acted
in violation of the laws, regulations and Articles of Association in
the performance of their duties; requesting the Directors and
senior management members to rectify actions which are
detrimental to the Company’s interests; and exercising other
rights given to them under the Articles of Association.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an
external service provider, namely Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho”),
who was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”). Mr. Zhang Degang, the chairman
of the Board and executive Director, is the primary corporate
contact person of the Company with Ms. Ho.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Ho plays an important role in
supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within
the Board and that the Board policies and procedures are
followed. Ms. Ho is responsible for advising the Board on
corporate governance matters and should also facilitate induction
and professional development of Directors. During the Year, the
Company Secretary has complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by
undertaking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors and
supervisors of the Company. Upon making specific enquiries of
all the Directors and supervisors of the Company, each of the
Directors and supervisors of the Company confirmed that he/she
has fully complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year. The Board is of the opinion
that the Model Code has been fully complied with during the
year end 31 December 2024.

Issuers as set out in

Any employee of the Company or director or employee of any
subsidiary of the Company who, because of their office in the
Company, are likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the securities of the Company, have also been
requested not to deal in securities of the Company when he
would be prohibited from dealing by the Model Code as if he
were a Director.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Audit Committee has discussed with the
management of the Company on matters relating to risk
management and internal control of the Group. The Board
complied with the code provisions on risk management and
internal control as set out in the CG code. The Board has
overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is wiling to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper
accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial
information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against
the likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.

The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an annual and ongoing basis. A year
end review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems has been conducted for the Year
and upon the review by the Audit Committee, the Board was of
the view that the risk management and internal control systems
are considered to be effective and adequate. Self-assessment
and comprehensive
conducted during the review. The Company also has an internal
audit function to carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems, and
has procedures in place to keep information confidential and
manage actual or potential conflicts of interest. Stringent internal
structures have been designed to prevent the misuse of inside
information and avoid conflicts of interest.

risk assessment surveys have been
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

All Directors and those employees who could have access to,
and monitor, the information of the Group are responsible for
making appropriate precautions to prevent abuse or misuse of
such information. Employees of the Group are prohibited from
using inside information for their own benefit.

The Board is also vested with the responsibility to disseminate to
the Shareholders and the public any inside information in the
form of announcements and circulars, in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which give a true
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows for the Year and in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The
Company has selected appropriate accounting policies and has
applied them consistently based on prudent and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Board considers that the Group
has adequate
foreseeable future and is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to any events or conditions that may affect the business
of the Group or cast doubts on its ability to continue as going
concern.

resources to continue in business for the

The responsibility of PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s
external auditor, with respect to financial reporting is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual
report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Company. During the Year, the fees paid or
payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of its audit
services provided to the Group was RMB1,490,000 and no non-
audit services were provided.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the Year under review.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with
an appropriate level of female members on the Board, which
shall not be less than one female member with immediate effect
as an measurable objective. During the Year and as at the date
of this annual report, two of the seven Directors of the
Company are female, representing 29% of the Board. The Board
considered that Company has achieved gender diversity of the
Board during the year and will continue implementing the Board
Diversity Policy in the future to enhance the overall performance
of the Board and the effectiveness of decision-making. It is
expected that the ratio of female Directors will remain at 29% in
the following years. The Company will continue its nomination
policy to select suitable candidates with no gender limitation to
be newly appointed Directors in the next few years.

While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil
its Board Diversity Policy, all appointments are ultimately made
on a merit basis taking into account available and suitable
candidates.

The Nominations Committee will review the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy at least annually and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board for the
Board’s review and approval its continued
appropriateness and effectiveness.

to ensure
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BOARD DIVERSITY (Continued)

For recruiting potential successors to the Board to archive Board
diversity including gender diversity, the Board has prepared a list
of desirable skills, experience, qualifications, gender or
perspectives which the candidate should have. If the Board
determines that an additional or replacement Director is required,
it will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable director
candidates, including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external executive
search firms.

The Board had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy and was of the view that the Board
Diversity Policy and its implementation was sufficient and
effective.

WORK FORCE DIVERSITY

The Group strictly adheres to fair and appropriate employment
practices and labour standards. With an anti-discriminatory and
equal-opportunity policy in place, the Group provides job
applicant and employees with equal opportunities of employment
and promotion, and prohibits all forms of discrimination on
gender, religion, race, disability or age. As at 31 December
2024, the current gender ratio of the company workforce
(including senior management) is 44 females to 137 males,
which has decreased from 43 females to 154 males as of the
previous year. The Board considered that the Company has
achieved gender diversity and will continue focusing on the area
because workforce gender diversity is associated with resources
that can provide a sustained competitive advantage to the
company, which include market insight, creativity and innovation,
and improved problem-solving. A gender diverse team may
enhance the team’s overall creativity and innovation as proved
by research. Moreover, a gender diverse team produces high
quality decisions. The plan for the Group in terms of gender
diversity in workforce is to maintain the balance of gender
diversity in the foreseeable future. Although there may be some
mitigating circumstances where gender diversity can be very
hard to achieve (for instance, male workers are more commonly
seen regarding physical labor and female workers are more
often seen during psychological consultation), the Company will
keep focusing on the workforce gender diversity to maintain its
current strength as well as to further improve its competence in
the future.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company aims to, via its corporate governance structure,
enable all its Shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their
rights in an informed manner and allow all Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

Purpose

The Company recognises the importance of providing current
and relevant information to the Shareholders. This shareholders’
communication policy (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
provisions with the objective to ensure that the Shareholders
and potential investors are provided with equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company, in order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner, and to allow the Shareholders and
potential investors to engage actively with the Company.

General Policy

The board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and will regularly review the Policy to ensure its
effectiveness.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders as well as the
stakeholders through periodic disclosure through the Company’s
financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual general
meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as
well as by making available all the disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange and other corporate publications on the Stock
Exchange’s website and corporate communications on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.wxsunlit.com).

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders
shall be ensured at all times. Any questions, requests and
comments can be addressed to the Company by mail to Suite
2703, 27/F, Shui On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong, or by email to fenglili@wxsunlit.com, or through the
Company’s share registrar, Union Registrars Limited.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

General Policy (Continued)

The Company believes that communication with Shareholders by
electronic means in accordance with the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules, particularly through its website, is an
efficient way to distribute information in a timely and convenient
manner. Shareholders are encouraged to provide their up-to-
date contact details (including electronic contact details) to the
Company’s share registrar, Union Registrars Limited, in order to
facilitate timely and effective communications and to access to
the corporate communications posted on the Company’s
website (www.wxsunlit.com) to help reduce the quantity of
printed copies and hence reduce the impact on the
environment.

The Company’s website will be updated on a regular basis and
with material posted to the Stock Exchange’s website
immediately thereafter. Such material includes but not limited to
financial statements, circulars and
notices of general meetings and associated explanatory
documents. Please refer to the website of the Company for the
arrangements of dissemination of corporate communications and
the request form for printed copies of the annual reports, interim
reports and circulars.

results announcements,

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is publicly
available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable
them to make any query in respect of the Company.

The Company has reviewed that the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy has
been conducted for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

General Policy (Continued)

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the shareholder
communication policy and other relevant internal procedures of the
Company, the Shareholders enjoy, among others, the following
rights:

U]

(i)

Participation at general meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for direct communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. The Company encourages the
participation of the Shareholders through annual general
meetings and other general meetings where the
Shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board,
and to exercise their right to vote at meetings. The
Company shall arrange notices of meetings and circulars
containing details on proposed resolutions to be issued to
the Shareholders no less than 45 days before the relevant
meeting. At general meetings, separate resolutions are
proposed on each substantial issue, including the election
of individual Directors.

Enquiries to the Board

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend
shareholders’ meetings and make enquiries by either directly
raising questions on both operational and governance
matters to the Board and Board Committees at the general
meetings or providing written notice of such enquiries to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 2703, 27th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.



B 538 = B R SRAE F ()

(iii)

BRKREHNIXE
REBEBERAA BBLAFA
10% A LR AR - BHEAE®
FABREEGERRRENKE -
ERBIZRETEAR EFGARE
B OERMARERRANELEH
HREGREAFABRFEIAGNER
Bl /& °

HEFERBEARBREHIAE A
RESFSELEBAZRIBAED
BRAgAES MBSEERARZ
& AEUS AR R R AL

MEFSEBARBRERNKRE 3
EWRIZERETHAKRERE - B
FAFTFRIB10% A EIRGEERE
BAEEERTARNEESREAH
BEREFRIAE °

HMEESREARBRERREIAS - 8
ARBRIRREAAABELBERAS
BE - WMBASEERBEZ  AAR
S AERA R R AL

EEgRANAEHARAFHERRK
RE BERASEREARLER
BRRXE  MESNTHIALEE
HEFFHAARE10% A LA
BREEARANMEIRAS -

—E-mEERE
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

(iii) Convening extraordinary general meetings

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) alone or
jointly holding 10% or more of the shares have the right to
require the Board to convene a shareholders’ extraordinary
general meeting by a written request. Within ten days after
receipt of the request, the Board shall, in accordance with
laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, gives a
written response in respect of whether or not it agrees to
convene a shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting.

If the Board agrees to convene a shareholders’ extraordinary
general meeting, a notice of shareholders’ general meeting
shall be issued within five days after the Board reaches such
a resolution. Where the notice alters the original proposal, the
approval of the relevant shareholders shall be required.

If the Board refuses to convene a shareholders’ extraordinary
general meeting, or fails to respond within ten days after
receipt of the request, the Shareholder(s) alone or in
aggregate holding 10% or more of the Shares have the right
to propose to the Board of Supervisors by a written
requisition the convening of a shareholders’ extraordinary
general meeting.

If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene a shareholders’
extraordinary general meeting, a notice of shareholders’
general meeting shall be issued within five days after receipt
of the request. Where the notice alters the original proposal,
the approval of the relevant Shareholders shall be required.

Failure of the Board of Supervisors to issue a notice of
general meeting within the stipulated period shall be deemed
as its failure to convene and preside over a general meeting,
and Shareholder(s) alone or in aggregate holding 10% or
more of the Company’s Shares for ninety consecutive days or
more shall be entitled to convene and preside over the
meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
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(iii) Convening extraordinary general meetings (Continued)
The Shareholders require to convene an extraordinary general

RERE - EERBTYEFIFE meeting or class meeting shall follow the following
procedures:
@ BREIEGIFEMBRIEDN (@) Shareholders who separately or jointly hold 10% or
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more of the shares of the Company carrying voting
rights may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting or class meeting by
signing a written request or several copies in the
same form and to illustrate the proposed resolutions
of the meetings. The Board shall convene an
extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting as
soon as practicable upon receipt of the foresaid
written request. The aforesaid amount of shareholding
is calculated as of the date of the submission of the
written request by the Shareholders.

A shareholder’s general meeting shall be convened in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

All reasonable expenses incurred by convening and holding
the aforesaid meeting by Shareholders due to the failure of
the Board to hold such meeting
aforesaid request shall be borne by the Company. Such
expenses shall be deducted from the amounts due by the

in response to the

Company to the Director(s) who have defaulted their duties.
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BRERE RERRERN 2 COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
(iv) Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general
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meeting

In overseeing and monitoring the business operation of the
Company, the Shareholders have the right to put forward
proposals and raise inquiries. Shareholders individually or
together holding 3% or more of the Company’s voting
shares have the right to put up ad hoc proposals in writing
to the Company for the attention of the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong
currently situated at Suite 2703, 27th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and the
Company shall include such ad hoc proposals into the
agenda for such general meeting if they are the matters
which fall within the functions and powers of general
meeting.

The contents of the proposals to be raised shall be within
the scope of duties of the general meetings. It shall have a
clear topic and specific matters to be resolved on, and
shall be in compliance with relevant requirements of the
laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of
Association.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

(v) Shareholder Inquiry

The Shareholders shall direct inquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar.

Name of Registrar:  Union Registrars Limited

Address: Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two
Chinachem Exchange Square,
338 King’s Road, North Point,
Hong Kong

Telephone Number:  +852 2849 3399

The Shareholders may request for the Company’s
information in the public domain at any time.

The Company shall provide the shareholders with
designated contact details, email address and hotline
number for the shareholders to inquire about the
Company’s matters.

The Company highly values the view and comment by the
Shareholders’ and relevant stakeholders to the Company
and would invite the Shareholders’ and relevant
stakeholders to communicate with the Company by
employing the abovementioned means. In view of the above
shareholders’ communication means and measures
adopted by the Company, the Board is of the view that the
shareholders’ communication policy implemented during the
Year was sufficient and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 13 May 2014 which sets out the appropriate
procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend
payment of the Company. The Company takes priority to
distributing dividends in cash and shares its profits with the
Shareholders. The dividend distribution decision of the Company
will depend on, among others, the financial results, the current
and future operations, liquidity and capital requirements, financial
condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board has proposed to make certain amendments to the
existing amended and restated Articles of Association to amend
the scope of business of the Company and to incorporate
certain housekeeping amendments (collectively, the

“Amendments”).

In view of the Amendments, the Board proposed to adopt an
amended Articles of Association (the “New Constitutional
Documents”). The New Constitutional Documents was adopted
by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 26 February 2024.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 2 January 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 8
January 2024. Save as disclosed herein, there was no
significant changed in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Group is committed to promoting sustainable development,
which is extremely important to create long-term value for the
Group’s shareholders, customers, employees, other
stakeholders, as well as the general public. The Group cares
about the impact of its daily operation on the environment and
the society and strives to set a good example for the public;
hence in conducting business operation, it also makes great
effort to satisfy the interests of all stakeholders, the economy,
the environment, the society and corporate governance and
strives to achieve a fine balance.

After reviewing the Company’s environmental, social and
governance practices and the relevant provisions of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules, the Board is satisfied that the Company has
complied with the “Comply or Explain” Provisions set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide for the Year.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

We consider environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
commitment as a part of our fiduciary duty and we pledge to
embed ESG considerations into our decision- making process.
To achieve this,
framework to ensure the alignment of ESG aspects with our
strategic growth, while advocating the integration of ESG
considerations into our business operations. Our corporate social
responsibility structure is divided into two components, namely
the board of directors (the “Board”) and an ESG taskforce.

we have developed a core governance

The Board takes overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
issues and oversees the ESG strategies, direction and policies.
In order to better manage the Group’s ESG performance,
related issues and potential risks, the Board discusses and
reviews the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, performance,
progress, goals and targets regularly with the assistance of the
ESG taskforce. The Board is also responsible for ensuring the
effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control
mechanism and facilitates the exchange of best practices with
other comparable companies.
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THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

The ESG taskforce is composed of core members from different
departments of the Group. The ESG taskforce facilitates the
Board’s oversight of ESG matters and has the responsibility for
collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the
Group’s ESG performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-
related laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The
ESG taskforce arranges meeting semi-annually to evaluate the
effectiveness of current policies and procedures, and formulate
appropriate solutions to improve the overall performance of such
ESG policies. At such meetings, the ESG taskforce discusses
the existing and upcoming plans in order to monitor and
manage the Group’s strategic goals in terms of sustainable
development, mitigating potential risks, and minimising the
negative impact on our business operations. The ESG taskforce
periodically reports to the Board, assists in assessing and
identifying the Group ESG risks and opportunities and evaluates

the implementation and effectiveness of internal control
mechanism.

REPORTING SCOPE

Unless otherwise stated, the Environmental, Social and

Governance report (the “ESG Report”) mainly covers the Group’s
operation, which is principally the manufacturing and sales of
equipment for steel wire production lines. The Company is also
engaged in the research and development, design, supply,
installation, testing, repair and maintenance of production lines
for manufacturing steel wire. Through its subsidiaries, the
Company is also involved in the software development and
software patent rights trading business in the People’s Republic
of China, which contributed substantially to the Group’s revenue
during the Reporting Period. The Group will continue to assess
the major ESG aspects of different businesses of its major
subsidiaries to determine the reporting scope of the ESG
Report.

The reporting boundary is determined according to the
corresponding materiality of each entity to our business and
operations. Entities outside the scope of the ESG Report can be
found in note 1 to the financial statements in the Annual Report
2024.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules.
Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
structure and practices has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of the Annual Report 2024.

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has
applied the reporting principles in the aforementioned ESG
Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of this
Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by
the Board and senior management. Please refer to the section
headed “Stakeholder Engagement” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the
calculation of relevant data in this Report, as well as the
applicable assumptions were disclosed. The key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) are supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

Balance: This Report was written in an objective and impartial
manner to ensure that the information disclosed faithfully reflects
the overall performance of the Group in ESG aspects.

Consistency: The preparation approach of this Report was
substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations
were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies.

This ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of
the Group and was approved by the Board.
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REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges, and
measures being taken during the year ended 31 December
2024.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding
its businesses and ESG aspects. To understand and address
stakeholders’ key concerns, the Group has maintained close
communication with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to shareholders and investors, customers, tenants,
employees, suppliers and subcontractors, government and other
regulatory bodies as well as the local community.

FEHFTEEARIRE HLEREAKKE In formulating operational and ESG strategies, the Group
B AREZBEATRZRERE considers stakeholders’ expectations by utilising diversified
EERERFMNENEE - communication channels as shown below:
RHinE BERE e
Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
BERRIREE e MBHE e EBEE
e REBEXREG o  HBRR
o DAL e {EENR
e  TETR o EBAIFEM
s REEXWEREH
Shareholders and investors o Financial reports o Business strategy
° Annual general meeting ° Financial performance
° Company website o Corporate governance
o Press releases o Business sustainability
o Investor relations inquiry
° Hotline and emalil
NS s EFRBREKLER e MBBREMEX
o RIFER o REFRT
e RE
Customers ° Customer service hotline and e Quality of the services and

email products
Complaint hotline o Timely service
Exhibitions
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R ESE STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued)
FinE BERE e
Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
== e BIXRRHE o R NAEF
. £Z3 o 8 T & M
e NEEE o ER NI
e THEE e  T{ERH
e MHBRHE e BEXEEREZD
Employees o Staff performance appraisal o Rights and benefits
° Training ° Staff remuneration
° Internal policies ° Development and training
° Regular meetings o Working hours
° Surveys o Occupational health and
safety
HEREY BB s EHBEE e A
e HERKREMAE o [IEREE
e  TEHBERKLFL e BPEEBELEE
Suppliers and subcontractors o Business meetings ° Commitments
° Quotation and tendering e Payment schedule
processes o Business ethics and reputation
° Regular audits and
assessments
T Ko L BS B i o EENERBEA o  ETRERER
o BHEHEMIKE e REEHEBERE
Government and other regulatory o Statutory filings and notices o Compliance with laws and
bodies o Compulsory or voluntary regulations
disclosures ° Transparency of internal
information
g it = o  HEREF s BmEBR
e EBKE e VYEREEHSE
e  RIRRE
Local communities o Community activities ° Business ethics

o Sponsorships and donations Fair employment opportunities

o Environmental protection

Zli‘il EEHEBNDESFERARE g The Group aims to collaborate with its stakeholders to improve
NERRE WHEEAELZHRAIERE X its ESG performance and continuously create greater value for
HEE - the wider community.
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BOARD STATEMENT
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the ESG
Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
This Report demonstrates our growing commitment to advancing
our sustainability performance in areas such as corporate
governance, community participation, customer satisfaction, and
employee care.

We view ESG commitments as part of our responsibility and are
committed to incorporating ESG considerations into our
decision-making process. As such, the Group decided to set
directional targets for the financial year ending 31 December
2027 (*2027”), which would be a three-year target plan. By
setting ESG-related goals, the Group can raise the employee’s
awareness of environmental protection and improve its ESG
performance continuously.

We believe that a forceful governance structure is of utmost
importance to the successful integration and effective
management of sustainability issues at Wuxi Sunlit. The Board
takes overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues and
oversees the ESG strategies, directions and policies. In order to
better manage the Group’s ESG performance, related issues and
potential risks, the Board analyses and reviews the Group’s ESG
risks and opportunities, performance, progress, goals and targets
regularly. The Board is also responsible for ensuring the
effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control
mechanism and facilitates the exchange of best practices with
other comparable companies.

Looking forward, we will continue our efforts to further deepen
the integration of ESG concepts internally and externally,
implement sustainable management more responsibly, and work
together.

Finally, | would like to express my greatest gratitude to the
Board, management and staff of the Group for their strenuous
contribution in the past year. Furthermore, | would also like to
take this opportunity to sincerely thank our customers, suppliers,
business partners and shareholders for their continuous support
and trust. | believe all members of the Group will dedicate their
best effort to drive business growth and to deliver enhanced
returns to shareholders.
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EEMTMS
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group’s major operations
have participated in the preparation of this Report in order to
assist the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying relevant
ESG issues and assessing the importance of related matters to
its businesses and stakeholders. The Group has compiled a
questionnaire with reference to the identified material ESG issues
to collect information from the stakeholders of the Group.

The Group confirmed that it has established appropriate and
effective management policies and internal control systems for
ESG issues during the Reporting Period and confirmed that the
disclosed contents are in compliance with the requirements of
the ESG Reporting Guide.

ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS

To better manage the Group’s material topics and its
performance on those aspects, the Group has set some
directional targets for the financial year ending 31 December
2027, which would be a three-year target plan.

The table below summarises the Group’s sustainability targets
for 2027. The Group will continue to review the progress of the
set targets every Reporting Period prior to 2027, and will
continue to work for the set targets.

REREBE N

Environmental Targets Status

e o 2027 R ERBHEER2024F F1K1% HEiTH

Emissions ° Reduce greenhouse gas emissions intensities by 1% in In progress
2027 as compared to 2024

BEEYE R o 2027 FEEMEE E2024F [F1K1% EITH

Waste Management o Reduce waste intensity by 1% in 2027 as compared to In progress
2024

BE#E o 2027F B RTHMEE 2024 F [F1K1% EITH

Energy Consumption ° Reduce electricity and gasoline intensities by 1% in 2027 as In progress
compared to 2024

K% o 2027 FFIKEE 2024 F [F18E1% #EiTHh

Water Consumption ° Reduce water consumption intensity by 1% in 2027 as In progress

compared to 2024
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CONTACT US

Please feel free to provide comments and suggestions on this
Report or the Group’s ESG performance through email at
fenglili@wxsunlit.com.

ENVIRONMENTAL

A1. Policies on emissions of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
Protecting the environment is one of our key concerns; we
are committed to protecting the environment and focusing
on environmental protection in our operation, hoping to
reduce our long-term negative impact on the environment
through close supervision and stringent control.

1. Energy Management

As indirect greenhouse gas emissions, which are
generated from our daily electricity power
consumption, are the main source of the Group’s
carbon footprint, we will keep monitoring and
disclosing the Group’s carbon footprint to find out and
control the impact of our daily operation on the
environment. At the same time, we will implement the
following energy-saving and energy efficiency
measures at various business locations to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions:

a. Install high-performance electrical equipment;

b. Require the purchasing department to purchase
energy-efficient products;
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Policies on emissions of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes (Continued)

1. Energy Management (Continueq)
c. Employ automatic lighting control systems;

d. Deploy LED lighting on office floors;

e. Require employees to turn off the lights and any
unnecessary energy-consuming devices to
reduce energy consumption and avoid
unnecessary waste of energy;

f. Utilise natural light as much as possible on office
floors;

g. Install auxiliary electricity meters to monitor
electricity consumption; and

h.  Other energy-saving and energy efficiency
measures.

Our finance department shall collect information about
the Group’s usage of electricity annually for the
management to disclose in the ESG Report in each
financial year starting from 1 January 2017.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Policies on emissions of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes (Continued)

2.

Waste Management

In order to lighten the load of landfills, we adopt a
responsible waste management policy, including waste
avoidance, reducing waste from its source and reuse,
recycle and responsible disposal of waste. Our offices
post memos and notices at conspicuous places to
encourage the employees to reduce the production of
waste. We have introduced waste separation
measures from the sources of:

o

Waste paper (excluding paper cup, paper plate,
etc.);

b. Metal (including aluminum cans and other metal
cans);

c. Plastics (plastic bottles, containers and packaging
materials); and

d.  Other recyclables (such as old clothes, electrical
appliances, computers, magazines, etc.).

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was fined for breaching
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution (H2E AR FHAEIKIFZF6%) and
has actively taken remedial measures correspondingly.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has complied with the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FR#E A R
MBI R IZIR &%), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution (FR % A R4t
MBF R RK), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution (%
ARKEMBE KRR RBAZ) and the Law of the PRC
on the Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise (H A K HMEIRIFRE )50
J87%) and other relevant laws and regulation relating
to environmental protection in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2. Policies on effective use of resources (including
energy, water and other raw materials)

Reducing electricity consumption

We will comply with the Group’s policies on emissions
of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes to reduce electricity
consumption.

Paper reduction
In order to reduce waste paper, we have developed
the following measures:

a. Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper
products such as waste papers, posters, letters
and envelopes;

b. Place waste paper recycling bins next to printers
for setting aside waste papers from papers that
have been printed only on one side and can be
reused;

c. Print on both sides of paper;
d.  Write on both sides of paper;
e. Bring your own cup and avoid using paper cup;

f. Reuse stationeries such as file folders and
envelopes;

g. Reuse packaging boxes; and

h.  Ship waste paper, other than those containing
confidential information, to scrap paper
companies or paper mils for them to be
recycled into new paper.

Our finance department shall collect information about
the paper products purchased by the Company and
the waste papers that are shipped to scrap paper
companies or paper mils for the management to
disclose in the ESG report in each financial year
starting from 1 January 2017.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2. Policies on effective use of resources (including
energy, water and other raw materials) (Continued)

3.

Water conservation

In Hong Kong and mainland, fresh water is a precious
resource. We should economise on water, and try our
best to protect water resource, for which we have
developed the following measures:

a. Repair dripping faucet or hose in a timely manner;

b. Adopt effective water-saving production methods
and instruments;

c.  Check water consumption regularly; and

d.  Minimise water pressure.

Green procurement

Green procurement is aimed at reducing environmental
load. Quality, cost, delivery time are the main focuses
when the Group procures goods or chooses
suppliers, but on top of that, we give priority to
environmentally friendly and energy-saving products.
We adopt the following measures:

a. Give priority to the most energy-efficient
products;

b.  Give priority to effective water-saving products;

c. Require the suppliers to
material; and

reduce packaging

d.  Remind suppliers that we value environmental
protection and energy saving.

7
7, Iy

w

71



72

7
%,
%,

W

BHEBRNENBEBROBERLF
WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

RE -HEREASRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE (@)

A3. SERRKAEEHRIERBASTRE
REXRENBE
AEEFEBATAHAEE RBIEARE
HIRBEANEESIBEZENTE

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A3. Policies on minimising the Group’s significant impact
on environment and natural resources

The Group manages and minimises the impact it may
cause to the environment, directly or indirectly, through the

following methods:

1. BREBEFETELERELE 1.
e (BEERNM) BHREZE

2. BYMTERREGIEERES 2.
BIERA SRR R LN

3. EFRABNHARLERER X 3.
MR BEE AR

4. WEREBEBEFETD  FBEDHH 4.

BER ~ KR EMREMEL - AR

HRBEMBERTE

5. EARAEEH TRAREK 5.
R EEREN - AIBEA
e ARDIRE

6. BEETRIDBMANMEAEM 6.
EnBEREE - &

7. BHERFHEEAENRRRER 7.
BEE -

Make sure its business operation complies with the
environmental laws in Hong Kong and its operating
locations, including mainland;

Establish and improve environmental protection
mechanism to ensure that its operation does not
pollute water and land;

Monitor gas emissions and use of resources, and
establish emission reduction target;

Make sure that in our daily business operation, we
conserve energy, water and other raw materials with
all efforts to reduce direct impact on the environment;

Whenever the Company holds banquet, shark fin is out
of question and sustainable seafood should be
served. Order reasonable quantity to reduce waste;

Urge the employees to reduce paper usage and adopt
other energy-saving measures; and

Cooperate with government agencies and support
environmental organizations’ activities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change

Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

The Group recognises the importance of the identification
and mitigation of significant climate-related issues, and is
committed to managing the potential climate-related risks
which may impact the Group’s business activities.
Therefore, the Group has established a robust set of policy
and procedures to identify, monitor and manage ESG
issues, including climate change. Material climate-related
risks are identified and managed under our enterprise risk
management framework.

Climate-related Issues

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as extreme cold or heat, storms, heavy rains
and typhoons can disrupt operations by damaging the
power grid or communication infrastructures, obstructing
and injuring our employees on the road or during their
work. These events could disrupt supply chains, interrupt
business operations, and damage the Group’s assets. As
countermeasures, the Group will identify these risks and
prioritise those that have a serious impact to take
precautionary measures in the first place. At the same
time, the Group will examine the possibility of a change of
business model to reduce or avoid these serious effects on
business operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change (Continued)

Climate-related Issues (Continued)

Transition Risks

There are more stringent climate legislations and regulations
to support the global vision of decarbonisation. For
instance, the Stock Exchange has required the listed
companies to enhance the climate-related disclosures in
their ESG reports. Stricter environmental laws and
regulations may expose enterprises to higher risks of claims
and lawsuits. Corporate reputation may also be damaged
due to failure to meet the climate change compliance
requirements. The companies’ related capital investment
and compliance costs thus increase. In response to the
policy and legal risks as well as the reputation risks, the
Group regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies and regulations relevant to climate and is prepared
to alert the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational risks due
to delayed response. Besides, we have set targets to
reduce our energy consumption and emissions during
2027.



HE

BiERETHER
BER/RARREREE  WMB MMM
wmit - BEMMNEARE - BIRAEE
BHeXIEIRE THEREEETE
BEeETELERIENREEHAEEDN
SRER

Bl. il RMBEREBEREA R IR
HBY - FEHEHRE - STIL R
HBURRBHERBAOBR

1.
BPRBALERFMEATER
IR BT 85 B K 48 A
TEE - BRMIEFHRIIEEEE
FNAEF  AERARREE
HHISERSE N - HRR2EE
BATTEMRIERLIE - §F - #8
REMIEZEREENEAL
YERHEIR L5 mANE S| © IR
2REBEESNKEFER - 1B
A4 K A2 R o

2. FEE
BRMERFMERERBEETERAE
BEE B

a ANERBIANER
)R E T B HBR
1B B R B ETTRER
T+ B R B R R
;

b. ANBIREL T AR
BE AT FREAIIX M

c. EBXEXRILERELOR
BETHEEREBEE D
BARKKBAE  BF
BHFREREBRTAES
R IHEES QR B

—ECNEEHS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRE -#HERESHRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

As employees are important assets of the Company, we care
about their well-being, respect their personality traits, make sure
that all employees are subject to legislative protection and have
equal opportunity in their career path. We also strive to increase
their sense of belonging to the Group.

B1. Policies on compensation, dismissal, recruitment,
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare
1. Compensation

We offer competitive pay and benefits to our
employees according to their job requirements and
individual performance. We review overall salary and
benefits annually to ensure the Company’s
competitiveness in local markets, and also make
reference to the relevant industries and similar
organisations. Each year, KPIs will provide direction
and guidance to the employees’ individual work plan.
We also assess the achievements and contributions of
the employees to appraise and reward them.

2. Dismissal

We ensure that all employees are subject to
applicable employment laws, including:

a. Whenever an employee resigns or is being laid
off, the human resources department (“HR”)
should interview him or her before the
termination to find out the reason for the
termination;

b. HR is required to issue employment verification
document to the dismissed employee;

c.  When the employer terminates an employee’s
employment contract, the dismissed employee
shall be given due notice or wages in lieu of
notice, and his or her annual leave and maternity
leave should not be counted towards the notice
period;
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SOCIAL (continued)

dismissal, recruitment,

working hours, rest periods, equal

benefits and welfare (Continued)
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Dismissal (Continued)

d.  An employee cannot be dismissed when she has
been confirmed pregnant or given notice of
pregnancy;

e. An employee cannot be dismissed when he or
she takes a paid sick leave;

f. An employee cannot be dismissed due to his or
her giving evidence or information in any legal
proceeding relating to the enforcement of labour
laws, any industrial accident or any breach of
work safety regulations;

g. An employee cannot be dismissed due to his or
her membership in labour union or participation
in labour union activities; and

h.  An employee cannot be dismissed if he or she is
injured on duty, and a compensation agreement
has not yet been reached or the relevant
evaluation certificate has not yet been issued.

Recruitment and promotion

In the Group, recruitment and promotion should be
fair and open for all employees, and cannot be
affected by age, gender, physical or mental health
status, marital status, family status, race, colour,
nationality, religion, political affiliation,
orientation and other factors, and the employees will
be employed, recognised and rewarded for their
contribution, work performance and skills, while the
Company will do its best to provide them with a good
working environment and development opportunity.

sexual



HE
B1.

(&)

HGNRBRERBEREHN LI
HRBY - FEHRE STt R
15 LA & fth 17538 R AR FIBOBUR ()

4. TIERFHREH

RERIERERES  FAH
ERZBH -

AT REEAZEX 2K

a. BREESEAKEMX:

b. JAERA:

c. REREARTENBEHFR:

d. JmR:
e. R
f. 2K K

g FRER-

5 FEHE BTl REHRLUR
R 58 REF
FEHREE - 5 BT A F
B - @A R R IEROFFIRER
FEOKS - HLEREL FRF
e~ 1R S EREIBHMN
S IR RER L - &
e EE - B R1E - BUak
BENERAERAEXMTE -

BT AR A
FAARERFBERTEE
BFPREARANESHAR
ERARREEOEMERER
SRR o

—ECNEEHS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RIE - HEREQRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Policies on compensation, dismissal, recruitment,
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare (Continued)
4. Working hours and rest-periods
The employees shall enjoy proper rest periods under
the applicable laws and regulations.

Employees are entitled to enjoy the following rest
periods:

a. Each employee can take two days off every 7
days;

b.  Statutory holidays;

c. Paid annual leave prescribed by their employment
contracts;

d. Sick leave;

e. Marriage leave;

f, Maternity leave; and
g. Paternity leave.

5. Equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare
Equal opportunity must be provided for recruitment,
training, promotion, transfer, remuneration, benefits
and termination of contract. Such opportunities shall
not be affected by factors such as age, gender,
physical or mental health status, marital status, family
status, race, colour, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
During the Year, the Group has complied with the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC (FF#E A R H A1 E 4
A RJE) and other relevant laws and regulations
relating to employment in all material respects.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B2. Policies on safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards
We are committed to protecting the health and safety of
the employees and the community, and we require all
employees to comply with all relevant occupational health
and safety regulations, and do our utmost to provide them
with a safe and healthy working environment. As a result,

we have implemented the following measures:

B2 B THER
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Develop internal guidelines to ensure that offices and

factories are in line with or better than the
requirements of relevant laws;
Establish safety procedures for the recognised

dangerous work;

Provide necessary protective equipment and medical
insurance to the employees;

Ensure that the offices and working environment are
healthy and safe by regularly checking the

machineries and equipment;

Establish emergency measures such as fire or
explosion emergency plans;

Regularly arrange rescue, fire and evacuation drills;

Establish mechanism to record industrial injuries and

analyse their causes;

Provide and maintain an environmental-friendly, healthy
and safe working condition;



#HE @
B2. 22 TEFRIERIREEEHGEEM

B3.

EEBBUR (40)
9. PFRIEFELEBEME  BRIEEZE
1HE TR SR

10. TEIREB)E B NIRBRE  EF
RZZ2EH  WXRITRARR
R RBREEL2ZER

1. AHARERUMENI(EE
Mo EYREE R

12, REEEETERE -

BT A EAN

FR - AKRERABEASTHCET
hE ARAMBEL S RRENE BIE
BfEmEL 2N EMAARER -

278 8 R 1T TR E ) 205 R A e
BB R

AT BEREZRPANERRBEHER
M —IR o WA EE DB B /) MBI
BEEN AR R E M EBIE R @i
REE  RIFNTIEERFEITAE
BEYARNEEREFEL LS B
A fTEE e  EREC
MEEBR - ZMIARERHEBERN
Fol - HIERRRER B TR B - ARRIR
BEEBRBREE  ARAAREEE
BEFNEBARBZERIFNEERX
ft - REBEFETERHE - LR
AHAERSE TRESENE - B
RREENRERHETIERREER
e ANERFBEEAREAKHE
ANEBREEHENEIETEBN
BREYSEE NN

—ECNEEHS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRE -#HERESHRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

Policies on safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards (Continued)

9.  Drinking is not allowed during the working hours unless
with prior approval;

10. Actively promote environmental protection, health and
safety awareness of the employees, and support
development of environmental protection, health and
safety in the industry;

11. Provide all employees with job information, guidance,
training and supervision as required; and

12. Provide a smoke-free working environment.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group has complied with the Social
Insurance Law of the PRC (i A RAMEM &R E)
and other relevant laws and regulations relating to health
and safety of employees in all material respects.

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work

Talent development is an important part of our human
resource strategy. We understand that the employees’
knowledge and skills are essential to the Company’s
operation and business growth. Good development plan
lays a good foundation for the employees to face business
challenge in the future, and it also helps them to grasp
promotion opportunities and fulfill their career aspirations.
We provide the employees with effective training and
develop a clear promotion ladder, ensuring that the
employees have the required skills; we also nurture
outstanding successors for the Group and foster learning
atmosphere. The Group conducts performance evaluation
annually, and provide the staff with appropriate training,
and offer job, development and promotion opportunities for
outstanding employees based on the assessment result.
Under the Group’s human resource management system
requirements, the HR manager is responsible for carrying
out related assessment and training.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B4. Policies on preventing child and forced labour
The Group firmly adopts a zero-tolerance policy on child
and forced labour, and strictly forbids such conduct which
is prohibited by international standards and relevant local
regulations of the places in which we operate. In all part of
our business operation (including our subcontractors or
suppliers), child and forced labour is not allowed and we
treat child and forced labour as a serious crime. Our
policies on preventing child and forced labour are as

FAET RoaH| % THBUR follows:
1. EBETIEAMICARLETERM 1. Child labour refers to employment of people under 16
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years of age, and if any country or region in which the
Company or its subsidiary operates has a more
stringent definition of child labour, such definition shall
prevail;

Forced labour refers to people providing labour or
service against their will, as a punishment or under
threat;

Hired employees must be at least 16 years of age. The
Group shall never recruit child labour and forced
labour, and if it knows that any of its suppliers or
subcontractors employ any child and forced labour,
the Group will not conduct business with them
anymore;

Employees under 18 may not engage in any potentially
hazardous work and are prohibited from working at
night lest it might affect their education;

Before hiring any job applicant, HR should take
effective procedures to verify his or her age. HR
should check documents that can prove the age of
the applicant, including government-issued photo
identification and birth certificate, driver’'s license,
household register, academic certificates or any other
credentials that can prove the date of birth. HR must
ensure that the applicant’s appearance is consistent
with the photograph on the identification card;
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SOCIAL (continued)
B4. Policies on preventing child and forced labour
(Continued)

6.

HR, especially those responsible for recruitment, should
take part in prevention training about child and forced
labour;

If employment of child labour under the legal minimum
age is found in the Group, we will see to the best
interests of the child, and take the following measures
in accordance with the relevant legislations:

a. Take the child away from the workplace
immediately, and ensure the safety of the child;

b. Immediately notify the person in charge of HR to
verify all relevant information, confirm whether the
child is under 16 years of age, sever labour
relations with the child, notify the local social
welfare institution, and take remedial measures to
protect the child’s best interest;

c. Send the child to a special occupational health
inspection institution to do medical check-up to
confirm the child’s physical and mental health,
and conduct investigation to fully understand the
child’s situation;

d.  Provide the child with re-employment when he or
she reaches legal minimum age for employment;
and

e. Immediately find out the problems in the hiring
process of the operating location and take
improvement measures within 90 working days.
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(Continued)
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8. If forced labour is found in the Group, we will take the
following measures in accordance with the relevant
legislations:

a. Take the labour away from the workplace
immediately and ensure the safety of the labour;
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A ZEMEMREBER verify all relevant information and confirm whether
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process of the operating location and take
improvement measures within 90 working days.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group has complied with the Labour
Law of the PRC (F%E AR KEFMEI4 E))%) and the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC (FF#E AR EFMBE LB A [EE) and
other relevant laws and regulations relating to employment
in all material respects.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

B5. Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain
We attach importance to developing and maintaining long-
term relationships with our suppliers, and look forward to
forming long-term partnerships with them. We will take a
fair and open principle on procurement of materials and
services. We will only cooperate with the suppliers that
share common moral values and standards with us. The
Group also supports and encourages the suppliers to
promote efficient use of resources and environmental
protection and fulfill corporate social responsibility:

1. We advocate the principle of fair and open competition,
and develop and maintain long-term relationships with
the suppliers and contractors based on mutual trust;

2. We have strict ethical standards in the procurement of
materials and services to ensure the quality of the
finished products and maintain the continued
confidence of the customers, suppliers and general
public;

3.  We review our suppliers and assess them based on
price, quality, suitability and demand, and only those
rated as qualified can be our approved suppliers. We
only purchase from the approved suppliers;

4. We conduct follow-up assessment on the suppliers
regularly and, if necessary, audit them through a third
party organisation. When a supplier is found to be
inconsistent with the Company’s policy or contractual
requirements, the Company will cease future
cooperation until the situation has been improved;

5. In an unprejudiced way, we choose appropriate,
capable and responsible suppliers;

6. We support and encourage the suppliers to improve
the environmental-friendliness of their products and
services, and their employees’ benefits and
protection;

7. The suppliers must comply with the relevant laws,
regulations and contractual obligations; and

8. We adopt effective monitoring and management
systems to detect and prevent bribery, fraud or other
misconducts in procurement and bidding processes.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B6. Policies on health and safety, advertising, labelling and
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privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress

Health and safety of products and services

We are committed to providing the customers with high-
quality products and services, settling customer complaints
effectively, continuously improving service level and
ensuring customer satisfaction. Accordingly, the following
measures are taken:

1. Make sure that the products and services comply with
related laws and standards;

2. Provide the customers with accurate product
information and high-quality products, and develop
return policy and after-sale services for related
products;

3. Take the initiative to explain the problem and find a
mutually satisfactory solution for the customers if there
is a problem with a product; and

4. Keep proper records after handling a customer’s
complaint, arrange the relevant department to review
the complaint and develop measures to prevent the
recurrence of similar complaints so that the Group’s
service quality keeps improving.

Advertising, labelling and protection of customer
information

Customer information will only be used for specific
business purpose and not for other unrelated purposes. All
employees should handle and use customer information
with extreme caution, protect customer information, and
comply with the requirements under relevant laws and
regulations.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group has complied with the
Production Safety Law of the PRC (¥ AR AMBEZ 24
EEJK) and other relevant laws and regulations relating to
health and safety of products and services, advertising,
labelling and privacy in all material respects.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B7. Policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and

money laundering

Ethics and integrity are the cornerstones of the Company’s
success. We adopt a zero tolerance approach to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. In their daily work,
the Directors, management and staff must comply with all
related national and local government laws and regulations
on prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. All employees are not only responsible for
understanding and complying with the above regulations on
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, but also have an obligation to report violation to
the appropriate person. Any person who contravenes the
regulations will be subject to disciplinary sanction. We will
make every effort to protect the informer and the received
information. However, if an informer’s intention is to harm
others, they may be subject to disciplinary punishment.

1. Soliciting or accepting benefits

Any employee (including the Directors, management
and all full-time, part-time, hourly-paid and temporary
workers) of the Group cannot, directly, indirectly or in
any manner, solicit or accept any form of benefits
from a third party, including, but not limited to,
money, gift, excessive entertainment and hospitality,
subsidized travel and accommodation, loan,
guarantee, preferential credit terms, fee, reward,
position, employment, contract, service, privilege and
exemption of all or part of the responsibilities that
ought to be fulfilled, or do anything that might be
seen as bribery. The employees should reject any
interests and benefits relating directly or indirectly to
the Group’s business if such benefits would hamper
their objectivity, harm or damage the interests of the
Group, or cause bias or misconduct.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B7. Policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering (Continued)

Soliciting or accepting benefits (Continued)

In social events such as festivals, activities,
entertainments and other daily routine, refusing to
accept a modest gift may be considered impolite or
lacking social graces. With that in mind, the
employees may consider accepting benefits offered on
a voluntary basis under the following principles:

a. Receiving such benefits will not affect his or her
performance and decision;

b. He or she will not feel the need to reciprocate;
and

c. He or she can openly discuss the benefits.

If the Group finds out any employee’s inappropriate
behaviour of soliciting or accepting benefits, it will call
the police and terminate the employment relation with
such employee.

Providing benefits

In any case, any employee shall not provide bribe or
improper benefits to any person or organisation in
order to seek personal gain or benefit the Group. If
the Group finds out any employee using bribery, it will
call the police and terminate the employment relation
with such employee.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B7. Policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering (Continued)

3.

Extortion

Making any unwarranted demand by threat in order to
seek benefits for oneself or for another person or with
intent to cause loss to another person shall be
considered as extortion. All employees shall not
participate in, assist in or cover up any kind of
extortion. If the Group finds out any employee
committing extortion, it will call the police and
terminate the employment relation with such
employee.

Fraud

Using any means of deception in order to seek
benefits for oneself or for another person or with
intent to cause loss to another person shall be
considered fraud. Common employee fraud includes
embezzlement, wage fraud and stealing company
assets. All employees shall not participate in, assist in
or cover up any fraud. If the Group finds out any
employee committing fraud, it will call the police and
terminate the employment
employee.

relation with such

Money Laundering

Money laundering refers to an individual or institution
attempting to conceal the source of illicit money, or
makes such money looks legitimate in any way. The
Group will not tolerate any employee’s participation in,
aiding and abetting any form of money laundering.

7
7, Iy

w

87



88

7
%,
%,

W

BHEBRNENBEBROBERLF
WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

RIE - HEREQSRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ZEEMN e
B7. BALLBEEE BHFE MERKBEED
BUR (&)
5 EE#EE) 5,

RRREY RN RERE/ N -
REETARSNMEERT AR
MR RRAE/ A - ROER
ERE AT RBE BRERAS
EERSBEIE AL LR
MAREITA  HBRARES
Al - EC A EEE MBI DA S
ARXZHETNRE - UKREE
ROBHRBEER  EARNBEREE
F o

RERERFEREENERL S
0~ RER B8 - WE MIRE
HEARERZ S MK EE -

a. #AEFE0
HEFEPEEBRES X
BABEREEFPRKLA
WY mENREEER
BBEERTFPNRR 2
HEBEFERER M
I EP BRI E —RE o B
DHREEFE TERE
FRERFBE  REIEL
BEPRMER - HRE
FIE - M B B4R B AT P
HEITIEE

b.  REXZAH
EBABNEGHABRE
RENEFPENHER &
REEEPENERNE
FA R RBR S B HE
FEh#ENTHEBRINE
BLBEMER  TFEER
FERX SR BREER
BERFGNEERE  XHER
EREANERMAEER
SKAARBRE 5 FHBHIX
HFMEMER  BERTE
RBEPAE -

OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)
B7. Policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering (Continued)

Money Laundering (Continued)

The Company has established an anti-money
laundering team. The general manager is the team
leader and responsible for organising the anti-money
laundering team. The team’s main responsibilities
include organising and implementing anti-money
laundering tasks, investigating reported money
laundering, arranging anti-money laundering training,
working with regulatory and judiciary authorities to
investigate suspicious transactions of funds, as well as
paying attention to requirements of and updates on
anti-money laundering laws and regulations.

Anti-money laundering procedures include identifying
customers, keeping transaction records, reporting and
following-up investigation of suspicious transactions,
and anti-money laundering training.

a. Identitying customers

In dealing with new customers, salespeople must
establish a high degree of anti-money laundering
awareness, comprehensively grasp the
customers’ information through communication
with prospective customers, thereby running the
first check on the customers. After successfully
securing the client, regular contact is required to
grasp the customers’ updates. If an abnormal
situation occurs, the salesperson needs to timely
communicate with the relevant departments.

b.  Keeping transaction records

Salespeople and accounting personnel should
keep customer identification information, including
register customer identification and related
information, keep all sorts of records and
information reflecting the payment agency’s
customer identification process, and keep
transaction records such as each transaction’s
information, business voucher, ledger and
necessary documents and other relevant
information to reflect the details of each
transaction to ensure that each transaction is
traceable.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B7. Policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering (Continued)

5.  Money Laundering (Continued)

C.

Reporting and following-up
suspicious transaction

investigation of

If any salespeople and accounting staff find out
a suspicious transaction, they need to report
such transaction immediately to the corporate
headquarters’ anti-money laundering team. The
team analyses and investigates all reported
suspicious transactions. If there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the transaction or the
has ties with money laundering,
terrorism and other criminal activities,
authorities including the Joint Financial
Intelligence Unit (JFIU) of the HKSAR
Government will be notified.

customer
relevant

Anti-money laundering training

All employees should attend anti-money
laundering training at least once a year. The
training includes learning the harmful effects of
money laundering, anti-money laundering
regulations, the role of the employees in anti-
money laundering, how to identify suspicious
transactions, ways to report suspicious
transactions, and the consequences if one fails
to comply with anti-money laundering
regulations.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
During the Year, the Group has complied with
the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC (#
#= N RHEAMBE & %E5%), the Criminal Law of the
PRC (F#E ARHEMEME), the Law of the PRC
Against Unfair Competition (% AR LB =T
FE#F)A) and other laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
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needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests

Community engagement is important to the Group’s long-
term development. We are committed to promoting the
development and construction of the community in which
we operate. We benefit the community through a variety of
actions, such as investment and contributing money, time,
products, services, influence, management knowledge and
other resources.

We participate in community building through three main
ways as follows:

1. Organise, facilitate and support the staff to take part
in volunteer services, such as regularly visiting people
who need help, arranging outdoor activities for
underprivileged groups and holding Blood Donation
Day.

2. By means of donation, we donate money, goods or
services to directly support or fund the projects of
various social service agencies. In addition to our own
donation, we also appeal to the Company’s
stakeholders (including the employees and customers)
for donations.

3.  We endeavour to provide employment opportunities to
the underprivileged and create a win-win situation,
such as hiring disabled people who have completed
retraining courses, giving priority to purchasing from
the suppliers who hire disabled people, or
participating in a variety of mentorship programs.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)

The Group maintains an effective environmental management
system which was awarded an 1SO14001:2004 certificate by
Beijing ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification Center on 14 July 2010.
Such system underwent another audit in accordance with the
requirements under 1ISO14001:2015 and passed the examination
and evaluation of ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification Center
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. in 2022. The Group was awarded a
Certificate of Environmental Management System Certification*
(CGRIBEEBRREESE)) (Certificate No.: 02022E0883R4M) by
Beijing ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification Center on 8 July 2022
confirming that the environmental management system of both
the Group’s businesses of industrial automatic integrated
equipment (integrated equipment for steel wire products) design
and manufacturing and general machinery components and parts
processing complies with the Environmental Management
Systems — Requirements with Guidance for Use* ((3R3RE I8
RERNFAEM)) (GB/T24001-2016/1ISO14001:2015).

In October 2019, the Group obtained the certification for
ISO45001 occupational health and safety management system
for the first time from Beijing ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification
Center. The standard sets higher requirements for quality control
and operation model of an enterprise by comprehensively
regulating and improving its occupational safety and hygiene
management with the goal of delivering comprehensive
economic benefits. In 2022, the Group underwent another audit
in accordance with the requirements under 1SO45001:2018
occupational healthy & safety management system and passed
the examination and evaluation of ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification
Center (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. The Group was awarded a
Certificate of Occupational Health & Safety Management System
Certification” ((BtERRELZ 2 ERERREEE)) (Certificate No.:
02022S0839R1M) by Beijing ZhongDaHuaYuan Certification
Center on 8 July 2022.

The Group strictly controls the emissions of waste and
greenhouse gas from its equipment production processes. It also
ensures that all emissions conform to the environmental quality
standards stipulated by the local governments of the regions in
which the Group operates. Relevant laws, regulations and rules
include but are not limited to the Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC (FEIRZER#E), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution (FF Bl K&)5 %
[7587%), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution (4 BI7K)52F58)%), the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the laws of Hong Kong) and Product
Eco-responsibility Ordinance (Cap. 603 of the laws of Hong
Kong).
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Air Emissions

Air pollutants also come from vehicles and generally include
nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,) and respirable
suspended particles (RSP) (also known as particulate matter
(PM)). Relevant data for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024 were as follows:

2023F12H31H
31 December 2023

2024%E12H31H
31 December 2024

AEILINO,)
Nitrogen oxides (NO,)

mE L (S0,)

Sulphur oxides (SO,)

F4 ¥ BRI (RSP)

Respirable suspended particles (RSP)
ERTARYEE

Air pollutants in total

i = AR HE
BEREBRESEBEARES - Hlm

TR A A M BB - )R = R B8 HE AR
ERE ALk E MR ERE (fln

Ke(CH,) ~ B EEEAN,O)) R = R EBHE N
EMReRERNE2RAz— M-4
IR EBAREDERNEIERER

B AKERNERBRBTRDMER
REERMNERNME AT REREHN
BER ©

54,944.19 (%)
54,944.19 (grammes)

58,917.06 (%)
58,917.06 (grammes)

982.94 (72) 1,054.01 (52)
982.94 (grammes) 1,054.01 (grammes)
4,045.42 (5%) 4,337.94(5%)

4,045.42 (grammes)
59,972.55(52)
59,972.55 (grammes)

4,337.94 (grammes)
64,309.01 (52)
64,309.01 (grammes)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas comes from all sorts of daily activities, such as
the use of electricity, water and gas as well as driving. Total
greenhouse gas emissions include carbon dioxide and other
greenhouse gases, such as methane (CH,) and nitrous oxide
(N,O). The increase in greenhouse gas emission is one of the
major causes of global warming. In particular, carbon dioxide is
the principal greenhouse gas emitted from human activities. The
Group strives to reduce burning and improve energy and
resource efficiency in its daily operation so as to manage its
greenhouse gas emissions.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 were as follows:

2023F12H31H 2024%E12H31H
31 December 2023 31 December 2024

P R SR I WA A B B R R 181,066.29 (F52) 194,167.64 (F50)

Direct emissions from combustion of fuels in motor 181,065.29 (kilogrammes) 194,157.64 (kilogrammes)
vehicles

KEBENRRIEES AT B EETEN 927,710.28 (F3%) 1,056,957.30 (F52)

Indirect emissions from electricity purchased from 927,710.28 (kilogrammes) 1,056,957.30

power companies

(kilogrammes)

HEBFAMESNHEEHEN 4,174.50(F7=) 5,978.09 (F )

Indirect emissions due to disposal of paper waste 4,174.50 (kilogrammes)  5,978.09 (kilogrammes)

1 BT KR IR A B BRI V5 /K BT 51 B R B HE AR 13,960.10(F5=) 16,835.70 (F52)

Indirect emissions due to sewage processing by 13,960.10 (kilogrammes) 16,835.70 (kilogrammes)
sewage processing companies

BERBEYNE 1,126,910.17 (1) 1,273,928.73 (1)

Greenhouse gas emissions in total

SKHERER
AEBLEESHERERKR  A5EE
EEEEFK £ESKEBREESER
BRAEEGEIKERERARETHE—
B BN AEEEAMNEESKEF
HES T HBAR B R AR HEITRB -
HE2024F12A31H I FE » £7E 5K
mEERE tE2EFEE FLFEEEE
BRRTERRER -

1,126,910.17 (tonnes) 1,273,928.73 (tonnes)

Effluents Management

The production workshops of the Group do not require water
supply. The Group only produces domestic sewage that is
transmitted to EHHILKEIEBR AT for unified treatment
through sewage pipelines. During the period, the domestic

R 2 7] every year. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
potential of hydrogen (pH), chemical oxygen demand (COD) and
biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) of the domestic sewage were
all within required limits.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

In addition to the emissions of air pollutants and greenhouse
gas, the Group also produces hazardous waste from using paint
in its spraying and painting processes. The intensity of
hazardous waste produced for the year ended 31 December
2024 was 0.0210 (2023: 0.0230).

Property Services Co., Ltd.*) to transport and handle its
domestic waste. As at 31 December 2024, the impact on the
environment was negligible with 1,496 (2023: 1,576) bins of
waste in total being transported and handled and the intensity of
non-hazardous waste produced for the year ended 31
December 2024 being 4.49 (2023: 4.73).

The Group strives to adopt and implement the policies relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste as
set out in this ESG Report in the annual report in order to
mitigate such pollution.

The information on hazardous and non-hazardous waste for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 were as follows:

2023%E12H31H
31 December 2023

2024%12H31H
31 December 2024

BEEEYD
Hazardous waste
mEEEY
Non-hazardous waste

B REREERFEKEE
AEBHEHEEREEEIZEREBEN
BN B E2024F12A31B It EERE
4 ) RE R 7 2 % 2 73335,542.00 (2023
F:204,511.20) - ML RBRFE=EA A
1,677.71F LB (LA F & B 1) (20234
1,742.56 F BB (LAF BENML)) °

AEBREKBEFTEREETFE K H
E2024F12H3 B IEFEMEENFEK
ZE /54,810.20 (20234 : 3,988.60) -
mAEKBEE H24,051.00(20234F :
19,943.00) °

59.82 () 65.71 (H8)
59.82 (tonnes) 65.71 (tonnes)
23.64 (I8) 22.44 ()

23.64 (tonnes) 22.44 (tonnes)

Indirect Energy and Water Consumption in Total

The daily indirect energy consumption of the Group mainly
comes from purchased electricity. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the intensity of energy consumption was
335,542.00 (2023: 294,511.20) and energy consumption in total
was 1,677.71 kWh in 000’s (2023: 1,742.56 kWh in 000’s).

The total water consumption of the Group mainly consists of
domestic sewage. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
intensity of water consumption was 4,810.20 (2023: 3,988.60)
and the water consumption in total was 24,051.00 (2023:
19,943.00).
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)

Indirect Energy and Water Consumption in Total (Continued)
The Group enjoys stable water supply as it purchases water
from EEIFTHEKKER AT (Wuxi Waterworks Co., Ltd."), a
sizeable state-owned enterprise and hence has no difficulty in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

The Group strives to adopt and implement the policies relating
to the efficient use of resources as set out in this ESG Report in
the annual report in order to attain the goal of reducing energy
and water consumption. They contributed to a reduction in
energy and water consumption when compared to the last
reporting period.

Packaging Material Used for Finished Products

The Group properly packs its products according to the
requirements of the customers before delivery so as to prevent
damage during transportation. For the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024, the types and total amount of
packaging material used were as follows:

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

2024%12H31H
31 December 2024

AR

Wood

BeiR(5)
Stretch film (wrap)
B

Bubble film

PEfE

PE film

HEC024F12A31HILFEMFERNE
MR E 50.011 (20234 : 0.015) °

AEBAEXBGEHHRRLAAERL
BEELEATE AKESHEERIK
EREINNAFRRR L8 RERARSE
THEBBEARBEIRERRAERENX
BEAFENHER  ABERERRERARE
TREV IR

25 (Wg) 26.86 (1)

25 (tonnes) 26.86 (tonnes)
2.67 (Mg) 1.68 (1)
2.67 (tonnes) 1.68 (tonnes)
0.26 (M) 0.17 (W8)
0.26 (tonne) 0.17 (tonnes)
10.54 () 6.94 (1)

10.54 (tonnes) 6.94 (tonnes

=

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the intensity of
packaging material used was 0.011 (2023: 0.015).

The daily operation of the Group has no material impact on the
environment and natural resources. The Group will continue to
adopt and implement the policies relating to minimising its
significant impact on the environment and natural resources as
set out in this ESG Report in the annual report in order to
safeguard the environment and natural resources.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)
Health and Safety

The Group provides compensation to employees suffering from
work-related injuries or occupational illnesses in accordance with
the laws, rules and regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC in
relation to the compensation for employment and occupational
illness, including the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap.
282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Standard of Compensation
for Work-Related Injuries and the Regulation on Work-Related
Injury Insurance. The Group may also consider providing
compensation beyond statutory requirements to employees who
are injured, died or suffer from occupational illness at work. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group maintained good
production safety with no major work-related injury, accident or
death. There is no lost day due to work injury.

The Group maintains all 5 major social security schemes, namely
retirement, medical, work-related injury, maternity and
unemployment insurance, as well as housing provident fund for
all of its employees with 100% participation rate in strict
compliance with national laws and regulations. It also makes full
and punctual payments to these social security schemes and
provident fund. The Group implements standard working hours
of 40 hours per week in strict compliance with the working-hour
and rest-time requirements under the Labour Law of the PRC
(hEE AR AEMBE L 8)K). Holidays are provided during national
holidays according to statutory requirements while substitute
holidays or overtime payments are granted in accordance with
the regulations if an employee is required to work on statutory
holidays. Employees’ legal right to paid leave is fully protected in
strict compliance with the Calculation Method of Paid Annual
Leave of Staff ((BIL&FHFMRBIEFEHE)). The Group
offers entrance, on-the-job and exit occupational health checks
to employees who are exposed to occupational health hazards
in accordance with the Technical Specifications for Occupational
Health Surveillance ({5312 5 B & Bl 77 €6 ) )(GBZ188-2014),
and removes employees who are found in the checks to have
occupational illnesses from their original positions.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)

Total employees

The Group had a total of 197 full-time employees as at 31
December 2024, and all employees were located in China.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group adjusted
the number of employees in accordance with its business
needs.

Set forth below are the Group’s employee turnover rates by
gender, age group and geographical region:

8= 8FE

20245 12A31HILEE 2023FE12H31HILEE
g For the year ended For the year ended
Category 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
g
By gender
S 20.4% 15%
Male 20.4% 15%
pegliid 0.6% 5%
Female 0.6% 5%
RERHER
By age group
30K IA T 7% 3%
30 or below 7% 3%
31E4073% 8% 9%
31-40 8% 9%
41 E5073% 4% 4%
41-50 4% 4%
S1maA £ 2% 4%
51 or above 2% 4%
BMERESE
By geographical region
iy 100% 100%
China 100% 100%
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)

Total employees (Continued)

Set forth below is an analysis of the Group’s employees as at

31 December 2024 by gender and age group:

R EEAH Bt
Category Number of employees Percentage
74k 35]]

By gender

S 137 76%
Male 137 76%
g 44 24%
Female 44 24%
RERHER

By age group

30BRE A T 15 8%
30 or below 15 8%
31 % 405% 77 43%
31-40 77 43%
41 E505% 43 24%
41-50 43 24%
515R3 A = 46 25%
51 or above 46 25%
R R Development and training

AEBTHAEEREZEMNEIIRER
e -\ DRBRERENFERLH  %F
Bl F R EBrIRE

a. A — SEEEABRE XA
BAKENBER X AEHIE
Bz MERNMHE

b. BAIFI — HABKEBENESR
AT

c. HERIFI — HREEATAEEN
Em REHERLEHABNHEER
LhEPRBGERE  UHEREENE
EREHIABRITEEMNEETHIRE
o

The Group provides comprehensive training and development
opportunities to its employees on a regular basis. The trainings
are arranged according to the needs of employees, which were
identified annually by individual departments:

a. Orientation training — To familiarise employees with the
Group’s objectives, culture, rules and regulations, safety
and product-related knowledge on the first day of work;

b. Pre-job training — To familiarise new employees or
transferred employees with their new duties;

c. On-the-job training — To ensure that the employees are
familiar with the Group’s products, to sharpen the sales
techniqgue and customer service standard of sales and
marketing personnel and to ensure the production and
quality control personnel perform proper quality control
procedures.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)

Development and training (Continued)

AT EHINAEE R TR R EEERIE 5 Set forth below are the number and percentage of training hours

BEEKIEIRHEEA DL

completed by the Group’s employees by gender and employee

category:
HE2024F12A31HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

ZRESER
gl 5>y 3&sll
BEE S
Bt g % of training
¥ 31l B 2% 3% 311 B 250 48 33 21| B B hours by
EEEHH Male Female Total employee
Employee category training hours training hours training hours category
BHREEAB 96 42 138 7%
Senior management 96 42 138 7%
RREEAB 260 100 360 19%
Middle management 260 100 360 19%
Hitvfg 8 1,082 332 1,414 74%
Other employees 1,082 332 1,414 74%
48z 1,438 474 1,912 100%
Total 1,438 474 1,912 100%

BRI DB E D 75% 25% 100%

% of training hours by gender 75% 25% 100%

HF2023F12A31HILLFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

RESHE
gl 5>y 3&sll
BEE S
Bt kg % of training
3 2l B 2 3 2l B 483 3)I| B B hours by
EEER Male Female Total employee
Employee category training hours training hours training hours category
BREEAB 96 36 132 7%
Senior management 96 36 132 7%
RREEBAB 262 96 358 19%
Middle management 262 96 358 19%
Hitvfg & 1,089 326 1,392 74%
Other employees 1,089 326 1,392 74%
FER 1,447 458 1,882 100%
Total 1,447 458 1,882 100%

RUERIE S FIIFEE DT 77% 23% 100%

% of training hours by gender 77% 23% 100%
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)

Supply chain management

The Group purchases raw materials and equipment based on its
own needs, the specifications, quality and safety performance of
equipment, and the reputation, after-sales service and delivery
time of the supplier. The Group compares different suppliers to
select qualified suppliers (based on their product specifications,
product compliances, quality
management, friendliness and also corporate
social responsibility performances) before the Group enters into
contract with the qualified suppliers.

production management,
environmental

When selecting equipment, the Group also considers whether
the equipment is energy efficient and environmentally friendly.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, all of the Group’s
305 suppliers were situated in the PRC.

The Group expects its suppliers to uphold the ESG principles
that the Group has adopted in the management of its business
operations. In order to ensure that the components and raw
materials meet the requisite safety and quality standards, the
Group adopts stringent criteria in supplier selection (including but
not limited to whether they provide high quality raw materials,
whether they maintain a high standard on environmental
protection and comply with relevant laws on environmental
issues, whether their prices are comparable to market rate, and
the location of their factories) and continuously monitors existing
suppliers on an annual basis based on criteria such as quality,
defect rate, delivery punctuality rate and responsiveness.

Whether a supplier will continue to be included in the Group’s
list of approved suppliers depends on the score it achieved in
the annual The awareness of environmental
protection is one of the key criteria for the Group to evaluate the
suppliers.

evaluation.



FARENIEER @
Ennﬁéﬁ&@l&
ENAEENHENNEHREE -
Z’»‘%.#%ET‘EQE?#EDDE}]
REVBZAER AEEREELEEBRIEE
TEBARNEEEGER  WEERRMER
WEERZE ANEENEEEH T
HETRSE - UEE 2R HERN AR
M WHELDRRHE - MBZEFER -8

EemE -

AEEBRBELEFARETHIET &
AARARTPER  AEEKERLEA

BRRERSETEELHEAR  ME
AEEHENRTERE NG NEE
5 2 R % B A B LR A o

HZE2024F12A31BILFE - AEBW
EAMERLOK BREEREGEERER
NZ2RERER B ERREEF
M BRI o

AHERRENRE
AEBERTERAREES S MEEME
MZEEE  ABMIEETR - REBIK
FEMEBEARMERARER LT R
Ko Ho At FOGBEEHE ©

TENFEERS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRE -#HERESHRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)
Product assurance and recall

Product quality is crucial to the Group’s continued success. The
Group places strong emphasis on achieving a consistently high
quality for its products. To achieve such purpose, stringent
quality control measures were implemented throughout the
production process to ensure the quality and safety of our
products. The Group’s quality control department performs
regular inspections to evaluate the effectiveness of the quality
control measures and further enhance these measures when
necessary. For any of the Group’s equipment which is found to
fail to meet customer requirements during installation, fine-
tuning, testing or operation, the Group will arrange staff to
perform on-site repair and assist fine-tuning and testing as soon
as possible. For any spare parts sold by the Group which fail to
meet quality standards, the Group will arrange recall of the
relevant batch as soon as possible.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
experience any product recall, material non-compliance with laws
and regulations in relation to product health and safety or
receive any material complaints from its customers.

Intellectual Property Rights and Information Security

The Group registered various trademarks for the Group itself and
its products in the PRC to foster its corporate image. The Group
relies on the relevant laws and regulations to protect its brand
names, trademarks and other intellectual property rights.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Continued)
Intellectual Property Rights and

(Continued)

Information Security

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not
aware of any material infringement by the Group of any
intellectual property rights owned by any third parties. Further,
there were no pending or threatened material claims made
against the Group with respect to the infringement of intellectual
property rights owned by the Group.

Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy, all employees
shall abide by the laws and regulations of the PRC and shall not
engage in any illegal activities. Employees shall uphold the code
of ethics, advocate fair competition and act against bribery. Any
bribery, fraud, money laundering and embezzlement are
prohibited.

Employees must not accept or request any improper benefits
including banquets, gifts, securities, valuables and high-
expenditure entertainment activities from business partners,
suppliers and merchants, etc. When there is any alleged case in
violation of laws, regulations, code of conduct or the Group’s
policies, the Group will investigate and impose disciplinary
actions on the offenders after verification. Directors and
employees received training from time to time to ensure that
they comply and are familiar with the anti-corruption guidelines,
policies and procedures of the Group.

The Group has maintained reporting channels for whistle-
blowers to disclose, in confidence, information in relation to any
suspected misconduct, malpractice or non-compliance. Upon
receiving such report, the Group will issue a notice of
acknowledgment, assess the validity and relevance of the report
and determine the needs to carry out a full investigation. If an
investigation is necessary, the Group will investigate the matter
reported in detail. Such report will be handled with caution and
the concern raised by any whistle-blower will be fairly and duly
addressed to.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied
with all applicable laws relating to the prohibition of corruption
and bribery of the PRC and there was no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

* For identification purposes only
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The Directors are pleased to present this report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the PRC and has its principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 2703, 27th Floor, Shui
On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Group’s registered office and its principal place of business in
the PRC are situated at 1 Yanxin Road East, Huishan Economic
Development Zone, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are research and
development, design, manufacture, equipment supply,
installation, testing, repair and maintenance of production lines
for manufacturing steel wire products in the PRC. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OTHER DISCLOSURE

For discussion and disclosure as required by Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
which includes the business review of the Group for the Year,
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, key
performance indicators, environmental policies of the Group,
compliance of the laws and regulations by the Group and the
future development of the Group is set out in the sections of
Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis,
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, Five-Year
Financial Summary of this annual report and the paragraphs
below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) for the disclosure of information
and corporate governance. No important event affecting the
Group has occurred since the end of the financial year to the
date of this annual report.
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KEY RISK FACTORS

Set out below are the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group.

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policy, and relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension
of the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and
markets as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of
such changes.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
some parts of its business to improve performance and
efficiency of the Group. While gaining the benefits from external
service providers, the management realises that such operational
dependency may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected
deterioration or lapses in service including reputation damage,
business disruption and monetary losses. To address such
uncertainties, the Group engages only reputable third-party
service providers and closely monitors their performance.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer
to the Prospectus.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to
needs. The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all
employees. No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace
accidents are found during the Year.

individual

The Group places great emphasis on working relationships with
suppliers to meet our customers’ needs in an effective and
efficient manner. Our departments work closely with our
suppliers to make sure the tendering and procurement process
is conducted in an open, fair and just manner. The Group’s
requirements and standards are also well-communicated to
suppliers before the commencement of a project.
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The Group values the views and opinions of all customers
through various means and channels, including usage of
business intelligence to understand customer trends and needs
and regular analysis on customer feedback. The Group also
conducts comprehensive tests and checks to ensure that only
quality products and services are offered to the customers.

The Group is an integrated production solution provider of steel
wire products in the PRC. We provide customised and
distinctive solutions to steel wire product manufacturers in
accordance with their production needs and specifications. As
such, we can provide one-stop service including undertaking the
construction of comprehensive production lines (scope of work
covering technical design, equipment supply, installation and
fine-tuning and testing of the production lines), repair and
maintenance or replacement of certain parts within their existing
production lines or supply of equipment and machines on a
standalone basis to upgrade their existing production lines.

The Group has, on average, over 3 to 5 years of business
relationship with the key suppliers, which are mainly located in
Jiangsu, Shanghai, Zhejiang and Shandong in Eastern China as
China. The suppliers mainly
manufacture customised parts and components and electrical
units according to specific designs. Our largest supplier mainly
provides customised parts and components according to
specific designs and is located in Jiangsu in Eastern China. In
suppliers grant a payment term of 30-90 days.
Payables are usually settled by electronic remittance or
commercial bill of exchange within the credit period.

well as Henan in Central

general,

The Group’s key products are customised in accordance with
production needs and specifications. The quality of the parts and
components provided by the supplies are vital. The Group has
formulated the Supplier Management System* ({t & & & 12 %I &)
and the Supplier Certification and Assessment Management
System* (EHREEZEEE) to assess, manage and
control the suppliers and ensure that the products procured by
the Group satisfy its requirement. The Group continuously
monitors the qualified suppliers to ensure the long-term and
stable supply of satisfactory products and services from them.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any material
contractual dispute with its suppliers.
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The Group treasures customers’ opinions and advice, which are
collected in various forms through several channels to
understand the customers’ preferences and needs. It also
regularly analyses the feedback and opinions of the customers
so as to develop new products and provide quality services in
accordance with their needs.

The Group’s customers include several leading steel wire
product manufacturers in the PRC. According to our track
records, our key customers include companies listed on the
Stock Exchange, the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Apart from domestic sales, the
Group also exports its products. Our sales contracts usually
provide for a product delivery date of about five to nine months
from the contract signing date. The relatively long manufacturing
cycle is primarily attributed to the time required for product
design and manufacturing, delivery, on-site installation,
tuning, testing and trial production.

fine-

The Group has, on average, 5 years of business
relationship with the key customers. It offers different credit
terms to the customers according to its assessment of their
business scales and financial positions. According to the average
number of days for receipt of payments, and the average
number of days spent on different stages of its business models
adopted for the major production
machines, the payment terms granted by the Group to its
customers requires (i) receipt of 10% to 30% of contract value
within 90 days from the contract signing date, (i) receipt of
30% to 40% of contract value upon completion of production,
(iii) receipt of 20% to 40% of contract value upon completion of
installation, fine-tuning and testing, and (iv) receipt of quality
warranty payment (10%) within one year. The Group
continuously monitors and controls the accounts receivable from
its customers.

over

lines and standalone

During the reporting period, the Group did not suffer from any

material business loss due to material delinquency or default by
its customers with financial difficulties.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five
largest customers accounted for 76.4% (2023: 69.4%) and
98.0% (2023: 96.3%), respectively, of the Group’s total revenue
for the Year.

During the Year, aggregate purchases from the Group’s largest
and five largest suppliers accounted for 11.6% (2023: 10.6%)
and 31.2% (2023: 29.2%), respectively, of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers, raw material suppliers and
subcontractors during the Year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the latest five financial years is set out on page 204
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of the
Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 134 of
this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group performance during the
Year and material factors underlying its results and financial
position are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis
section of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the
Company were RMB96.6 million (2023: RMB90.1 million).

DIVIDEND

The Board resolved to recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 of RMBO0.08 per share (before tax)
totalling RMB10.24 million (before tax), subject to approval by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Friday, 27 June 2025 (the “AGM”). The final
dividend, if approved by the Shareholders at the AGM, will be
paid to the Shareholders whose names appeared on the register
of members of the Company on Wednesday, 9 July 2025.
Dividends payable to the holders of the Company’s domestic
shares shall be paid in RMB, whereas dividends payable to the
holders of the Company’s H shares shall be paid in Hong Kong
dollars. Dividends on H share are also subject to PRC
Withholding Income Tax. It is expected that the final dividend will
be payable on or around Friday, 18 July 2025 and a detailed
plan of distribution will be set out in the circular of the Company
to be despatched on or around 22 April 2025.

TAX REDUCTION AND EXEMPTION
(FOR H SHAREHOLDERS)

Non-resident enterprise shareholders

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (FFZE A
RAFMBE M ZEFBFA) and its implementation rules, which came
into force on 1 January 2008 and other relevant rules, where the
Company distributes any dividend to non-resident enterprise
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
for H Shares of the Company, required to withhold
enterprise income tax at the rate of 10%. Any H Shares
registered in the name of non-individual registered shareholders,
including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees or
other organisations or groups, will be treated as Shares being
held by non-resident enterprise shareholders, and consequently
will be subject to the withholding of the enterprise income tax.

it is
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Non-resident individual shareholders

According to regulations by the State Administration of Taxation
(Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348) and
regulations, if the individual H Share shareholders are residents
of Hong Kong or Macau or those countries which have entered
into a tax treaty with the PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of
10%, the Company will finally withhold and pay individual
income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of these shareholders.
If the individual H Share shareholders are residents of those
countries which have entered into a tax treaty with the PRC
stipulating a dividend tax rate of less than 10%, the Company
will make applications on their behalf to seek entitlement of the
relevant agreed preferential treatments pursuant to the relevant
tax treaty. If the individual H Share shareholders are residents of
those countries which have entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of more than 10% but less
than 20%, the Company will withhold and pay individual income
tax at the actual tax rate stipulated in the relevant tax treaty. If
the individual H Share shareholders are residents of those
countries which have entered into a tax treaty with the PRC
stipulating a dividend tax rate of 20%, or those countries which
have not entered into any tax treaties with the PRC, or under
any other circumstances, the Company will withhold and pay
individual income tax at the rate of 20% on behalf of these
shareholders.

relevant laws and

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 28 May 2025
to Friday, 27 June 2025, both dates inclusive, the period during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. The holders of
shares whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 27 June 2025 will be entitled to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM to be held on Friday, 27 June
2025. In order to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the H Share Registrar of the
Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong (in respect of H shares), or to the Company’s
registered office in the PRC at 1 Yanxin Road East, Huishan
Economic Development Zone, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
(in respect of Domestic shares) no later than 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 27 May 2025.

7
/'//,

w

109



110

7
%,
%,

W

BHEBRNENBEBROBERLF

WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

EEERE

Report of the Directors

AEEBEWIKRBERENRRSH - K
N A R2025%7 A48 (28 H) £2025
F7TRAOR(EH=) A (BERRMRBELE
R EEHERNDBEERLFE It H
M TERBEEAROBEER - BFE
AR E £2024F 12 A31H LFEH
RERE - FTEBFE XM ERMBBERER
BER 202597 A3H (EHAM) TF46IE
ARXARNBMHBRERER S EFSFEZRLE
R AR (i BE B A% 2833850 M
R 5 EH283313301-04 %) (0 AH
BR) - SRR AR R AR B AT E
B (Mbib AR BT 8R4 R85 8 L OB R B
RIEFHRE15) (WARNER) -

RN
MN2024F 12 A31H » REEI EE X
(20234 : 4#) »

23
ARBIRARFERANEBFIBEHNERS Y
BRI E25 -

AVFHRENEEREE

WAFHRBE  BERARBFBHRAE
HEREEHM  AARARFEAREEAR
FHAHILE—ESR EWRRIAMTAOR

BERARFRE -

BEBEE
RIFAZBERARLPBIEE KRR H
7B I AT AR T8 EL AR Hs B L DIl 1A 3R B X

SRR ITH BT B R -

BE LENBEFATH LS
ik

RER - AR S EAE B R A RS
B HERBEARDAMEMLEDES -

In order to ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who are
entitled to receive the final dividend, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 4 July 2025 to
Wednesday, 9 July 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
qualified for receiving the final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the H Share
Registrar of the Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites
3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s
Road, North Point, Hong Kong (in respect of H shares), or to the
Company’s registered office in the PRC at 1 Yanxin Road East,
Huishan Economic Development Zone, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC (in respect of Domestic shares) no later than 4:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 3 July 2025.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no borrowing (2023:
nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and the laws of the PRC,
the Company is not subject to any pre-emptive rights requiring it
to propose new issues to its existing shareholders in proportion
to their shareholdings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the reporting period up to
the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the Year or subsisted at
the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The following table sets forth information concerning the
Directors and supervisors of the Company for the year ended 31

7
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December 2024.

& F# Bl far EZEHH
Name Age Position Appointment Date
BE

Directors

SR 12 Ml 5% & 52 HITEERIE 201247 A24H
Mr. ZHANG Degang Executive Director and Chairman 24 July 2012
RIBRELE 55 HITEERALE 201247 H24H
Mr. ZHANG Degiang Executive Director and general manager 24 July 2012
BERRL 44 HITES 202246 A17H
Ms. FENG Lili Executive Director 17 June 2022
REFERL 62 FHRTES 201548 A28 H
Ms. ZHANG Jinghua Non-executive Director 28 August 2015
REBHERE 45 BAFRTER 202146 H18H
Mr. LEUNG Yiu Cho Independent non-executive Director 18 June 2021
AR LS B A 50 BAUFNTES 202166 A18H
Mr. YU Jianfeng Independent non-executive Director 18 June 2021
=Bl i 48 BUFRTES 202146 H18H
Mr. ZHONG Ruifeng Independent non-executive Director 18 June 2021
Zmks 61 EF 201448 H15H
Mr. PENG Jiashan Supervisor 15 August 2014
BERL 55 EE 201448 H15H
Ms. WEI Yi Supervisor 15 August 2014
mEERL 43 EERASNEBBERE 201247 A24H
Ms. YANG Jinghua Supervisor and personnel and general affairs manager 24 July 2012
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors,
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent of the Company.

an annual confirmation of their

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of Directors,
management of the Company are set out on pages 18 to 27 of
this annual report.

supervisors and senior

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

Except for Ms. Zhang Jinghua’s service contract which was
entered into on 28 August 2015, Mr. Leung Yiu Cho, Mr. Yu
Jianfeng and Mr. Zhong Ruifeng’s service contracts which was
entered into on 18 June 2021 and Ms. Feng Lili’'s service
contract which entered into on 17 June 2022, each of the
Directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company on 24 October 2014 and 20
October 2014, respectively, and such service contracts will
continue to be effective upon re-election. Hence, each of their
service contracts is continued to be effective pursuant to the re-
election of the Directors at the annual general meeting held on
26 June 2024. The service contracts may be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service contracts.

None of the Directors or supervisors of the Company has or is
proposed to have a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by such member of the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group’s success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Group’s remuneration policy of Directors is built
upon the principles of providing equitable and market-
competitive remuneration package that support the performance
culture and enable the achievement of strategic business goals.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee
and variable components (such as bonus and share options),
which is benchmarked against companies of comparable
business or scale with reference to a mix of factors such as the
prevailing market condition, the Company’s performance and the
qualifications, skills, experience and educational background of
the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually and are subject
to shareholders’ approval.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and supervisors of
the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid employees
are set out in note 9(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED BY THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any share
option scheme in force.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such indemnity provisions for the benefit of
the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout
the Year.
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DONATIONS

No donation was made during the Year (2023: nil).

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors, supervisors and the chief executive in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which will have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein or which will be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, will be as follows:

(i) Interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company

G HHEAEE R
N
BalLwEr (EERTRE
Approximate  {BEEEYIEL
percentage B4 b M=
in the Approximate
relevant percentage
BHEE class of in the total
Esna R ER Number ##HMH share issued share
Name of Director Class of shares of shares Nature of interest capital Note)  capital Nete
SRR S A4 NE R 34,821,504 Em#EAA 36.27% 27.21%
Mr. Zhang Degang Domestic Shares Beneficial owner
W& Bk 42,410,496 HE M A+ HFER AR H 44.18% 33.13%
Domestic Shares Interest held jointly with another person (ot 2
NER 4,416,000 PRI HDEE R M0 4.60% 3.45%
Domestic Shares Interest in controlled corporation Mot 2
REREE NE R 29,083,104 Em#EAA 31.23% 23.42%
Mr. Zhang Degiang Domestic Shares Beneficial owner
NE K 47,248,896 ELE fth A T HFHFAE AR 052 49.22% 36.92%
Domestic Shares Interest held jointly with another person (ot 2
NER 4,416,000 PRI HDEE AR M0 4.60% 3.45%
Domestic Shares Interest in controlled corporation Mot 2
REELL NE R 12,427,392 EzEBA 12.95% 9.71%
Ms. Zhang Jinghua Domestic Shares Beneficial owner
NE K 69,220,608 ELE fth A+ FHFAE AR =2 72.10% 54.08%

Domestic Shares

Interest held jointly with another person (ot 2
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(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 128,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2020, which
comprised 96,000,000 domestic shares and 32,000,000 H shares.

(2) Mr. Zhang Degang, Mr. Zhang Deqiang and Ms. Zhang Jinghua are
persons acting in concert and accordingly each of them is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by each other. By the Acting in Concert
Agreement dated 26 July 2013, each of Mr. Zhang Degang, Mr. Zhang
Degiang and Ms. Zhang Jinghua confirmed that they have exercised their
voting rights at the meetings of the shareholders and/or directors of the
members of the Group in unanimity since the establishment of Sanzhi
Gongkong on 17 April 2009, and will continue to do so.

Q) Mr. Zhang Degang and Mr. Zhang Degiang are two of the general partners

(Limited Partnership)*) (“Shunxin”) and are therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Shunxin.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, supervisors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, no
persons or corporations (other then the Directors, chief executive
or supervisors of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was
a party, and in which a Director or supervisor of the Company
or an entity connected with any of them had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the Year or
at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Year, there had been no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor any contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries. None of the shareholders of the Company entered
into any arrangement to waive or agree to waive any dividend.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, the controling shareholders of the
Company and their respective close associates had any
business or interest that competes or may compete with the
business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor had any
other conflicts of interest with the Group during the Year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETE
UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Zhang Degang, Mr. Zhang Degiang and Ms. Zhang
Jinghua (the controlling shareholders (within the meaning of the
Listing Rules) of the Company) has given an annual declaration
to the Company confirming that he/she has complied with the
non-compete undertakings given by them to the Company under
the deed of non-competition made on 11 March 2014 in favour
of the Company. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement of the non-
compete undertakings and confirmed that all the undertakings
thereunder have been complied with during the Year.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate granted to any Director
or supervisors of the Company, or were such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
or supervisors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes organised by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities for the Group’s eligible employees in the
PRC.
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Particulars of these retirement plans are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The employees of the Group are required to participate in a
central pension scheme (the “Defined Contribution Schemes”)
operated by the local municipal government. The Group was
required to contribute a certain percentage, which was pre-
determined by the local municipal government, of the sum of
basic salary and allowance of employees to the Central Pension
Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the Defined
Contribution Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the relevant
rules of the respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes
vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for
each of the two years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024, there was no forfeiture of contributions under
the Defined Contribution Schemes; and (i) there were no
forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce its
existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company fully complied with all code provisions of the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout
the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the Year are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and these
transactions do not fall under the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

There was no transactions which constituted non-exempted
connected transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s)
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules of the Company during
the Year.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the Year, the Company was not engaged in any litigation
or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of
material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, financial reporting systems,
risk management and internal control systems, and has reviewed
the Group’s consolidated financial results for the Year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who shall retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

BOBNERBERBARAT

(Wuxi Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited*)
Zhang Degang

Chairman

Jiangsu, the PRC, 28 March 2025

* For identification purposes only



TENFEERS
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

I8 3T 1% R AN 3R &
Independent Auditor’s Report

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

_i
pwc

BESBENEMRBRBARLBKE
(R EA RT3 695 R 2 F])

BER

KM EETHAR

BRAF(ERQR]) REKBAR([E&%

B)Nge Rk 81

o  TA2024FE12A3MEMEEBEERR
x5

o HEZAIFENGANZIER

. BEZALFENGASSERNE

it

2
w
i}
|_—|_
_m
xa
5
g
o)
%
X
e
]

=&

s EBHEZHUFENHKRSHEZRER:

&

. GAMBREME REEAGHK
FEN R EEBEN -

B AKE

To the Shareholders of Wuxi Sunlit Science and
Technology Company Limited

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Wuxi Sunlit Science and
Technology Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 129 to
203, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
FELT K H BTt HTH BT - Btk PR A 224
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

were of most significance

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

impairment of trade receivables and contract assets.
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EMRE AR NTRERRENEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HREHEE
Key Audit Matter
BHEEREIRMNERE

Impairment of contract assets and trade receivables
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Refer to note 3.1(b) “Financial risk management — credit
risk”, note 4(a) “Impairment of contract assets and trade
receivables” and note 18 “Contract assets” and note 19
“Trade and other receivables” to the consolidated financial
statements.

R20245128318 - BHRUFELE (BRRUEN &
FEAARRE BROALRBERANEE)RARE
397,983,0007T * M fF i A1E A K% 119,408,0007 * 5%
HFEAARK78,575,0007 ' 1 BEEEN2024512
S1RBEER26% °

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of trade
receivables including accounts receivable, commercial
acceptance notes, bank acceptance notes and contract
assets amounted to RMB397,983,000 against which a
provision of RMB119,408,000 was provided, resulting in the
net carrying amount of RMB278,575,000 representing 26%
of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024.

ERERRG(L LT BANEERE FIRUNEN 2R
HEEER - ESENEFPEENARGERREESE
Wi BRHEERE - EREERUENRR RESHEE
Mt ESEEER UL RBRR ERRER
ERENBABRELHE  ZRERBREFNAELE
it BEAR - MERARYEERRENNHBEER -
Management applied the simplified approach to measure
the lifetime expected credit losses of contract assets and
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses
(‘ECL"), customers of the Group were grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics. Management assessed
the ECL based on estimation about risk of default and
expected loss rates, and judgment was used in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, including the historical settlement
records, credit ratings, financial positions of the customers
and other factors that impacted their ability of repayment.

MR ERERG T NEERE HRUGERETEL BT T A TRRE
We obtained the assessment of impairment of contract assets and trade receivables from the
management and performed the following procedures:

KREEEYANEERESRIGUERBEEBRNABEH KA HRRE  THE2
B A EEENRERECERRRRZNKT (MARRENEREE  BRER
RERBENTEN) MEEAERREANEFTRR

Obtained an understanding of the management’s internal control and assessment
process of ECL of contract assets and trade receivables, and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity of models, subjectivity of key
assumptions and data used;

AERAE A EEBER A NEERE S RUR A RS G EBENIERN
B

Evaluated and tested, on a sample basis, the key intemnal control over the management’s
assessment of the expected credit losses of contract assets and trade receivables;

TEALHRERRYRNEERESRENERBEERRNTBER  UTHE
BEELMEHNEFREEN:

Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of ECL of contract assets and trade
receivables to assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

SERFENENEERBSRRFENS  BREEBHEFEBHBEMRAREAR
BR - ELEXREEEAUREARBERROBASHFE - ARBERESH
ERRERANG (WEPHBERRFREEERE LN LE) BRAMRET AR
PRENERRRE NI EERREREERANAEY:

For contract assets and trade receivables assessed individually, understood
management’s assessment of the respective financial position and creditworthiness of
the customers, historical repayment and settlement records, and forecasted future
economic conditions and corroborated explanations through examining, on a sample
basis, underlying relevant supporting documents such as financial information of the
customers, post year end settlements and historical payment record, in order to
assess the reasonableness of ECL allowance provided by management;

7
/'//,

w

123



124

7
4,
%,

W

BHEBRNENBEBROBERAF

WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

BWIAZBERE
Independent Auditor’s Report

(FrIESEEH  BRIMESBEHUARE T TIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BRREARPNTRERRENSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEENEE
Key Audit Matter
BHMEERESEWRIERE

Impairment of contract assets and trade receivables

EREM KA AR BTRREERHE -
Management also took into account of forward-
looking adjustments to determine ECL.

ARENEEREPRUTBERNEREUARE
ARBEEBRMARENEREREARRRY
BOIBM SRMEHBFZIE -

We focused on this area due to the significance of
the contract assets and trade receivables balances
and the complexity of models and subjectivity of
significant assumptions and data used in the
estimation of ECL.

5)

HRE2ECEARBBERTRNANEEREZRKFIEN S @ Rl
K AREPEBNIMBERRREGRRS A AEREE R ENTRET
WE - UBREEBN AR R HESEY

For contract assets and trade receivables assessed collectively by making
reference to the credit risk characteristics, we understood management’s
grouping process and assessed the reasonableness by comparing, on a
sample basis, available information such as the respective financial position
and creditworthiness of the customers to management’s records;

RAEHERTS AREREMERLERS SESRRAHHXE
EMEENL  TAFABHERNEEERNGEAR

For forward looking information, evaluated the appropriateness of economic
indicators, the economic scenarios and the underlying probability
weightings applied by management; and tested the resulting calculation of
the economic indicators determined thereby;

ERBERL2ET  REAEVEREENTRERERNEEHRRE
TENEEERERBAMRNEARRN B

Evaluated the appropriateness of management’'s ECL modelling
methodologies in accordance with relevant financial reporting standards
and reasonableness of significant assumptions adopted by management
with the involvement of our in-house experts;

MREARAGSERB LT MRS BN ERE R B AR ERE M
fE RN BBERE Rk

Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy and completeness of the data
being used in the assessment of management and mathematical accuracy
of management’s assessment; and

AHESNEERBEIRNFENBENEEEREENRERS RS
Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to assessment of ECL of
contract assets and trade receivables.

ERMETHLARF RAMEHEE BMRA EEERTEENEERE
5 FE M SRR AL (B P B U P N IRER I FT B F R B X 85

Based on above procedures performed and the evidence obtained, we
considered that the judgement made and assumption used by management in
the assessment of the impairment of contract assets and trade receivables to be
supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

forgery, intentional

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit in this
independent auditor’s report is Pang Ho Yin.

resulting

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

H8ZF12A318LLEE
Year ended 31 December
ih=g 20245 20234
Note 2024 2023
WA Revenue 5 516,019 313,265
5 & B AR Cost of sales 6 (372,806) (217,393)
EH Gross profit 143,213 95,872
HERX Selling expenses 6 (4,751) (2,773)
THAX Administrative expenses 6 (55,584) (52,994)
SHMEENASHEERME Net impairment losses on
1B B financial and contract assets 3.1(b) (40,673) (23,857)
H A Other income 7 10,232 2,423
Hihlzs — F5 Other gains — net 8 2,871 9,392
"EENE Operating profit 55,308 28,063
BRI A Finance income 10 1,422 6,038
PP S8 g FUE Profit before income tax 56,730 34,101
FE M < Income tax expense 11 (7,191) (4,755)
RASHELRFEILEMAN  Profit for the year attributable
FIE to equity shareholders of the
Company 49,539 29,346
FREATERRE Earnings per share
FE 1 5 i & F attributable to equity
(MARERIIR) shareholders of the
Company for the year
(expressed in RMB cents)
— BREARBERF] — Basic and diluted earnings
per share 12 38.70 22.93
LA E4RE W s 3% FE ERBERT BT A — OF RO GE o The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

ZEE2EWRR

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

H8ZF12A318LLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

ERFHE Profit for the year 49,539 29,346

Hih 225 Other comprehensive income - =
AATHELBBRFEILENEE Total comprehensive income for the

Wiz 48 5A year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 49,539 29,346

A s amiiesss E B —0F R The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
=i should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

7

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

®12A318
As at 31 December
B 7E 20244 20234
Note 2024 2023
&aE ASSETS
ERBHEE Non-current assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 13 19,965 20,580
Y - BB R Property, plant and equipment 14 76,564 86,310
e R Investment properties 15 14,151 15,750
HIEREWE Properties held for sale 22 7,863 14,489
mEEE Intangible assets 77 102
B 5 & H b e W IR Trade and other receivables 19 27,516 53,189
IRIEFISTiEE — FE Deferred income tax assets
— net 20 29,789 19,135
175,925 209,555
RENEE Current assets
BE Inventories 21 208,243 260,340
RELEWE Properties held for sale 22 577 8,489
TEF 3B Prepayments 23 1,900 5,764
BREE Contract assets 18 49,465 33,541
B 5 N H bW s E Trade and other receivables 19 203,426 265,061
X R HIRE Restricted cash 24 76,869 65,053
TE BiTF K Time deposits 24 246,846 107,376
HekReEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 24 100,313 73,946
887,639 819,570
BESE Total assets 1,063,564 1,029,125
B EQUITY
(&N Share capital 25 128,000 128,000
f& 15w E Share premium 25 311,464 311,464
i Reserves 27 79,238 72,674
RE &R Retained earnings 26 194,318 161,583
s Total equity 713,020 673,721
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WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

FEEAERER

Consolidated Balance Sheet

(FrIESEEH  BRIMESBEHUARE T TIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

®12A31H
As at 31 December
M 3T 2024 % 20234
Note 2024 2023
I=F LIABILITIES
RENAE Current liabilities
B 5 REMENKIEA Trade and other payables 28 175,046 193,281
aHaE Contract liabilities 5 168,941 153,915
EHMEHAE Current income tax liabilities 6,557 8,208
350,544 355,404
BfE4E Total liabilities 350,544 355,404
EERAEEE Total equity and liabilities 1,063,564 1,029,125

LA LA EEAERERBEMNMWE —HE The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
=1 conjunction with the accompanying notes.

F129Z2 203 H 42 & B 15 &R 2 112025 The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 203
FEIRBHEEZTE@H A WAHILTNATLT were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025
RERERE and were signed on its behalf by:

TR IR g Zhang Degang Zhang Deqiang
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(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

RATHAALELS

Attributable to owners of the Company

P E kEx  R&iEE fitd ®REERA @t

Share Share Retained

Note capital premium Reserves earnings Total
12202351818 &8k Balance at 1 January 2023 128,000 311,464 66,282 148,869 654,615
2 Comprehensive income
FRFE Profit for the year — — — 29,346 29,346
2EGREE Total comprehensive income = = = 29,346 29,346
BEBEANXS Transaction with owners
BREETHE Transfer to statutory reserves 27(a) = = 5,358 (5,358) =
TEEEFEY Net movement of safety fund 27(b) = = 1,034 (1,034) =
EEIERE Dividend declared 29 - - —  (10240)  (10,240)
HEBAANRK 5EE Total transactions with owners = = 6,392 (16,632)  (10,240)
122023128 31 HB9 &6 Balance at 31 December 2023 128,000 311,464 72,674 161,583 673,721
20241 1B EES Balance at 1 January 2024 128,000 311,464 72,674 161,583 673,721
2 Comprehensive income
FERFHE Profit for the year - - - 49,539 49,539
2EISEE Total comprehensive income - - - 49,539 49,539
BEBEANXS Transaction with owners
BREETHE Transfer to statutory reserves 27(a) - - 4,925 (4,925) -
TEEEFE Net movement of safety fund 27(b) - - 1,639 (1,639) -
EEIRRE Dividend declared 29 - - - (10,240) (10,240)
HEBAANRK 5EE Total transactions with owners - - 6,564  (16,804)  (10,240)
202412 A 31 HRY 6565 Balance at 31 December 2024 128,000 311,464 79,238 194,318 713,020

LA 4R & e a1 9 B 3% 8 B BE BT B 5 — 04 B8 The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

i © be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

ZEHERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

HE12AS1BLEE
Year ended 31 December
B = 20244 20234
Note 2024 2023
CEETEFMBRESRE Cash flows from operating
activities
EREHEE Cash generated from operations 30(a) 184,729 11,196
E%‘&ﬁﬁ S5 Income tax paid (19,496) (2,715)
KEREFBIRE F5 Net cash generated from operating
activities 165,233 8,481
BRETEHFMBRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEWE BEREE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (407) (6,325)
HEME  BERREMSHKIE  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 30(b) 2,752 3,791
HEREYEERIA Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 30(c) - 9,190
BERAFEFABZRNEMEE Purchase of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (10,000) (58,000)
HERAFEFABZNESREE Proceeds from disposal of financial
FriS 5B assets at fair value through profit or
loss 10,061 58,232
B U F B Interest received 5,898 =
TE HA 17 5% AN Increase in time deposits (339,154) (44,387)
TE H 17 7O Decrease in time deposits 202,259 —
WEEEFMAR T Net cash used in investing activities (128,591) (37,499)
RIEEEFBHESRE Cash flows from financing activities
BRI E Dividends paid 29 (10,240) (10,240)
MEGBAMAREFH Net cash used in from financing
activities (10,240) (10,240)
HeERBRE&EEBEHZEEM Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
(iBd) cash equivalents 26,402 (39,258)
SMEEXREHIE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (35) (46)
FMHRERREEEER Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 73,946 113,250
FRORERREEFEHER Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year 100,313 73,946

L/U:ﬁ/\fﬁfinmg%%ﬁééﬂ%M’JM\TE\E—T%FEJ

uE

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1 FEEH-—REH

G EREBRDBERRR] ([ARRF])
REKERR] (RREIAKE]) 8 E R R
RBGERHE — RII AR A EE R R
BN EH -

KA BIR2006F3 421 HIEFZE AR LH
(B MK REREERATA °
R2012F7R248 « XA A RIE+ BEIEEH
EERERAH BROBR AT - NAA]
At EE e it A BT &4 & E L
OB EIBFT RS o

R2014F11A11H KRR RHEBRE
ARG AER AR (BT E£R E

o

=t

RIERBEH  BRAXGEEMBHRR]IAA
RETITZ7 -

RABESZEN20253 A28 H #t /T3
KRBT IERE -

2 FESTBERBE

REAGEMBHRERTEANTIEEF R
RENTX - BRIFEREER  TRIZFR
KRE2RFEERER -

21 EHEE

REENGETBRRDBETSS A
REBRMGHEBVHREENREEDA
Bl ([REHER D) (6228 ) IEBERT

1 GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Wuxi Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of a range of
equipment for steel wire production lines and standalone
machineries.

The Company was incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) as a limited liability company on 21 March
2006. The Company was converted into a joint stock company
with limited liabilities under relevant PRC laws and regulations on
24 July 2012. The address of the Company’s registered office is
1 Yanxin Road East, Huishan Economic Development Zone,
Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 11 November 2014.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi thousands (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 28 March
2025.

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the vyears
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)
Cap. 622.
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WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

FEVBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2 FEEFBREE®

21 REEEH)
REMBMRDBEES K ANEFRE
HEATFEFABENEREERTES
BT A (RAFEFIER) BRI o

RENABERPBREER S ERIRLR
EMBRRFECHE TEESHA °
EEENMARNERAASEN S HRBE
RATEEHE - 5 R = EH a1/
85 ABREGEFTHEEMHEHRRBE
REVHIG IO 4R -

(a) KEEFRABIFETREEIESTEE]
KEBDR2024F1 A1 HHBNFERSE
HR E R E A MERT M FEMGE -

A BT A EX:]

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under

the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments,

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following amendments and annual
improvements for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2024:

Standards/Amendments Subject

FEEERFIR AELBRRBK
EETR FERE
FEGTEAF 1R MERENIERE

fEETA =N
BEMBHREEN ERMALDNEE
ERILACTIRN BE
R EELR MBHEN 2T
(R&1E7]) — BRAHEH
BB SKIEE 1R
T B B S
¥

FEEERFETR HERRELH
REBEBMBRSE
BERIETHRIEFTA

EXFRFI R T E A REFTAHE R BHE
HEERANRAL B EMZE BT
SUHERNRRRAFTEEATE -

Amendment to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendment to HKAS 1
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Amendment to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The new standard and amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2 FEEFBREE®

21 HREEEE

(b) EEMEEKEXBIFZT RAEIETTE
BILI R EHz2FE

THIFETER - BRI ARREDEHBER

202412 31 B & A IE 8+ FE AT -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretation to
standards that have been issued but are not effective

The following new standards, amendments and interpretation to

standards have been published that are not mandatory for

BAREREER RN 31 December 2024 reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

RT3 8
2B
A 18T RE £ | FEEEH
Effective for annual
Standards/Amendments/ years beginning
Interpretation Subject on or after
ERGHERE2IREBITER  BRZAIHEBMN 20251 A1H

Amendment to HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025

BBEMBRELEFIRLES ¢RI ESBNEZIEL] 2026F1H1H

M EEANETIREFT A
Amendment to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

F£111M
Volume 11

BRMBMEERNFE185 &
EREREELSR

HKFRS 18 and Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BB HmE ERFE195R EL/N 34

HKFRS 19

AREEE AT A Lt a] E R RERT A
UAEmBNEE ETETHREELAEE
MEBZER REASEEZMENTS
AHE - TEE LA R AT 2 R RAERT AN DA Ko v
BAMERITS@HARENEEXEXRH
MREEEATE -

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

BREV B HREEN G ERN FRUGE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards

MIBEHRRN2N R E

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

tEEMBARIR R E

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2026

20261 H1H
1 January 2026

20271 A1 H

1 January 2027

20271 H1H
1 January 2027

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of the above new standards and amendments and
interpretations to standards, certain of which are relevant to the
Group’s operations. According to the preliminary assessment
made by the directors of the Group, it is expected that the
above new standards and amendments and interpretations to
standards will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
operating position when they become
effective.

results or financial
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WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

FEVBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 HMBERER
3.1 MBEBER
REBNEHRSHAARR
miﬁﬂ (BEIIERBUARBESRER
EFTE%'JTHBAA> ) ’(EPE”—HSM /}\L@é%
c REEMERREREEMEZEIN
‘i\ﬁﬂmi@E’JWTﬁ B - S 77 SRR ¥ 7R
SEMBRBEEENEETNZE -

BB RR

(a) W% E G

() SMNERSE
SNERBRIR G IAERBIN L EEE AN T AT
BENRSUCHEREERAE -

AEBRFEANES  AEBKED
RHZNAREHERGE - EETESRE
W IE&%E ﬁTALA%TEﬁf%T_EEﬂE'Hﬁ
T E SN S E g o

AEBLSINEFTENEREERERRE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall
risk management program of the Group focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Group.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when transactions or recognised
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates in mainland China with most of the Group’s
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, except that
certain trade receivables, bank deposits are denominated in US
dollar (“USD”) or HK dollar (“HKD”) which are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency

REFEEBRMREERT : denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective
balance sheet dates are as follows:
®12A318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ShEEEE Foreign currency assets
— XETT —USsD 102,360 82,229
— BT —HKD 1,609 6
103,969 82,235
WETHAREHE,BE%  mMABH If the USD had strengthened/weakened by 5% against the RMB

ESRFIAE - ARNEEFE2024F12
AB1BIEFEMBRMENEKEAZELAE
TEIENSREEME I, B HOARE
4,350,0007T (20234 : A K ¥3,495,000
JL) °

AEERFEERIMNEES) - I
AEBENREEE -

BERE

while all other variables had been held constant, the Group’s
post tax profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been approximately RMB4,350,000 higher/lower (2023:
RMB3,495,000).

The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to
best preserve the Group’s cash value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 HBERMEER®

3.1 HBRERERE(E)

(a) BB &)

() Bz mER I FEFERERE
AEBRS T ERTREES RBITFERE
FR A R R o NEBREIFE A KAIRITIE
é@ﬁuniﬁﬁlllbiiﬁjrﬂ R

M2024%F12A318 * WiR1TIR € - T &
ﬁ#&ﬁ@ﬂﬁémﬁ?iﬂ/Tﬁ
0.5%  MAEHMEERIFTE - AIXRE
EWEW%&&%E%%M/ﬂ/AE%
1,804,0007T (20234 : A & ¥1,045,000
To)  TYEDFEFE EFH TR

(b) EEELE

=R A%Q%ﬁﬁﬁ%‘k CANBEARE
ZREMEWFE BHEZFEREEN
Bﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂmﬁﬁ)%ﬂl&‘ilﬁﬁﬁﬁwmﬁ 5
TREENRAEERR -

) EEEE

RERERRR  RITERFRRAAR
KZH%%E’\J@EN%T%/EE BEARFEENS
BEEET -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk for certain
interest-bearing cash at banks and bank deposits. Cash at

banks at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rate on cash at banks,
time deposits and restricted cash increased/decreased by 0.5%
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post tax
profits for the year would have been RMB1,804,000 higher/lower
(2023: RMB1,045,000), as a result of the increase/decrease in
variable interest rates.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from bank deposits, contract assets and trade
and other receivables. The carrying amounts, where applicable,
of each class of these financial assets represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
corresponding class of financial assets.

(i) Risk management

To manage the credit risk, bank deposits are placed with/issued
by highly reputable financial institutions.
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FEVBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 UHBRKRERE®

3.1 HBRERERE(E)

(b) EEEME &)

() ERERE )
RENBEERBFGERKFIANES '+ A&E
EFflTHRERERE TAEAHEEER
BHEFE AEBEBBEREREZHEIEER
N EEFPHEE  BEREREEMBERE
ERN(BEEEFPFNEER R EZHEE
g RS EERBEUARERPOY
¥ BEER&ERER)  HEEFHET
SHFRE - NEBIRE B BTG MARE
BHEE UEFPAHERARBALEHRTER
=R -  ANEEMM S ERaHNE
SREWGIE  WIETHEHEABREBKE
SEWGE AEBHEEAXMITASER
FREMNEERE - HBRFRHHEBERLEE
FAEH NERBEEZAEMNEESEE
N3 Bt REESR  BHRNE2EK
2 EHEEEE - NEBE IS EFT R
ERNEHNRFANEERE S ERFIE
kR REGHNEENE FEIWHIER
HE) o DARBERI RN RETBBLE T
XEENEmE A ERER HaBaNEE
MBS EWGIAR ] WO 12 S F H T4
EELE BEHEGHNEERE S EBGIER
ERENFEREED FIERM 18 KM=
19 - REEBEITNSERE HEKARE
R o

SREMEUHENS  BEEEREBES
B ACEE BB N AT BUS HO AT IE 1 B B
S H ) fE WG RROE = A AT W B R I B A B
BRCYS BRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Risk management (Continued)

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group has
policies in place to ensure that products are sold to customers
with appropriate credit history. The Group assesses the
creditworthiness of a customer by closely examining a number of
indicators which include its financial and operational conditions
(including whether the customer’s production facilities are in full
operation, the site of the facilities, scale of operation, and the
customer’s amount of in property, plant and
equipment), its credit rating and competitive landscape of the
market. Based on such assessment and the value of the
relevant contract, the Group sets a maximum balance of amount
due allowable for a customer. The finance department of the
Group monitors the past due trade receivables and directs the
sales personnel to follow up the collection of the trade
receivables. The sales department of the Group also sets up a
credit profile for each customer. Records relating to the
transactions with the customer are updated monthly to monitor
the amount of sales, payment, accumulated amount outstanding,
amount past due and unpaid, and accumulated expected credit
losses made as at the end of the month. The finance
department of the Group monitors and updates the customer’s
contract assets and trade receivables position from time to time,
keeps track of the movement of the contract assets and trade
receivables, and ensures that the outstanding amounts due do
not exceed the maximum balance allowable for a customer.
Specific review on the expected credit losses of past due
contract assets and trade receivables is performed on a regular
basis and detailed disclosure of allowance for impairment of
contract assets
receivables is set out in note 19. Normally the Group does not
require collateral from trade debtors.

investments

is set out in note 18 and that of trade

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the expected
credit losses of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, historical actual losses incurred and available
forward-looking information.
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(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 HBERMEER®

3.1 HBRERERE(E)

(b) 1EEEE &)

() ZHEERME
EHNEENRE S EWFIE
AEEEREEMBREELFIORM L
FETERBEEEE  RENEERE
SRR IBEFERAEBREREERE - 64
EESREREERER  BHRAEED
WE S EKFIEREE KXBMER D RR S
BB ~XEERAE - BEZERFIERN
EHEEXEENEESIBEXRSE N
H o TBHEEEBTMATRERPES
HEHAHWEERE HRBFENRE LS
EEHAEEER - NEBEBTE &
2024F12HB1B IEFE - x A EEA A
EHAEREARAARBERRNE  M2E
MAtEE RIKBCEIES -

REFERHMEERR  AEEEREER
RREBEEP D KMA

1) HHESRASEBIENIERES

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets

Contract assets and trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for contract assets and trade receivables. The
contract assets relate to product quality warranty and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for
the contract assets. The expected credit losses also incorporate
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the contract assets and
trade receivables. The Group has identified RMB loan, M2
Money Supply and Purchasing Managers Index as the most
relevant factors for forward-looking adjustments for the vyear
ended 31 December 2024.

To measure the expected credit losses, customers of the Group
were grouped into two categories based on credit risk

characteristics:

1)  Normal customers for sales of goods subject to collective

EHBEEERMNAENEENRE FEIKRFIE
(T BIERITE L ERE) R2024%12 A 31
H K2023F12 A31H W 5B & & & T
—F:

assessment
The loss allowance provision of contract assets and trade
receivables (excluding bank acceptance notes) for sales of
goods as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were
determined as follows:

1EDT 1£22F 25E3F 3FF4F 4FDE @t

Less More
than 1 year to 2 years to 3 years to than
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
12024%E12H31H As at 31 December 2024
TBHEEX Expected loss rate 10.0%  18.3% 25.0% 54.9% 100.0%
REBE Gross carrying amount 223,776 16,143 14,155 590 47 254,711
BIEEE Loss allowance provision (22,454)  (2,949) (3,541) (324) (47)  (29,315)
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3 HBERMEER®

3.1 HBRERERE(E)

(b) EEREE &

() ZHEERME E)
BHMEERE S EKE )

1) HMEHEERBASEIENTIERR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Contract assets and trade receivables (Continued)

1) Normal customers for sales of goods subject to collective

assessment (Continued)

1EUT 15E2F 26F3F 3FZE4F 45N E e

Less More
than 1 year to 2 years to 3 years to than
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total

#2023 12A31H As at 31 December 2023
TBHEE X Expected loss rate
REAE Gross carrying amount
BiERE Loss allowance provision

2) ZAlERIFHEEES
REEERFERETEZENERE L
BEREGRUFETNS @ Bl REES
WA AREEEE - WEEN TR BF
R AAEERARERBERFE

s BEBALBERFHEE

s BEBAFRKNERETHEEME

o HEMABBAERL K

e FERREA/BA—FRLFE -
K38 RS A &

BERNFENBEBEEERNANEER
BHRWFRREAENEEBENT -

58%  101%  12.8%  28.1%  100.0%
205068 43,410 15208 15,576 41 279,303
(11,810) (4,385  (1,946)  (4,370) (41) (22,552)

2)  Customers subject to individual assessment

For individual contract assets and trade receivables which were
determined that there was objective evidence that an impairment
had been incurred, the expected credit losses were separately
reviewed for impairment. The Group considered that there was
evidence of impairment if any of the following indicators were
present:

o significant financial difficulties of the debtor

° probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation

o in a lawsuit with the debtor, and

° credit risk are considered to be much higher than in prior
year and default of payment schedule

Gross carrying amount and loss allowance provision of contract
assets and trade receivables for sales of goods subject to
individual assessment are as follows.
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3 HBERMEER®

3.1 MBEEEER®)

(b) EEEE &)

(i) £ EEERE (&)
BREENE D EWFIEE)

2)  ZAEpIFHERNEE (&)
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GRIFTE GBI AARE TILI/R)  (Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Contract assets and trade receivables (Continued)

2)  Customers subject to individual assessment (Continued)

¥:12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
HER AR EIMAEBEEE Debtor with higher credit risk due to
BB EBHA default of payment schedule
FRE&E Gross carrying amount 101,474 89,570
TR E R R Expected loss rate 51.5% 20.5%
EiERE Loss allowance provision (52,289) (18,381)
PEANE KM B BN EED Debtors with significant financial
BBA difficulties or enter bankruptcy
FREAE Gross carrying amount 37,817 37,782
TEEIEE X Expected loss rate 99.9% 100.0%
EiERE Loss allowance provision (37,804) (37,782)
H b & W kI8 Other receivables
AEB R VIR ERE M R U HIRRE BE The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
AR UERESREPEFEESE recognition of other receivables and whether there has been a

EERRETREILN - RFEEERR
ERBERM AEESAREENHS
BRI RN VaTER A IR EZ O RR
f ﬁ%ﬁ‘[ﬁﬁ’aﬁ’]é\ﬁfﬁﬂfﬂiﬁiﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁ
BN - AEEME - MANXTEIBEER:

e REEEFK
o IMNEREERA
s X% EM‘“&%@%‘#%E’J?%&%H}%

EXTHNES) - LEFEHEEREH
ABITEERS ﬁﬁfﬁiﬁ&

significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating

° external credit rating

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligations
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(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 HBERMEER®
3.1 MBEEEER®)
(b) 1SEmEME %)

(i) 2REERMEH)

Y CeAC)
. EHARPBRANERIEHEA
28

c BEANBHERRATANEAS
B - I EB AL FOR RSB

TREERAEEHEARWEANER T

BERELREEFEERAD XRHRE R
ERFEARNZBEWBERELERFEIHRA
MEREMRR - EARZEFRE MRS
FEER  XRFIBEREREREFAE
ZRIf ERIRSREVRRENR
17 MERBIOBEBEBEL TERX - 17
AEAZBENBRREEBEBERFE/E &
RIBITHENRREBRHRITEEITHE
BHHSRERE  MUBIHREERE -

AEBEREI12EABRABETEZREH
BHERTE (BT ENEERAREER
[\ f R 75 BB & R A0 1 5E ) AT A L A e UK
ANRHEREER -

Rt EEMEUERENEREEEE  E
SRR ERBAREERRSHOA -

ERRERBENRUGKERBINR SR
H 48 R R[] s AL 3R 4 P B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

° actual or expected significant changes in the financial
situation of the debtor

° significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the payment
status of debtor

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.

While cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and time
deposits are also subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial since
those cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and time
deposits are deposited to reputable banks with good credit
rating and low risk of default. The expected credit losses of
bank acceptance notes are assessed to be low, and no loss
allowance provision is made as banks have a low risk of default
and are expected to meet its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group has assessed that the expected credit losses for
other receivables under the 12 months expected losses method
or lifetime expected losses method, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit initial
recognition.

risk since

To measure the expected credit losses of other receivables,
other receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics.

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised
were written off against the provision when there was no
expectation of recovering additional cash.
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(b) EEEE &) (b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) ERBEEHR (iff)

BHEE BHEWFIE(BEEKREXR
R ¥EENEE) R H b B FRIE R 2024
F12 A1 BN EEREREFIBERE
HERIT

Loss allowance provision reconciliation
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance provision for
contract assets, trade receivables (including accounts receivable,
commercial acceptance notes) and other receivables reconciles
to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

ESEKRE BHEE HibEKRE Ry
Other
Trade receivables Contract assets receivables Total
SRAE {5 2% 4 SRAE {5 2% 4
Collective Individual ~ Collective Individual
assessment assessment assessment assessment
R2024F1 A1 BEFAEEER Opening loss allowance as at
1 January 2024 20,733 55,495 1,819 668 971 79,686
RE Addition 3,881 33,110 2,882 820 - 40,693
AERERE Reversal of allowance for
impairment - - - - (20) (20)
1R2024F12 A31 A K Closing loss allowance as at
FREBERE 31 December 2024 24,614 88,605 4,701 1,488 951 120,359
R2023F1 A1 BEFAEEAER Opening loss allowance as at
1 January 2023 16,521 37,760 1,306 — 467 56,054
RE Addition 4,437 17,735 513 668 504 23,857
8 7 AT Uk e A B M EROE Receivables written off as
uncollectible (225) — - — - (225)
7R2023F 12 A31 A Closing loss allowance as at
FREERE 31 December 2023 20,733 55,495 1,819 668 971 79,686
(c) HENE2/EE (c) Liquidity risk

AREBBEBTTORS KA S SER
5 ABRERRDE SRR - f AR
$HEHBRIE  ARBEERBRSR
HETEMRERALEEBERERES
WAl -

The Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate amount
of cash and cash equivalents.
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3 UHBRKRERE®

3.1 HBRERERE(E)

(c) REELEMEZ)
TERBERGEEEABRRABEESNE
HENRGEESAEERNIETESRE
BE D= MBI AR - REWEN ST
BAEXRMIBEESRE -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continueq)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the consolidated balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

1T

Less than 1 year

®20245%E12H31H
B 5 K E e FRIE (BEEG)

®2023%£12H31H
B 5 K E b RIE (B EE))

(i) TEEEMEMABER BNEERILEERE
s

3.2 EFXER
AEEEBEANBEREERERAEERF
BEEmEn UARRRHEHREAH
T EREFZ  THEBEREEALEE
LA PR K & AR AN o

AEBNERAEBEIZERERE /AR
SHAEERGEE  AEREREELRELE
MARBLMFRERNERTRRE o

REFRABELRERE  AREAHREIKR
NFERROBEEHE MEREEERN
BITHBD B EEENRDET

At 31 December 2024

Trade and other payables (note (i) 168,154
At 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables (note (i) 182,366

(i) Excluding other taxes payables, employee benefits payables and provision for
quality warranty expenses.

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

returns for shareholders and benefits for other

The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of equity. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group will
consider the macro-economic conditions and adequacy of cash
flows generating from operations.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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3 UHBRKRERE®

3.3 AF{EME
BRAVEIENESR I BB TRNGE
FARTE - ZEHENENEABEATF
BEEFADAELAT=ZTEEH :

o HABEXRABEZRTBORE
(FERE)(E—BR) -

e KEIRNFEHRNBEIN  BEEX
BEMNAERER (BB HHEE
(MHEREESH BAB(F =B
)

o WHERABRMSBBOEEXR
ERBEAE (BN TABREAE) (F
=B -

BOTEERMT AN AEEHEMEREE
(BRESMEMBKFIE - RGBS
ERGEFIAMRE RBECFEER) ME
HeaE(BRES REMEMNFTIBARE
SOBUBREHR  wEAKRAEREAFE
HE e

4 FASEE T AR R FVE

EET RAE RBBELRMAEMEAR (B
REBRBRATHRREHARAR/AEN
BH) (ER R -

AEEERREL AR RFE - B2 R

2 REMARI RO ERBEEERGER - T
Ml R A e RN MEAT BRERANHE
ElBEREEELERNFHRNGET LR

% o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured by
different valuation methods. The inputs to valuation methods are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy, as
follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level
2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
3).

Other than the derivative financial instruments, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s other financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, restricted cash, time deposits and cash
and cash equivalents) and short-term liabilities (including trade
and other payables and borrowings) approximate their fair values
due to their short-term maturities.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.
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4 FASEFH ST R FIET 5

() EHMEERESHEWRIFRE
BREENE S REFABBBEEIIERN
BREEVERMARBEXRNRE - AK
ERELZERRIERREFTENTHA
BN REXFPHMBEELECE  FEAF
- MBI REERPERENNEAM
B = {1 B

AEBEGNEENE S ERGIAR2024F
202312 A31 BB R ®EE 2 BI A W 5+
18 K Mt sk 19 & -

(b) EHAREBEFRSEHR
ETHEHEBEAELERAE -RAS
EBBRET  TERIRAENRIKERT
HEEHTE - Wz E BN KRG
HBYMARNSETR  MAEBEEEEY
ZEHBBAETHHEMNAER KRR
B -

EETERUZRENINABEARNELT
MEBEEINERERR/ARKRALEE
eR A A LA B R B M RS TR B 1R RS
FERR - InTREIE R R KA AR - AIA
AERSTEGHATEERNMEMEN
BERBRBARNER

(c) HEHE
AEERBHEE R RN FENRETE X
BEXGTERGHKAEAER FEMEM
MEEEIIR - AREREFEREE
BN ER A RBUFEBERLRE
AAEEERRFELEMENR ERFE
EREGPTARRXNEEMES  HoiF
ERESEE MR D

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)
(@) Impairment of contract assets and trade receivables
The loss allowance for contract assets and trade receivables is
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the historical settlement records, credit ratings, financial positions
of the customers and other factors that impacted their ability of
repayment.

The carrying amounts of contract assets and trade receivables of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were disclosed in
note 18 and note 19.

(b) Current and deferred income taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income tax. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management considers to be
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of income tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(c) Allowance for inventories

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of inventories at each
balance sheet date to determine whether the inventories are
carried at lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group
estimates the net realisable value of each inventory, based on its
estimated selling price less additional costs to sell and historical
experience on similar inventory. Any change in the assumptions
used in making the estimates would increase or decrease the
amount of allowance of inventories.
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4 FASEFH ST R FIET 5

(d) #HEHEMEREE

AEBREEMERRN FEREEXNEARE
THREEFEFFELENE - ARER
BRI AR MSERREHEEREN
B ET AR Bt R EBEEKA  (F
M RARANBRRIOBERNES - &
FHEMENBRBS BB SIEMIORD -

5 WA

W\ R AT BUR

W ARE R R ENATEENE
SR FT U EE Y O E BGR IR S0 - R
ERBERENRE EAEEFEEY
BHEATREEGRER  AEBEERK
A AEBRBEHLBELR KRB
LN L LS BB b A0k =2 L (e
it o

(a) ERBHEHE
AEBETERELEENMBEE —RIHHAE
mAEERNREREE - E8mA0EHIE
BEEBEEREF AAREN)RNERTE
F:@@rERRERRSHED (HHEESLD
BURE)  RQEFEREFREEYE
R E M RBEITEER (AREE RE) -
AEBEERAHEREMSTRA - KEE
REFEREGTRECRELRRIENEST
RSB E (FF2RKE28) -

(b) HEHMA
BREMEMRSBRAZBRAERENGES
Ui 25 R FERR ©

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(d) Allowance for properties held for sale

The Group measures properties held for sale at the lower of

carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell. The Group

estimates the fair value less costs to sell, based on comparable

market prices and its estimated costs directly attributable to the

disposal. Any change in the assumptions used in making the

estimates would increase or decrease the amount of allowance

of properties held for sale.

5 REVENUE

Accounting policy of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
The Group bases its estimates on historical experience, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction
and the specification of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of a range of equipment for steel wire production lines and
standalone machineries. Revenue from sales of equipment is
recognised when the control of the goods has been transferred
to the customer, which is usually upon the later of (1) delivery of
products to the customer; (2) completion of the installation and
on-site testing (if required in the sale contract); and (3) the
acceptance by the customer of the equipment without any
further unfulfilled obligation. The Group’s obligation to repair or
replace faulty products under the standard warranty terms is
recognised as a provision (see note 28).

(b) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.
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BREBEEOGBR  AEEHREEMREFHE
BEABEMIRBEAR SN2 HAE
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ENREREEAZREMNRZER -

(d) BHEERSHERE
HEFIIVANE AEEERERER
XN E  UTERERATFEEERN
REBRBHBEBOET -ZFENGESRED
REEEMELEEFEKAEFE  HUR
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IS H AR A R B AR
BHEME RIGNBEE  LER/AEHN
BE -R2 WitESENRSRENEE
BB EFLORSRETE  AENEBR
B UERSANARE -

EAKBEKEOE TELERRAEN
EREEN  AEBEARRANEE - K
SENANEETZERENRERER
L EEREMABIMNENEERRBRIEK
BNEMEERIE -
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E - IBRERRECAEERBRE—
MRS EE - WIRM BB HHRRK -

5 REVENUE (Continued)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition (Continued)

(c) Financing components

The Group does not have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year
according to contractual terms. As a consequence, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value
of money.

(d) Contract asset and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide
services to the customer. The combination of those rights and
performance obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining rights and
the performance obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
rights exceeds the measure of the remaining performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability and recognised
as contract liabilities if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining
rights.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation but does not
have an unconditional right to consideration, the Group should
recognise a contract asset. The contract assets of the Group are
mainly composed of product quality warranty to be billed upon
expiry of warranty period and no material quality deficiency of
the product is identified.

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company. The CODM regards
the Group’s business as a single operating segment and reviews
the financial statements accordingly.
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Nn (Continued)

(d) Contract asset and contract liabilities (Continued)

The Group is principally engaged in the ma
of a range of equipment for manufacturing

nufacturing and sale
steel wire products

and leasing. Revenue from sales of goods and rental income for

BRARBESKWALT : the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:
HBZE12A318LLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
GERIEEHE Sales of production lines
— ERERMAEER — Brass electroplating wire
production lines 98,962 52,472
— EMAEER — Other production lines 21,055 8,711
BIEER Sales of standalone machines 376,147 233,758
H SRl - THHREMSH  Sales of other mould repairing
iR equipment, component parts and
accessories 15,107 13,624
el A Rental income 4,748 4,700
516,019 313,265
Yo A e 58 B [ Timing of revenue recognition
— R—BREER — Over time 4,748 4,700
— RE KB — At a point in time 511,271 308,565
516,019 313,265

7
/'//,

w

151



152

7
4,
%,

W

BHEBRNENBEBROBERLF

WUXI SUNLIT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

FEVBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRIFSEEHA  TRMELBEHUARE T IR

5 WA @

GEX

HE2024F 1 2023F 12 A31 B ILFE - AEAAKARNM
HERGT

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5 REVENUE (continued)

Notes:

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the geographical information on the
total revenue is as follows:

HE12A1HILEEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
WA Revenue
— FE — PRC 468,626 312,100
— Hi — Others 47,393 1,165
516,019 313,265

AEEHRARAUTHINERS  ZERFEAA/AN
EFHRAI0%A L ©

The Group’s revenues were derived from the following external customers that
individually contributed more than 10% of the Group’s revenues.

BE12A1HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AAJA Company A 394,481 217,391
A AB Company B 77,195 42,524
~RIC Company C EAN/A 31,777
1. HE2024F12 A31 B IEFE - HEKAL G 1. The corresponding revenue during the year ended 31 December 2024 did not

EE AR A10%K A L o

contribute 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

aHaE Contract liabilities
() AEEECHRATEEFELHEBEN (i)  The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
B8E: contracts with customers:
$12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
BB E Contract liabilities
— BERHEEMENK — Advance payments from sales of
standalone machines 89,614 93,166
— AERESENTBENK — Advance payments from sales of
production lines 78,572 59,745
— HAaEERE  TEHFK — Advance payments from sales of
Bic 14 85 65 BB B TR 5K other mould repairing equipment,
component parts and accessories 755 1,004
168,941 153,915
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5 WA

aHEE®)

(i) BHEEHEXEE)
REBHNAHNEBBEETERERELMLEE
iR R BRI E R TR K - R2024F 12 A
318 BB EBMEN  THAREAEE
HE2024F12A31ALFEH—FZEE
BEEITRNEREL -

(iii) SBEHIB AR E EB A
TRV TR 7R 5 5 A PR e R 9 W A o B
HEHNBERENEHE -

5 REVENUE (Continued)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

(i) Significant changes in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance
payments from customers in respect of sales of production lines
and standalone machines. As at 31 December 2024, contract
liabilities increased since the Group signed two significant
contracts with a major customer during the year ended
31 December 2024.

(iii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows amount of the revenue recognised in
the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

BB E Contract liabilities
BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
SFAFYIE N B BEEHAE R Revenue recognised that was included in
WA the balance of contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year
— BERIEEEMBENK — Advance payments from sales of
standalone machines 82,616 80,852
— HEEGHEEMNENRK — Advance payments from sales of
production lines 40,228 13,769
— HEERE THHER  — Advance payments from sales of
Bic 14 85 5 K2 89 TR R other mould repairing equipment,
component parts and accessories 759 3,449
123,603 98,070
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6 FHEHISHAX 6 EXPENSES BY NATURE
BE12A318LEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
BRmRERMNEFEEE Changes in inventories of finished goods
and work in progress 25,384 (110,421)
B AR R Raw materials used 293,460 288,546
EERMNAX (i) Employee benefit expenses (note 9) 28,820 27,941
e R Depreciation and amortisation
— TR RE (KY5E13) — Land use rights (note 13) 615 615
— W% - BER&E (7E14) — Property, plant and equipment
(note 14) 9,131 9,053
— BEWE ([HiE15) — Investment properties (note 15) 1,599 1,599
— BREE — Intangible assets 25 39
INERREREGE Outsourced installation fee and
transportation expenses 32,350 19,509
E R TE T 5 Other tax charges 5,063 4,589
BEER Professional fees 2,190 1,736
1% B R B & Auditor’s remuneration
— BZR® — Audit services 1,491 1,491
XEREE Entertainment expenses 2,147 1,999
/N3 Office expenses 3,281 1,347
ZIRAX Travelling expenses 1,624 1,520
EERZE Warranty expenses 3,256 747
FIELEMERERE Allowance for impairment of properties
(fr5E22) held for sale (note 22) 14,147 18,671
GFERERE Allowance for impairment of inventories 2,819 1,589
HiAX Other expenses 5,739 2,590
HEMA - HERXK Total cost of sales, selling expenses
fTEBZ 488 and administrative expenses 433,141 273,160
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7  HipUgA 7 OTHER INCOME
HE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
T BiTF A B A Interest income from time deposits 7,079 —
HEFEINOBREE (M 5T () Value added tax (“VAT”) additional
deduction (note (a)) 1,787 1,719
BT R B (B 5E () Government subsidies (note (b)) 1,156 704
HEBRB Value-added tax (“VAT”) refunds 210 —
10,232 2,423
Mok - Notes:
(@) RIEM R ER - AR R AENR2027F12 A AT (@) According to the relevant tax regulations, the Company was entitled an additional

FIMNER & A E N IR EHAI5% ©

5% deduction of current deductible input VAT until December 2027.

(b) BN EEEAEEEENETEA RHEBEEE (b) Government subsidies mainly represented subsidies for the Group’s intelligent
manufacturing projects and contribution of stabilising staff employment.

TR EEHBERAOMES -

8 Hitulkzm — iFH

8 OTHER GAINS — NET

HE12A31BLLFEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
PE X Yz Foreign exchange gains 1,440 1,120
HEME - BEMRENWKZE Gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 1,311 2,267
BAFESABRENEREER Fair value gains on financial assets at
N EW S FVPL 61 232
HEREMFEN K= Gains on disposal of investment
properties - 5,934
HAh Others 59 (161)
2,871 9,392
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9 REERFMAX
EESEFSTBR
AEBEETZABRRE - BRAEH
TRKREEE -

(a) REHEFE
TERFzRE(BREADRERERMHA
BRI IR A RIZ 1218 A AERAEENIE
EERMERAARE) IRREEEERS
HARNRBER  LixEEARRERTE
PRt E - AENEEABRA
I REHRERERBMAL-

(b) BHEEF
RERFEEIR—ARKEHE > N&E
RiFZTEIXNEEHRR T —EBLNE
B-HESYETWEERMEREN
EHBEHENEERZEEN > A&H
W R S E B EHE — T AT -

FLALTE HARET Sl 5 - A5 B DA o2 I
BHERERET AR AFRLAEEDN
BARESRBETEH K - NEE L HK
% AEE—-THMET HRRXIHE
HAREERMNAX - BANHKMATER
TR AR RKGK - AIERREE -

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
Accounting policy of employee benefits

The Group operates various post-employment schemes,
including defined contribution pension plans.

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognised
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as

current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

(b) Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

HE12A31BLLFEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ITE - #FekBEIEL Wages, salaries and discretionary
bonuses 20,792 20,475
Hitt REK A - FEBFI X Other social security costs, housing
Hibfg BraFl benefits and other employee benefits 5,686 5,130
BRESHRA — REMKETE  Pension costs — defined contribution
plans 2,342 2,336
28,820 27,941
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9 EEwRABEZ @ 9
Mgt - Note:
(a) hAEZ&EEFHAL (a)

HZE2024512A31HLFE  A5EEREZaHFALE
FE=%(2023F : =R)EE ' HEOMES KM F34FT R
K DT RER - FRNEREeAM G (20234 : &) AT

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 include three (2023: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis shown in note 34. The emoluments payable to the remaining

HESMT : two (2028: two) individuals during the year are as follows:
HE12A1HILEEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 2023%F
2024 2023
ITH - $eRIELA Wages, salaries and bonuses 700 696
Hitfg S Other employee benefits 111 104
RIREKA — REMRKGE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 84 84
895 884

HEHEMNFUATRBOALTHAL :

The number of individuals whose emoluments fell within the following bands:

BE12A1BILEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
A Emolument bands
1% 7T 2 500,0005% 7T HK$1 — HK$500,000 1 1
500,001 % 7T % 1,000,000 7T HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 1 1
2 2
10 BAFUA 10 FINANCE INCOME
HBE12A318ILEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
RITH B UL A Bank interest income 1,354 5,963
B IR B S W 5 Amortisation of unearned financial
income 68 75
1,422 6,038
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11 FiRHHX
EHREEFRSHMEHBUR

AERE R PTER R S iR R B RE S RA
HE 5 B 3E B PT S TR AR R ph AN B Pl A PR AR A
WARBNHRIE Mz ke A
B4 =88 R R B) AT IEE B TS| B iR &
HMEEENBEEZSHMELFHE -

(a) ERFEH
EHMEHXHREARBRENRE QR
BERELRRTBWAMENBRRNEE
BERGXEL LEBEMOTETE - &
ERESARBERRBHR G ERE T
EHBROAMR - WHEBRBER MR
HIZR RIS B B TR SR IR 3 4 o

(b) EFEFFiFH
BEMEHRLANABEEINEERAGBHN
BERENGAMBHRERNREEZ BN
EREZHRIELTHER - Al HEL
MABRERVGEAREMES - BT
R -EREMBHEER S (FBEX
BaEM) PNEEREEXREMEL -
MER Z K TFE G K ERT A B NE
B ATk e BEMGSHRAERS
HARAERMACEE LR/M - AFEHN
ERARELHEREENGERELMRF
HBERERNTER (RBE)EE

BIEFTEHREEEN KR A R
TRAUANEEZSEREERLEER
FEwR o

4 =3

SEARRNEREEH TR EEZENE LR
[ - 07 AT E R R R AT RE N & k0 B A 1
Z8 AT EREIXHRENKETER
MEZENEREZERARTEREARG

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Accounting Policy of current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will
temporary differences and losses.

be available to utilise those

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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11 EHEXZ®
EHREEFRSHMESEER (8)

(b) EEZFTFHE (&)
BEAAARBHMITEMNSE BHBREE
HEEEEE BRERBLESRSNRE—H
BHER  RERRAEERAER EHEE
e BERANAIERHIBMITEANETE
#H HEBRNFREREGEEARKERE
ENEEAGR AR EHRRAEEENR
HBEEMREKHE -

EMREEN AN BmER - EEER M
PHNGSRERERSERNABAEE
BRON o« EUER T - IR B EEME
T i 26 X B B A R R R

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Accounting Policy of current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

HE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
EHEHR — PREMEFTSFR Current income tax — PRC corporate
income tax 17,845 10,401
EIEFTIS B (BT 7E20) Deferred income tax (note 20) (10,654) (5,646)
7,191 4,755

RS B 3t H 0 B RS E B8 ) FE AR B UL
ARBBEMEN -

AEEB P EEBE LA RO ETR RS
TRBEREHEEE 2BEREHHFER
EEtERRABRERREMTE

BEPBECEMGHE(THEEMSEN
ED A RRMBEBRACEMBSHEXA
25% ° IRBHEEMETENERER -
RRAFIFERTBEMEEER  UHEE
2024F 12 A3818 IF FEH A15% (2023
F:15%) MK FARMBEMSTE -

CIT is provided on the assessable income of entities within the
Group established in the PRC.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), the Company’s applicable CIT rate is 25%. Under the
relevant regulations of the New CIT Law, the Company was
qualified as High/New Tech Enterprise, and applied a reduced
CIT rate of 15% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
15%).
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11 FifSBiA= @

(b) BEIEFTIZE (&)
BIEFLEMBREEEBRE  F&/MK
EZENDE  HEFHRKAETLE
A R #3,000,0007T H) + $#£25% 1) Bt K
RUTA - W IZ20% ) T K BN 1 ¥ FT 15
o Bl =2024F12A31HIEFE - £
EREARIEARAT (HEREM ) BT
BB N EEHEREBER AR (NTERE N
E)FAENICEER  AIRRATLER
FTS A KBNS R (20234 « REEFT
BRBIEB25%) °

M 20244 » Sunlit (Hong Kong)
International Trade Limited i F3 #9172 A7
B8 /516.5% (20234 : @A) °

RZZA BB RE LR B FIEH
B FREAEEENRESL |
FE SR BRI -

RER A W R AR B IR ATS TS BT
RN EEAERMREMEELENSE L
IR ZERR - RTHERAIT ¢

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Under the relevant regulations of the New CIT Law, for eligible
enterprises which meet the criteria of Small and Micro
Enterprise, the taxable income that is not more than RMB3
million shall be recognised at 25% of income and be subject to
a CIT rate of 20%. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
Wuxi Haisheng Software Technology Co., Ltd. (“Haisheng
Software”) and Jiangsu Sunlit Equipment Technology Co., Ltd
(“Jiangsu Sunlit”) were eligible for Small and Micro Enterprise
and subject to stated preferential income tax rates (2023: CIT
rate of 25%).

The applicable corporate income tax rate for Sunlit (Hong Kong)
International Trade Limited in 2024 is 16.5% (2023: not
applicable).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in these
consolidated financial statements as the Group did not have
assessable profit in Hong Kong for the year.

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the
consolidated income statement and the amount which would
result from applying the enacted tax rate to profit before tax can
be reconciled as follows:

HE12A31BLLFEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
B BT 4% %t 50 F Profit before income tax 56,730 34,101
BEWMBAREANKEERTER Taxation calculated at the applicable tax
HiIE rate for each subsidiary 8,526 6,160
IATEIENFZE Effects of:
o 2% 5 2 MY RE SN RE R Extra deduction allowance for research
and development expenses (1,906) (1,606)
ERELHMEHEENTIIAE Tax losses for which no deferred tax
=] asset was recognised 11 —
BB TERZELESIE Utilisation of temporary difference for
ENTRUEER which no deferred income tax asset
was recognised previously - (73)
AN BL AT 1S AR R Y B 2 Expenses not deductible for income tax
purposes 560 274
FrieBil X Income tax expense 7,191 4,755
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares during the year.

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AN AR R R R E A ) Profit attributable to equity shareholders
(AR®EFT) of the Company (RMB’000) 49,539 29,346
BEITEBERAMNE T Weighted average number of ordinary
(Fm) shares in issue (thousand) 128,000 128,000
BREARKEERA Basic and diluted earnings per share
(AR%5) (RMB cents) 38.70 22.93

B AR QA Rl A20244F 2202312 A31H
WEM A BTEINEEE T L AR - B E
[REERFERTRELRER -

13 HE

HENEHBE

WAREBAEBA  AREENHESEET
HAREEFEHEE BRRAEFEEERE
EEE HEEENEEREBVHRRE
BEEESE -

HEBERRATHEMNKNFRE
A

o ERMNR(BRBEEREMB) BEM
fElHEBE

o HURRE—HBEEMNEWAZHEEN
X RINFLA B B B R R BT

it E

o FEHAKERBEINSKEEERINN

TR

As the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary
shares outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted
earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share.

13 LEASES

Accounting policy of leases

Where the Group is a lessee, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Assets
and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following
lease payments (where applicable):

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable,

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date,

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees,
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13 #H&8w

HEMEFTBR (40

e BEZRERE(EASEAERERT
171) WITEE - &

o  XNRUEBEENSIR(HEBRERA
SETERIEIHERERE)

R A DR OE MR B (e e A
KO AR B E -

HENKEBEERNSHETLARE - K
m/ﬂfﬁ—inﬁ‘i;iﬂ (AEENHEERE
UL R ER) - RE R A AR IE &R
M BERAEAERBEBERE NS
REEERAEEEEBENRENEERES
Rk~ R MIGEEALRE S BN
AR o

ERREERKAGE  BREATEERE:

o BB AN ERAEEN
R BRERERE S A

o EAMBEERAAE: Rk
o  BEMA-

EREEEBRXAEREINEER R
FHNER (UAREERE) AFTE -

AEBEAHAANEERENHEEBA
EHBAAERERERSEA (K FE5)
REREHEMELNRERKAINA
MEEENEREE YRERANRERS
WAHRRMEEEZRSFAX - HEAHEESR
EREEEINAEERER -

13 LEASES (Continued)

Accounting policy of leases (Continued)

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received,

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term (note 5). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. The respective leased
assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature.
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13 & @)

13 LEASES (Continued)

HZEZ12A3181LEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023

EHEESE Right-of-use assets
M1 RA1BENFEIEH Opening balance at 1 January 20,580 21,195
BT W Amortisation charge (615) 615)
N12A31 B ERLEER Closing balance at 31 December 19,965 20,580
»12H31H As at 31 December
B AR Cost 27,913 27,913
25T I Accumulated amortisation (7,948) (7,333)
BREF{E Net book amount 19,965 20,580
B 5 Notes:
(@) AEEMMAFEABEESANUNRTEAN T (@) All the right-of-use assets are land use rights of the Group which are located in

WEME - WRIESMOFMNHEERE -

b) AEETHMERAENBRESTATERAIREE
M 8D Bl A ARKE228,000T kAR
387,0007T °

© AEENEEED

AEBHEETYE HEARH—RRHMZN—
o

14 Y% - BERRE

Y BERRENSTEER

FTEYE - BB KRR ARE £ AR T &
IR - BE XN AR IEEERAKEZEEE
MEERZ WL -

BERAREERAERANEE SR EZ
HEBRBRNRKEEN & - MaxA B &K
AREAISEFAER - T EREAEEENKRA
B ERRBELEE (MER) - LS
MOMREESR IR - TEEMER
AFREEREELNITBIEAREGS K
AR o

Mainland China and are held on leases for 50 years.

(b) Amortisation of the Group’s land use rights were included in the administrative
expenses and cost of sales in the amount of RMB228,000 and RMB387,000,
respectively.

() The Group’s leasing activities

The Group leases out properties, the rental contracts are typically made for
periods of more than one year.

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting policy of property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the consolidated income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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14 Y% - BERRE @
Y% BEERRBENSTEE (&)

W% - S R ROYT B BT S R A
REMAERESERASRELTIHE
EHE
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E 4%

B METRE 3E5%
FENES 5%
EREE 54
BREAREHOFBREBERATIN - Hivdy
¥ BERESENFSREBXARS% -

BEEMNRSREERAERFHESRE B
RETRY  YRNEERAE -

FEEREESNEGFATKREEE - A
AR (B AN OB E FI U Bl & 38 (Pi1EE35.6) ©
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Accounting policy of property,
(Continued)

plant and equipment

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Machinery 10 years
Vehicles 4 years
Computer and electronic equipment 3-5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Interior decoration 5 years

Except that the residual value rate of interior decoration is zero,
the residual value rates of other property, plant and equipment
are 5%.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (note 35.6).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other gains/(losses)” in the consolidated income statement.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation and is
stated at cost less impairment losses. Historical expenditure that
is directly attributable to the construction comprises construction
costs, the cost of plant and machinery and applicable borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to property, plant and equipment categories and
depreciated in accordance with the policy mentioned above.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

ERREF
¥ fes RE BRE BAERE EARE EBIR ct
Computer
and
electronic Office Interior Construction
Buildings  Machinery Vehicles equipment equipment decoration in progress Total
#2023F1R1H At 1 January 2023
A Cost 108,946 23,279 7,702 6,297 2,433 5,460 3,628 157,745
ZEE Accumulated depreciation (42,538) (8,262) (6,317) (6,277) (1,745) (1,898) - (66,037)
EEFE Net book amount 66,408 15,017 1,385 1,020 688 3,562 3,628 91,708
#BF2023E12A31HIEEE  Year ended 31 December 2023
FNEMFE Opening net book amount 66,408 15,017 1,385 1,020 688 3,562 3,628 91,708
AE Additions - 839 - 371 175 686 3,108 5,179
ERATEIR Transfers from construction in
progress 3,845 2,890 - — - 1 (6,736) -
& (HiEs) Disposals (note 8) (1,368) (47) @1) (18) = = = (1,524)
EZH Depreciation charge (4,951) (2,092) (385) (445) (176) (1,004) - (9,053)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 63,934 16,607 909 928 687 3,245 = 86,310
120235 12A318 At 31 December 2023
B Cost 111,423 26,961 7,611 6,650 2,608 6,147 - 161,400
ZEE Accumulated depreciation (47,489) (10,354) (6,702) (5,722) (1,921) (2,902 - (75,090)
EEFE Net book amount 63,934 16,607 909 928 687 3,245 - 86,310
HBF20245E12A31HILEE  Year ended 31 December 2024
FRAFE Opening net book amount 63,934 16,607 909 928 687 3,245 - 86,310
AE Additions - - 40 191 56 - 539 826
ERATEIR Transfers from construction in
progress - 539 - - - - (539) -
& (HiEs) Disposals (note 8) (1,273) (76) (89) ) - - - (1,441)
WESH Depreciation charge (4,891) (2,275) (268) (447) (195) (1,055) - (9,131)
FRERFE Closing net book amount 57,770 14,795 592 669 548 2,190 - 76,564
120245£12A 318 At 31 December 2024
B Cost 110,150 27,424 7,562 6,838 2,664 6,147 - 160,785
ZEE Accumulated depreciation (52,380) (12,629) (6,970) (6,169) (2,116) (3,957) - (84,221)
FmEE Net book amount 57,770 14,795 592 669 548 2,190 - 76,564
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14 Y% - BERRE @
Y% BEERRBENSTEE (&)

FrEXH IR AZEWERNATER

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Accounting policy of property,
(Continued)

plant and equipment

Depreciation charges were included in the following categories in
the consolidated income statement:

HBZE12A318LLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
$HE A Cost of sales 4,051 3,838
THFAX Administrative expenses 5,079 5,215
HERX Selling expenses 1 =
9,131 9,053
15 HEME 15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
BEYENSBR Accounting policy of investment properties

RENMEIEHHEE T MEBFTHEK - T5
RESRUHS WS IIERERNEELM
EREMEE  ARALIFHAAEEER -
BEWMERZAAR R ITE R RETRER
B - REMENEREREAEEM
SHAI 5 A R ER20 E= 50 6 AU 8 EL A R 0 T
EXFE -NEEER  AEESEHNRKR
BEYMENFKEERAIERFY  ARF
BRELEERE - EAEITHNTESRN
IR BB AT AR WK

AEBERMERZEETRTERYES
AZEHREYE - EVEFELTEF
EREVFENERLFEREEENER
B AIRBRLREE - WHREVENHE
BEAGR RIEFHDESYE  BEMRK
e ERNEFRENS EREH N
BEBRNRFEBKSKRA

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group.
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at rates
sufficient to write off their costs over their estimated useful lives
of 20 to 50 vyears. The residual values and useful lives of
investment properties are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate
at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are
included in the consolidated income statement when the
changes arise.

Investment

The Group shall transfer a property to, or from, investment
property, and only when, there is a change in use. A change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the
definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. If an investment property becomes owner
occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment. Its
carrying amount as at the date of reclassification becomes its
cost for subsequent accounting purposes.
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15 #REYME ® 15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
BE12A318LEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023

BRAE At cost

B 1 A1 B FEY 4 Opening balance at 1 January 15,750 20,605

& Disposal - (3,256)

e Depreciation (1,599) (1,599)

12831 BB EKRGEER Closing balance at 31 December 14,151 15,750

#»12A31H At 31 December

DN Cost 36,925 33,751

ZEIE Accumulated depreciation (22,774) (18,001)

iR F{E Net book amount 14,151 15,750

Bt 5 Notes:

(@) REENREDMELRPE - (@  The Group’s investment properties are located in the PRC.

(o) AEEREMEN LA FERBLIEXSEERGEE (o) The fair value of Group’s investment properties is determined by an independent
T I#P REETHARARIKRFETE - NE professional qualified valuer, Jiangsu Zhongtian Assets Appraisal Office Co., Ltd,
EREMENDNTER - HEMEARR(EHE on an annual basis. In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
B)ERMENALRMEBERINBELGEE - ] valuer uses assumptions and estimates that reflect, amongst other factors,
FHEEAMNASBRAURERERTR - mE - comparable market transactions in an active market, rental income from current
BRBEERESBRAENGLEAORKREERS leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of
AR - WEYEAFERNBRAERTHEMH current market conditions, capitalisation rates, terminal yield and reversionary
BERLEET income potential. Valuations were based on income approach and market

approach, and the fair value of the investment properties are as follows:

®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
BEMENAFE Fair value of the investment properties 65,604 62,248

R ENATER  WENES K& In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and

TRERHELERRASZ AEEKREMEN best use of the properties is their current use. The fair value of

AN EERBEZERRFEFEEITTE - the Group’s investment properties was measured on Level 3 fair
value measurement.
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15 HEYE® 15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
MILEMERGEWERERNSENT The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated
income statement for investment properties:

HZEZ12A1BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
a2 WA Rental income 4,748 4,700
EXHESWANEZLEHRS Direct operating expenses that generate
rental income (1,599) (1,599)
3,149 3,101
16 [EBAE 16 SUBSIDIARIES

AT BR2024F12 H31TB B A R A The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2024:
B

EMmAIER R EBT FREHAN IEXBR

AT ETE EEREREN EBEER BAEERZ EEhE
Place of Principal
incorporation Registered/ Ownership activities and
and kind of issued and interest held place of
Name of company legal entity paid-up capital by the group operations
20245 2023%
2024 2023
TR AR 3= hE - BREE AR 100% 100% £ Bl 17 H A 2E
‘A A 5,000,0007% =0
Jiangsu Sunlit the PRC, Limited RMB5,000,000 Machinery products
liability company trading in the PRC
R RE BREE AR 100% 100% FEH Bl #E 1T 8014 F 3
NC] 1,080,0007T NEHENEES
Haisheng Software the PRC, Limited RMB1,080,000 Software development
liability company and software patent
rights trading in the
PRC
Sunlit (Hong Kong) International &% @ BR&EE 800,000/ 7T 100% TEA EEBETERED
Trade Limited (Bff5£(a)) NE] 0E5
Sunlit (Hong Kong) International Hong Kong, HKD800,000 N/A Import and export
Trade Limited (note (a)) Limited liability products trading in
company Hong Kong
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16 MIBAT @
Mgt -

() Sunlit (Hong Kong) International Trade Limited 7%

20247 A0 EEAFMK L AEREERA]
R2024 5 MR FIREE ©

17 FEHEITHEMIR

16 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Note:

(@) Sunlit (Hong Kong) International Trade Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong
as a limited liability company on 30 July 2024 and has not yet started operation
in 2024.

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

®12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234

2024 2023
ERHEE Financial assets
RBERAITENESHEE Financial assets at amortised cost
B 5 & H b e W I8 Trade and other receivables 230,942 318,250
BeNhReFEEHE Cash and cash equivalents 100,313 73,946
3R IE & Restricted cash 76,869 65,053
EHIFE R Time deposits 246,846 107,376
st Total 654,970 564,625

®12A31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234

2024 2023
SRBaE Financial liabilities
REHERETENESREE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B NHEHMERNRE (K@) Trade and other payables (note (a)) 168,154 182,366
MIE - Notes:
(@) TEFEEMEHTIE ENEERIIKEERE (@ Excluding other taxes payables, employee benefits payables and provision for

s B

18 BHIAE

EHEEMERTBR
BREERAKREEMEFEEE MR
BMmAREIMAEZEN SEBZRE
BN SEGN  NEXNRESIHMNRF
ZREERHENRAE  SRNEERSEKR
I - BB ERERM E35PT 88 R &
EHE - 2V REE -

quality warranty expenses.

18 CONTRACT ASSETS

Accounting policy of contract assets

A contract asset is an entity’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer. A contract asset becomes a receivable when the
entity’s right to consideration is unconditional, which is the case
when only the passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due. The impairment of contract assets is
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis set out
in note 35.
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18 BHIEE® 18 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
®12A318
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
BHEE Contract assets
EHEE Contract assets 55,654 36,028
B BB ERBERE Less: allowance for impairment of
contract assets (6,189) (2,487)
EHEE — FE Contract assets — net 49,465 33,541

AHEEREREEREFH(BFTAER Contract assets are due for collection upon the expiry of
PR ERFT1250181E A) &M1& 2 5 product quality warranty period, which is usually 12 or 18
WER o months from the acceptance by the customer of the equipment.

REEEBEREWRERFEBEERAHN Aging analysis based on recognition date of the gross contract

BRER D ATZA T - assets at the respective balance sheet dates are as follows:
®12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
1F A Within 1 year 52,443 33,864
1F A E Over 1 years 3,211 2,164
55,654 36,028
BREENREREZSHNT : Movements of allowance for impairment of contract assets are
as follows:
#E12A31BLLFEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
R1B1BEDNHEER Opening balance as at 1 January 2,487 1,306
BB E R R Net impairment losses 3,702 1,181
12831 BB ERGER Closing balance at 31 December 6,189 2,487
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18 SHIEE
ERENANEERBORT RERE
AGEARBRANEREERANEE
REBETE]  ARERENROLSERS
P T8 B R B2 Uk 1 B8 SN ER & BB

19 BESRHEMEBKRIE
BESRHEMEBKRIENETBIR
BHRKRERERREBBEFRRE D
SEmACRERBERZFRFIE -
85 N EMEYGIRTAMN ER & LB H
Wm - A BARDEE » TRIRIER
BEEZY -

B 5 & EH AL RUGRIR R IR BRI E
SRR EESEAUBHONES R
HAi ERURIBIA R FEER - B 5 N EAM
FEMGRIRE R F A E RN ROX LB KA
R EREE -

{1 5 260 A SR (E A B 5 Ko H At FE MR SR IR B
FREEH R - B S REAMRUEGIR
SRR B VIR BRI AR ERT Y
BN EZEHNE - 85 REMBYK
BREFHE A L2 ROERRENET
MERE  BEENGEERERER -

18 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The creation and release of allowance for impaired contract
assets have been included in “Net impairment losses on financial
and contract assets” in the consolidated income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written
off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounting policy of trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected within one
normal operating cycle, they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. Trade and other receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment.

When the terms of trade and other receivables that would
otherwise be past due or impaired have been renegotiated,
trade and other receivables are remeasured using the revised
effective interest method determined according to the
renegotiated terms and conditions. Any difference between the
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables before and after
the renegotiation is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.
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19 BSRHMEWKRIE @)
B RHEMEKRIEMETBUE (&)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Accounting policy of trade and other receivables (Continued)

»12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
B S eI Trade receivables
JE W AR X (Bt 53X (a)) Accounts receivable (note (a)) 294,087 309,515
R R UK BR FOR B Less: allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable (109,252) (72,835)
JEUWBR K — JFEE Accounts receivable — net 184,835 236,680
A H E B (H5E (o)) Commercial acceptance notes (note (b)) 44,261 61,112
B EEERRERE Less: allowance for impairment of
commercial notes (3,967) (3,393)
EEEAN ZE — E{E (M5 (b)) Commercial acceptance notes — net
(note (b)) 40,294 57,719
RITAN 2K (M5 (b)) Bank acceptance notes (note (b)) 3,981 21,073
B EWIE — F5R Trade receivables — net 229,110 315,472
H fth FE W =R IE Other receivables
H th & R IE Other receivables 2,894 3,928
W RERM KA Less: unearned financial income (111) (179)
B Bt E M GRIR R (B B R Less: allowance for impairment of other
receivables (951) 971)
Hib gl skIE — F58 Other receivables — net 1,832 2,778
230,942 318,250
EMENE Non-current portion 27,516 53,189
TEE D Current portion 203,426 265,061
230,942 318,250
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(BRIERETR BUMEASBROUARETLIIR)

& 5 & H {th FE W R IE ()

MHEEER BERRREMNE  AEBREF
RHPRIBORMEEH - 3L E T HR M REC A
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For sale of production lines, standalone machines and equipment, the Group
grants less than 180 days credit terms to customers. For sale of components
parts and accessories, the Group grants 30 to 90 days credit terms to certain
customers.

(b) ZJS%IE’JFEHSZ S EEERITEALEBRREERR (b) Notes receivable of the Group include bank acceptance notes and commercial
ZE - BERARTEHEFNEAREE - acceptance notes, and are usually settled within six months from the date of
issue.
K2024F12A31H F WEEBKEBREERIEAR As at 31 December 2024, no note receivable was pledged as security for the
EEBEMNEENRER (R2023512A318 : &) - Group’s notes payable (As at 31 December 2023: Ni).
REFHEFEBEREWRFBERR B Aging analysis based on recognition date of gross accounts
BRECOMTIAT receivable at the respective balance sheet dates is as follows:
®12A318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
1F A Within 1 year 130,275 140,739
1226 1-2 years 49,031 42,364
2FE3F 2-3 years 26,868 67,870
3FLAE Over 3 years 87,913 58,542
294,087 309,515
AEEE S REMERFIAMNKREBENRT The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables
FIEHEE - are denominated in the following currencies:
®12A318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR RMB 227,430 316,053
=TT uUsb 3,512 2,197
230,942 318,250
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19 BSRHMEWKRIE @)
EWERTR AL ER N E A EWFRIE

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Movements of allowance for impairment of accounts receivable,

HREREZESHHT commercial acceptance notes, other receivables are as follows:
BE12A31BLFEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
R1B1BEDEER Opening balance as at 1 January 77,199 54,748
BB F R Net impairment losses 36,971 22,676
Hi S8 TS 1] Uk =] Y B Uk SR TE Receivables written off as uncollectible - (225)
®12H 31 B ER R Closing balance at 31 December 114,170 77,199

ELRUE B FE WK IR B ) SR MR R B AT
AFEWBERANIEREERANEE
REEEFRE] - BBERNBNRRE
PR TE HA A BE UK (2] B8 SN R & B K

inal

’

2 5 Ko B ftb & WK IR ) B T 1B 82 2 (B AR

o

of

RBERHEENESEERR) L&
BREENERE ARBYEFBE
] A mEEAR -

The creation and release of allowance for impaired receivables
have been included in “Net impairment losses on financial and
contract assets” in the consolidated income statement. Amounts
charged to the allowance account are generally written off when
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying amounts of each class of receivables mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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iFE 20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS — NET

The analysis of deferred income tax assets is as follows:

®12HA318
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
REFRBHREE : Deferred income tax assets:
— BREBE121E A& Uk E — to be recovered after more than
12 months 22,775 16,139
— B 12{E A RUE — to be recovered within 12 months 7,476 3,533
30,251 19,672
IBEFBRBERE: Deferred income tax liabilities:
— BREBE121E8 A& EN — to be settled after more than
12 months (337) 412)
— BR12ME A RER — to be settled within 12 months (125) (125)
(462) (537)
BEFTBHRHEE — FE Deferred income tax assets — net 29,789 19,135
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20 BEFBHBHEE — FHE®

BEFSHEEZESHWT :

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS — NET

(Continued)

The movement in the deferred income tax assets is as follows:

mERE REBEANE HIER1E Hith st
Allowance
for Unrealised
impairment profit Tax losses Others Total
#2023%E1A1H At 1 January 2023 12,874 157 738 331 14,100
A (F0E) e dzER  Credited/(charged) to the
consolidated income
statement 6,248 (157) (531) 12 5,572
20235128318 At 31 December 2023 19,122 - 207 343 19,672
#202451818 At 1 January 2024 19,122 — 207 343 19,672
SEA(N8) A ER  Credited/(charged) to the
consolidated income
statement 8,526 12 (207) 2,248 10,579
20245128318 At 31 December 2024 27,648 12 - 2,591 30,251
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS — NET

(Continued)

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

The movement on the deferred income tax liabilities is as
follows:

M BER
REINE
M ER
Temporary
differences of
property, plant
and equipment
depreciation

:2023%1A1H

AAARBRER

#2023%£12H31H

®2024%E1H18

AFARBRER

$:2024%12A31H

NEE B R2024FE 12 831 B #Fr A 7] 3K

08B M B RE R AR 1B A B (2023
F: R) °

21 &

EENSETBR

TFER KA N Al 4 “fﬁﬁrﬁﬁﬁ%Z?ﬂi%ﬁJ
Bk o AR INIE A E © B K&
ERHMmOKABERME EE T H
fEEKARBROBZREESR (ER
EHELeEN) - AIREFESNBELE
AER A EERBUER A EIHE
FASC °

At 1 January 2023

(611)

Credited to the consolidated income statement 74
At 31 December 2023 (537)
At 1 January 2024 (5637)
Credited to the consolidated income statement 75
At 31 December 2024 (462)

All of the deductible temporary differences have been recognised
as deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

21 INVENTORIES
Accounting policy of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

w
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21 &%) 21 INVENTORIES (Continued)
®12A318
As at 31 December
20244 2023
2024 2023
R M Raw materials 20,335 44,233
TR m Work in progress 1,067 24,490
SURK i Finished goods 194,004 195,964
X 7 Cost 215,406 264,687
VERERE L] Allowance for impairment (7,163) (4,347)
R FRE Net book amount 208,243 260,340

HZE2024F12A31B I FE - BR AN
SWHATHERN N NEFEEXEANBAR
¥ 357,269,0007T (2023F : AR
199,223,0007T) * EFR BREFERERE
AR #¥2,819,0007T (20234 : AR
1,589,0007T) ' AREAARKEE HEHEA
B n 2 BRE A R % 3,0007T (20234 ¢
AR #824,0007T) °

22 FHIEHEYXE

FIEH EYEETBE
FIELEMEEREEESEAFERIESEK
AWEFHREETR - WEXABIEY
EEEREBRA - AFERHERATIE
= BT HA A W EY A 85 & B 4% R0 E B A (AT
HEXREBERE °

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of inventories
recognised as expense and included in “Cost of sales”
amounted to approximately RMB357,269,000 (20283:
RMB199,223,000), which included the allowance for impairment
of inventories of RMB2,819,000 (2023: RMB1,589,000) and
reversal of impairment of RMB3,000 (2023: RMB824,000) as the
Group sold the relevant goods.

22 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Accounting policy of properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amounts and fair value less costs to sell. Cost of properties
comprises acquisition costs attributable to the properties. Fair
value less costs to sell is determined taking into account the
selling price expected to be received, less applicable estimated
costs of disposal.
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22 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

R1A1HENELR Opening balance at 1 January 22,977 43,554

nE Addition - 130

& Disposals (390) (2,036)

Ve RIEREL] Allowance for impairment (14,147) (18,671)

12831 BB EKRGEER Closing balance at 31 December 8,440 22,977
®12HA31H At 31 December

DN Cost 51,801 52,669

VKRR Allowance for impairment (43,361) (29,692)

iR F{E Net book amount 8,440 22,977

20184 » RAFIMILRBBFEHEME
ERARI(TER D BERBEILRERET
2R F) 2 B P BE 269 5% R EIEE W 166 B (X £
([ZEWME]) BREAEARK
74,349,0007C - ZEMEHRED BB Y
HILRBRMERAER AR (RAAEF
FREINBB AR BERARANEEN
REBSENFAIZN - AEBBM B EZ
EWE Rt  EREEBRRRBELE
Y% - R2024F12A318 » AR RHFE
EH117E (2023512 A31H : 119E) »

H E2024F 128318 ERNZEWERN
MERE  AQRREBEIRGFHEER
REERAEA FRBERBEARYE
14,147,0007C °

In 2018, the Company acquired from Shandong Snton Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd (the “Vendor”) 166 residential units
of Tong Xing Garden at No. 269 Guangxing Road, Kenli District,
Dongying City, Shandong Province, the PRC (the “Properties”) at
an aggregate consideration of RMB74,349,000. The
consideration for the Properties has been settled by way of
setting off the same outstanding amount owed to the Company
by Shandong Snton Steelcord Co., Ltd., which is a customer of
the Company and a related company of the Vendor. The
Group’s intention is to sell these Properties and, accordingly,
such assets are recognised as properties held for sale. At
31 December 2024, the Company held 117 such units
(81 December 2023: 119 units).

As at 31 December 2024, considering the decrease in market
price of such properties, the Company provided allowance of
impairment amounting to RMB14,147,000, based on recent
estimated selling price and cost to sale.
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24 HERBITER
RERBITERBOETBUIR
ReMRTEKERAT LA FER
B ERFAMZRERE EEARER
EXp ReRkBReFEREBREEFR
T RITEMER RER=(EAXNUA
AP EBERSRANERE - EHEK
ETREVNTRYH=ZEANLEIR—FH
RITFER - X RORTEFFALS
BEEABRANIARGBIRE] -

23 FEMRIE 23 PREPAYMENTS
®128318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
FREE R MR A TR 508 Prepayments for purchase of raw
materials 322 5,693
WER L EMTRIBEBNTESFIE  Prepayments for value added tax and
other taxes 1,578 71
1,900 5,764

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Accounting policy of cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances includes cash and cash equivalents,
time deposits and restricted cash. In the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Time
deposits mainly refers to the bank deposits with initial term of
over three months but within one year. Bank deposits which are
restricted to use are included in “restricted cash” of the
consolidated balance sheet.

®12A318

As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
IRITRFHEIAS Cash at bank and on hand 100,313 73,946
|ITER Bank deposits 323,715 172,429
424,028 246,375
B ZBRHIRE (M5 @) Less: Restricted cash (note (a)) (76,869) (65,053)
B TE BRTE 3k (P 5 (b)) Less: Time deposits (note (b)) (246,846) (107,376)
HekReZEEE Cash and cash equivalents 100,313 73,946
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24 HERIRITEHER )
AREEMESEBESEEEE  THER
IR AERHESIATIERE

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and
restricted cash are denominated in the following currencies:

®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR RMB 323,571 166,337
e UsD 98,848 80,032
BT HKD 1,609 6
424,028 246,375
B 5E - Notes:

@ BEE-—EMBEFILNRE FAEEEZEP
RERESANFERTENEBNR - Fit - K
SECHETHRSER TR EPLREELER
HERER  FPREFEENELHESEN10%
PR BB G AR R AR o

b) THERVEAEEIEAUNELEBEIFUT - EH
TFRMR2024F12 A1 BN MEFHERFER AT
F2.90% (2023F 12318 : BF4.27%) °

25 RRA BBz i (B

BRAE ST BUR

BRR DB AR o MBITH K ERE
ERAANEBENSN  RESAIIBHE
SRR IR (FIRBIR) ©

(a) Pursuant to an agreement with a customer, the Group received cash advance
from the customer as first installment of the order. Accordingly, the Group
pledged certain cash and issued letter of guarantee with amounts equivalent to
10% of the contract amount, to the customer as security, such letter of
guarantee will be released upon delivery of the goods.

(b) The initial term of time deposits was over 3 months and less than 1 year. The
weighted average effective interest rate of time deposits as at 31 December
2024 was 2.90% per annum (31 December 2023: 4.27% per annum).

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
Accounting policy of share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

BT
van g 4= &S B 153 itk (B #st
Number of
issued Share Share
shares capital premium Total
(A&)
(shares)
12024 £ % 20235 At 1 January 2024 and
1A1H 2023 128,000,000 128,000 311,464 439,464
1220245 % 2023 5 At 31 December 2024 and
12A31H 2023 128,000,000 128,000 311,464 439,464
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26 REEH

(Allamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26 RETAINED EARNINGS

AR®BTR
RMB’000
#2023%FE1HA1H At 1 January 2023 148,869
F AR Profit for the year 29,346
EEEATERE (HiE27@) Transfer to statutory reserves (note 27(a)) (5,358)
TR EEFEE (fzE27(0)) Net movement of safety fund (note 27(b)) (1,034)
EEIRRE (K5E29) Dividend declared (note 29) (10,240)
#2023%F12H31H At 31 December 2023 161,583
202441818 At 1 January 2024 161,583
FAFH Profit for the year 49,539
EEEATERKE (HiE27@) Transfer to statutory reserves (note 27(a)) (4,925)
T2 EFEE (M:E27(b) Net movement of safety fund (note 27(b)) (1,639)
BEEIRR S (K5E29) Dividend declared (note 29) (10,240)
20244128318 At 31 December 2024 194,318
27 f#fs 27 RESERVES
BERAE AEHE SHHE st
Capital Statutory Special
reserves  reserves  reserves Total
®2023%FE1A1H8 At 1 January 2023 17,637 38,879 9,766 66,282
L2 B ek ik Transfer to statutory reserves
(M3t (@) (note (a)) — 5,358 - 5,358
ZEELFEH Net movement of safety fund
(P &E (0)) (note (b)) — — 1,034 1,034
1 2023E12H31H At 31 December 2023 17,637 44 237 10,800 72,674
"2024%E1818 At 1 January 2024 17,637 44,237 10,800 72,674
ERELATERE Transfer to statutory reserves
(FF7E(a)) (note (a)) — 4,925 - 4,925
ZEELFEH Net movement of safety fund
(M EE (b)) (note (b)) - - 1,639 1,639
”12024E12H31H At 31 December 2024 17,637 49,162 12,439 79,238
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27

CEE

(@) R IR A B AR RA A 1R RO AR DA R pA AP B B 37 0 P
ARI((PRESETE])MMAKERRMA - FEE
i?@f%’ﬁﬁ—ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁiiﬁﬁ1§E’J¢ﬁ@ﬂ(Hz

BT ERIE T ) #910% 1 2 Ik (T {a] 45 F1) 317 83 48
i?ﬁi BRAESR - BAETBBRABENEHRE
FhEEEEREEMERNS0% - AT ARREIE
TRE Rl — RO B o

(b) ﬁ#li££iéggmﬁ@%#mﬂ¢ﬁﬁm
ETER BHOSEERERBRANETAES
m%ﬁyﬁgﬁ ZEE DA R B AR B
Z%2 BRABERREDIK - REALZE2MAX
% SEREECERSEFEZRERT -

28 BHRHMEMRIE

B EMARIENEBUR
BHRNFIBEERTEEBBIEPRHE
HMEEEmARBONKEE - NE %FE
NRBEE-FHANIE - BIDBRRE
BE RALERBEERZY -

BHERNRBRAFENGBER
AEBRMNERIREHXAGE -

Hgx

27 RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the Articles
of Association of the Company and subsidiaries established in the PRC
(collectively, the “PRC Operational Entities”), the PRC Operational Entities are
required to appropriate 10% of their annual net profit, after offsetting any prior
years’ losses as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve fund before distributing any net profit. When the
balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC Operational Entities, any further transfer is at the discretion of
shareholders.

(b) Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State of Administration of Work
Safety in 2022, certain group entities are required to set aside an amount to a
safety fund at certain percentage of revenue. The fund can be used for
improvement of safety for machinery manufacturing, and is not available for
distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring safety expenditure, an equivalent
amount is transferred from safety fund to retained earnings.

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accounting policy of trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

»12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
FERT IR (M5 (D) Notes payable (note (b)) 88,033 98,502
B 5 A IE (M 5E@) Trade payables (note (a)) 71,601 77,208
H b e IR Other taxes payables 723 7,217
HEPHNESERES Quality warranty deposits from suppliers 2,835 3,470
EftE BRR 7 Employee benefits payables 2,680 3,235
Y - B MEREREFKIE  Payables for property, plant and
equipment 923 504
EERTAZEE Provision for quality warranty expenses 3,489 463
Hitb Others 4,762 2,682
175,046 193,281
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28 BESRHMEMRIE &

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

B 5 Notes:
(@) B REMNRENRRDTAT ¢ (@) Aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:
®12A318
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
1457 Within 1 year 63,832 71,548
1ZE24F 1-2 years 6,377 5,571
2F A Over 2 years 1,392 89
71,601 77,208
(b) FEN SRR AMRITE IR S FRIEER (5E24) - (o)  The notes payable are secured by pledge of cash deposits to banks (note 24).

29 R
MELE2023F 12831 ILFEFRAR
#0.087C « %8 A AR 10,240,0007T &)
REIRE B E1R2024F 6 A26 H £ 1THIAR R
BFERG FERREAL A - 2023F H) R HAMK
BB R2024F7 198 KT ©

ARRESERRTRMEE20245F12 A
S1HIEFEERARK0OST BAA
K ¥10,240,000 TR R AR B - MR FER
WABRRREBBE BBREEFRER
20256 H27T HEB{THRFRBF A it
JE °

29 DIVIDENDS

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023 of RMBO0.08 per share, amounting to RMB10,240,000 was
approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
held on 26 June 2024. The final dividend of 2023 has been
paid on 19 July 2024.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2024 of RMBO0.08 per share, amounting to RMB10,240,000 has
been proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company but
not recognised as a liability at year end. The proposed dividend
is subject to the approval by the shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 27 June 2025.
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30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
@ BRAASHANBRESAERSNY (a) Reconciliations of profit before income tax to cash generated

R : from operations were as follow:
BE12A31BLLFEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
B& B 15 %1 i # F Profit before income tax 56,730 34,101
RATSBEELFE : Adjustments for:
— FrEREH — Depreciation and amortisation 11,370 11,306
— ERZKIBREHNEE — Net allowance for impairment of
BB F R receivables and contract assets 40,673 23,857
— FERERE (M:E21) — Alowance for impairment of inventories
(note 21) 2,819 1,689
— BIEREMERERE — Alowance for impairment of properties
(Fft5E22) held for sale (note 22) 14,147 18,671
— RERI U A IE — Amortisation of unearned financial income
(FF7E10) (note 10) (68) (75)
— HEWE WMENEME — Gans on disposal of property, plant and
Wz (H7E8) equipment (note 8) (1,311) (2,267)
— HEREMERKTR — Gains on disposal of investment
(FF7E8) properties (note 8) - (5,934)
— BRI — Finance income (7,079) (2,450)
— BATFEFABRY — Fair value gains on financial assets at fair
TRMEEMNRFER S value through profit or loss (note 8)
(Mg3E8) (61) (232)
— B e (EE8) — Foreign exchange gains (note 8) (1,440) (1,120)
LESEHHIMELZFME: Operating profit before changes in
working capital: 115,780 77,446
BESSEH Changes in working capital
- kB — Inventories 49,278 (65,455)
— FHIEHEYHE — Properties held for sale 390 1,905
— FEfTFRIR — Prepayments 3,864 6,237
— AHNEBE EH5RHM — Contract assets, trade and other
& W kI8 receivables 30,861 (112,671)
— XRHRE — Restricted cash (11,816) 44,115
— B RHEMEMNFRIE — Trade and other payables (18,654) 23,118
— EWEE — Contract liabilities 15,026 36,501
EZEmRBR: Cash generated from operations 184,729 11,196
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30 BEMRBHRZ2® 30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(Continued)
b) REEEHESRERA - HEWE WK (o) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
B REHENFTSRIBEEE disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:
BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023

BEHEME  BE MRENE® Net book amount of the property, plant

FE and equipment disposed 1,441 1,524
HEME WMENLZENIWZ Gans on disposal of property, plant and
FEE (FPEES) equipment, net (note 8) 1,311 2,267

EEYE  BENREFTBIIE Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment 2,752 3,791
€ REARBEELEREBRAN HEREWE () In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
RS R IE BT disposal of investment properties comprise:
BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023

EHEREYENERE®RFE Net book amount of the investment

properties disposed - 3,256
HEREYMFEN K FRE Gains on disposal of investment

properties, net - 5,934
HEREMEMERIEA Proceeds from disposal of investment

properties — 9,190
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31 BXREIE 31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
REFEMBHREARN - EFTHNERBENE Capital expenditures contracted and not provided for in the
NS N consolidated financial statements are as follows:

®12A318

As at 31 December
20244 20234

2024 2023
N & Property, plant and equipment 662 2,535
32 FEEARS 32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

REBBRRERAEAE  RE®REERKEF The Group is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang Degang,
B+ & EEH - K FER2024512 A 31 Mr. Zhang Degiang and Ms. Zhang Jinghua, who collectively
B F#F B AR A160.34% KA #E o held 60.34% equity interest in the Company as at

31 December 2024.

H £2024F &2023F 128318 L FE - During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
AEBEWEERB T ETERNERRS © significant transaction has been carried out between the Group

and related parties.

(a) FEEHEBHE (a) Key management compensation
FTEEBEERRES EEhafER Key management includes directors, supervisors and senior
o B £ 20244 K2023F12 A31H 1L F management. The key management compensation for the years
ENTZEEEERMERIIWOT : ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out as below:
HE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
FTEEEE/HE Key management compensation
— I& - HaeRkiEa —Wages, salaries and bonuses 2,399 2,326
— B MR IKE — Welfare and pension 571 550
2,970 2,876
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33 XATIMEBEERBRREEEE 33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

AATIMEEBER Balance sheet of the Company
®128318
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
&aE ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 19,965 20,580
e Property, plant and equipment 75,552 83,558
A Investment properties 14,151 15,750
RELEWE Properties held for sale 7,863 14,489
B AE Intangible assets 77 102
KRB R ARIRE Investments in subsidiaries 26,353 24,719
B 5 N H bW s E Trade and other receivables 27,516 53,189
RILFTSFiEE — B/ Deferred income tax assets
— net 24,961 13,994
196,438 226,381
RENEE Current assets
BE Inventories 208,324 260,340
BIEHEWE Properties held for sale 577 8,489
SEENE O] Prepayments 1,868 5,690
BREE Contract assets 49,465 33,541
B 5 N H b e W sk IE Trade and other receivables 203,147 256,883
3R HIIE & Restricted cash 76,869 65,053
T BiTF K Time deposits 246,846 107,376
HekReEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 95,596 71,191
882,692 808,563
AESE Total assets 1,079,130 1,034,944
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33 XATIMEBEERBRREEEE 33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

(&) OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
XATMEEERERH) Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)
®12A318
As at 31 December
M aE 2024 % 2023
Note 2024 2023
i EQUITY
fi& 7% Share capital 128,000 128,000
f&% 1 ) (B Share premium 311,464 311,464
i Reserves (Bt 5E ()
(Note (a)) 96,626 90,062
REAEF Retained earnings (M (@)
(Note (a)) 149,231 119,098
W 4B Total equity 685,321 648,624
BfE LIABILITIES
RENAE Current liabilities
B 5 REMENKIE Trade and other payables 202,722 214,730
AHEE Contract liabilities 184,530 163,382
EHMEHARE Current income tax liabilities 6,557 8,208
f& Borrowings — _
393,809 386,320
BEQE Total liabilities 393,809 386,320
HEREEEHE Total equity and liabilities 1,079,130 1,034,944

RAARIMEEBRBEREN202543H28H The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the board

BESSHE  YHUTATIRERES of directors on 28 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf:
SR £ A R B 5H
Zhang Degang Zhang Deqiang
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33 AATIWMESEEBERRHEEE 33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
(&) OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

FATWMBEEER B

fizE(a) AATIHIFEEEED

Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)
Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

BERAE ZEME RHERE HEEE KR2EH
Capital Statutory Special Total Retained
reserves reserves reserves reserves earnings
220231818 At 1 January 2023 38,065 35,839 9,766 83,670 113,074
FAH Profit for the year - - — — 22,656
BREEEATEHE Transfer to statutory
reserves — 5,358 — 5,358 (5,358)
ZEESFEH Net movement of safety
fund — — 1,034 1,034 (1,034)
EEIRKRE Dividend declared — — — —  (10,240)
#2023%FE12A31H At 31 December 2023 38,065 41,197 10,800 90,062 119,098
2202451818 At 1 January 2024 38,065 41,197 10,800 90,062 119,098
FAHE Profit for the year - - - - 46,937
B EETERE Transfer to statutory
reserves - 4,925 — 4,925 (4,925)
T2 ERFE Net movement of safety
fund - - 1,639 1,639 (1,639)
BEEIKRE Dividend declared - - - —  (10,240)
122024% 128318 At 31 December 2024 38,065 46,122 12,439 96,626 149,231
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34 EERESEHRER 34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS
(a) EEREBEMNME (a) Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments
BEENEEHE2024F12A318 L5 The remuneration of every director and supervisor for the year
ERFMEIN AT - ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
BHRERE
- REMR 2R
2 e s BT HEl EYEH @t
Pension
costs —

defined Allowances
Discretionary contribution and benefits

Name Fees  Salaries bonus plans in kind Total
BITEE Executive Directors

RAZ Zhang Degang - 401 137 48 58 644
KiE%% (KI5E()  Zhang Degiang (note (i) - 393 144 48 65 650
SEE Feng Lili - 228 34 42 59 363
ERTEE Non-executive Directors

REFE Zhang Jinghua - - - - - -

BIEHITESE  Independent Non-executive

Directors
A Yu Jianfeng 80 - - _ _ 80
Eln g Zhong Ruifeng 80 - - - _ 80
224 Leung Yiu Cho 80 - - - _ 80
BE Supervisors
BEE Yang Jinghua - 111 12 21 34 178
BE Wei Yi - - - - — -
Z i Peng Jiashan - - - - _ _

240 1,133 327 159 216 2,075
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34 EERESEMNREE 34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)
(a) EEREEMMEH) (a) Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments (Continued)
BEENEEHE2023F12A318 14 The remuneration of every director and supervisor for the year
ERFMEIN AT - ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
RIAEHKA
— REMHK 2R R
X Hne He WL Tl EMEHN @ar
Pension
costs —

defined  Allowances
Discretionary  contribution  and benefits

Name Fees Salaries bonus plans in kind Total
BITES Executive Directors

SR A= Zhang Degang - 361 137 48 53 599
KiE%% (KI5E()  Zhang Degiang (note (i) — 360 144 48 61 613
BEE Feng Lili - 231 34 42 57 364
ERQTES Non-executive Directors

REFE Zhang Jinghua - - - - — —

BIEHITESE  Independent Non-executive

Directors

aEE Yu Jianfeng 80 — — - — 80

e Zhong Ruifeng 80 - — — - 80

2R Leung Yiu Cho 80 = = = = 80

BE Supervisors

1EE Yang Jinghua — 11 12 21 32 176

S Wei Yi - — — - — —

Z i Peng Jiashan - - = — — —

240 1,063 327 159 203 1,992

B 5E - Notes:

(i) KRR EREITHRAEBEFRESHREREE - 0] The chief executive of the Company is Mr. Zhang Degiang, who is also a director.
HZE2024F12A31B LFE - IEE B WHASE During the year ended 31 December 2024, no directors received emoluments
ESEAMARE B ABK RS EARR from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
BAE - EEEWELR B NEEMH € (2023 compensation for loss of office. No directors waived or had agreed to waive any
F |- emoluments (2023: Nil).
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34 EERESEARER @)

(b) EFERKEF
BEEE S R F N B UWCER B 8 W BT (] 3R AR
@ (20234 : #&) -

(c) EFEEEER
BT 0 F 1A B YR 38 W B A o] e B
A (20234 - &) -

(d HMESESRBEAE=FRHEHNKE

HE2024F12A31H I FE - NEEI
ERESEERERATMEZFZIARE
(20234 : 4##) o

() MES -  XRFESEHNEAEE
RZEEENAEERAREANE

HE2024F12A31B I FE - HENUE
E XRSEEEHNEABRBRZSE
ENHEEBRBASEANER  EERR
HitbRX HLHE (20234 « &) o

( EFENXS ZHASHPHEKXE
3

RERKFRTMER - BEANRR]PET

VoHEERETHEEEAEDZ (THRE

BREEER) BEARREBABNEAR

5 RHFERAEWFE(2023F : &) °

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not

pay consideration to any third parties for making available

directors’ services (2023: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there are no loans,

quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the

directors, or controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors (2023: Nil).

interests

() Directors’ material

arrangements or contracts

in transactions,

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2023: Nil).
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

35.1 Basis of preparation
The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of the above new standards and amendments and
interpretations to standards, certain of which are relevant to the
Group’s operations. According to the preliminary assessment
made by the directors of the Group, it is expected that the
above new standards and amendments and interpretations to
standards will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
operating results or financial position when they become
effective.

35.2 Subsidiaries

35.2.1Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. The
accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

(@) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

35.2.1Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the

acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling

interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

All other components of non-controlling interests are measured

at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement

basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date;
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

any gains or losses arising from such

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
35.2.1Consolidation (Continued)
(b)  Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control over a subsidiary, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for
the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This means
that recognised in other
comprehensive income may be reclassified to profit or loss.

certain amounts previously

35.2.2Separate financial statements

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

35.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, identified as the board of
directors that makes strategic decisions.

has been



—E-mEERE
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FEMBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BIEREFTH BRIMESEAUARETFTITIIR) (Alamounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 HhEETESHITBRERME
(#&)

35.4 VR E

(a) DIEERIIFRE

AEBESEES %%ﬁ%%ﬂﬁaﬁua
ERBEEMETELCERENEE ([TEE
E%DﬁEOWDM%ﬁ%uAE%GA
RE]) 2% ARBABERABINNESHS
RAEENT|EREY -

(b) XHREE
%% 2 HBR AN (EENTEEBH
ERT)BEBNEXRBREDINELE -

HZERHEENRFRERGBE UK
FHEMEBEERAEMESMEN Wt
KEE - GREERERER -

B R B AV X ek R B RN AR A et
ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁiifﬂ P At I 5 W am
EERARGAERRRATE MK (8
BIIZ275 -

35.5 | EE
| EEREGAAFERAFH(IEBR
F) MBI E -

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the entities

within the Group are measured using the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the

“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are

presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), is the Company’s

functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

which

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the consolidated income statement within finance
expense. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement within “other
gains/(losses)”.

35.5 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software, which are
amortised over their estimated useful lives not exceeding five
years.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

35.7 Investments and other financial assets
35.7.1Classification

The Group classifies its financial
measurement categories:

assets in the following

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (OCI) or through profit
or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.7 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

35.7.2Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are

recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits

to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

The carrying amounts of the notes receivable which are subject
to discounting or endorsement arrangement. Under this
arrangement, the Group has transferred the relevant notes
receivable to the suppliers or banks in exchange for cash and is
prevented from selling or pledging the receivables. However, the
Group has retained late payment and credit risk. The Group
therefore continues to recognise the transferred assets in their
entirety in its balance sheet. The amount repayable under the
endorsement agreement is presented as trade payable, the
amount repayable under the discounting agreement is presented
as borrowing. The Group considers that the held to collect
business model remains appropriate for these receivables and
hence continues measuring them at amortised cost.

The Group should assess if the terms are substantially different
when a financial asset is exchanged or its terms are modified
but the asset remains between the same borrower and the same
lender. If the terms are substantially different, the transaction
should be accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial asset and the recognition of a new financial asset.

When a financial asset measured at amortised cost is modified
without the modification resulting in derecognition, the Group
should recognise a gain or loss immediately in profit or loss. The
gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the original
contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.7 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
35.7.3Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss (FVPL) are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement
and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.7 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

35.7.3Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in the consolidated income
statement as other gains/(losses).
these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method.

Interest income from

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in the consolidated income statement and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in
the consolidated income statement as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are
not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(FRIESEEH  BRIMBSEHUARE T LIIR) (Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.7 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

35.7.4Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected

credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at

amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit lifetime expected credit
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,

losses or losses,

then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

35.8 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good
obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal
it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

or constructive obligation as a result of past events,

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

35.8 Provisions (Continued)
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense. Warranty provision mainly represents the estimation
cost of providing maintenance services as well as the
replacement of accessories in connection with the quality
warranty based on past experience.

35.9 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate
of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as
interest Interest income on impaired loans and
receivables are recognised using the original effective interest
rate.

income.

35.10 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the consolidated income statement over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

35.11 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

(BRIFSEEHA - TRIMEBEAARE T IR

(Al amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

#HZE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234 20224 20214 20204F

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARBTRE ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARET:T

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

KA Revenue 516,019 313,265 208,048 167,045 121,620

R, (E58) Operating profit/(loss) 55,308 28,063 20,441 1,532 (465)

FTEBiR Y (He) Income tax expense/(credit) 7,191 4,755 762 (538) 455

FRHHE Profit for the year 49,539 29,346 22,604 4,711 2,419
FRARRBREEM Earnings per share attributable

FRAF to shareholders of the
(AAR¥ES3TR) Company for the year
(expressed in RMB cents)

— EXR#EE — Basic and diluted 38.70 22.93 17.66 3.68 1.89

ek Gross profit margin 27.75% 30.60% 22.82% 21.33% 24.88%

mEMEE(BEX) Operating profit/(loss) margin 10.72% 8.96% 9.83% 0.92% -0.38%

H A = Net profit margin 9.60% 9.37% 10.86% 2.82% 1.99%

®12A31H
As at 31 December

20244 20234 20224 20214 20204

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARBTRE ARETRT ARBTT ARBTT ARET:

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

SEmMBEE Non-current assets 175,925 209,555 150,418 144,291 151,980

RBEE Current assets 887,639 819,570 795,314 588,664 595,925

Uk IN=Er Current liabilities 350,544 355,404 291,117 100,944 114,205

MENEEFE Net current assets 537,095 464,166 504,197 487,720 481,720

BEERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 713,020 673,721 654,615 632,011 633,700

BEFE Net assets 713,020 673,721 654,615 632,011 633,700

ELZN Capital 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000

i Reserves 79,238 72,674 66,282 66,599 66,772

BrE Total equity 713,020 673,721 654,615 632,011 633,700
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